

Universidad de Valladolid

ESCUELA TÉCNICA SUPERIOR DE INGENIERÍAS AGRARIAS PROGRAMA DE DOCTORADO EN CONSERVACIÓN Y USO SOSTENIBLE DE SISTEMAS FORESTALES

DOCTORAL THESIS

Mixed stands growth dynamics of Scots pine and Maritime pine: species complementarity relationships and growth effects

presented by José Guillermo Riofrío Salazar A thesis submitted to attain the degree of Doctor of University of Valladolid

> Advisors: Prof. Dr. Felipe Bravo Dra. Miren del Río

> > 2018





Universidad de Valladolid

ESCUELA TÉCNICA SUPERIOR DE INGENIERÍAS AGRARIAS PROGRAMA DE DOCTORADO EN CONSERVACIÓN Y USO SOSTENIBLE DE SISTEMAS FORESTALES

TESIS DOCTORAL

Dinámica de crecimiento masas mixtas de pino silvestre y pino negral: relaciones de complementariedad y efectos en el crecimiento

Presentada por José Guillermo Riofrío Salazar para optar al grado de doctor por la Universidad de Valladolid

> Dirigida por: Prof. Dr. Felipe Bravo Dra. Miren del Río

> > 2018



[A mis padres]

Acknowledgments

This thesis was possible through the Doctoral Scholarship to José Riofrío granted by the Ecuadorian Government and SENESCYT [Grant 2013-AR3R1676]. This research was supported by the project "Mixed Forest complexity and sustainability: dynamic, silviculture and adaptive management tools" (AGL2014-51964-C2-1-R and AGL2014-51964-C2-2-R) funding by the Spanish Government. I am also thankful to COST Action EuMIXFOR [STSM FP1206-29214] and the University of Vallodid for funding my internships at the Chair for Forest Growth and Yield Science - Technische Universität München (Germany) and at the Department of Forest Engineering, Resources and Management, Oregon State University (USA). I further wish to thank the Regional Forest Service of Burgos and Soria for supporting my field work. -the Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Medio Rural y Marino allowed me to access the Spanish National Forest Inventory data.

I would like to express my gratitude to my advisors, Felipe Bravo and Miren del Río, who have supported me throughout the years. -special thanks to Felipe for his confidence and precious suggestions for improving this work, and to Miren for her remarkable advises and for providing valuable feedback when I got stuck.

I am also thankful to Hans Pretzsch (TUM) and Douglas Maguire (OSU) for the stimulating discussions during my internships, as well as to the research staff of both institutions for logistical support and welcoming me. In particular to Michael Heym and Eric Thrum at TUM, Sukhyun Joo and Jacob Putney at OSU.

I would like to thank the staff of the Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute (University of Valladolid & INIA) who have been involved in the establishment, measurement and sampling of the triplets used in this thesis. Much gratitude is ought specially to Cristóbal Ordoñez for his tremendous help and endless support, from the beginning to the end of this PhD journey, during both professional and personal adventures.

I am deeply grateful to all my friends in Palencia for making my time there special and for revealing me the secret wonders of a small city in the middle of a plateau. Will never forget about the crunchy "sopas de ajo". Thanks to my lab mates Wilson, Jorge, Nico and Sara for all the modeling and programming help, but mainly for the team complaining and laughing. I enjoyed all the scientific discussions but mostly the random talks with all my Uni friends. Thanks to them for sharing day-to-day life with countless amounts of coffee and chasquis; this work would be impossible without them. Thank you, Carmen, Encarna, Ana Martín, Ana de Lucas, Rocío, Guille, Diego, Juan, Jorge, Jordán, María and all friends that were there. Also, a special remembrance to my friends Bharat, Serhan, Paco, Dolo, Felipe and Nick for the unforgettable time we shared during a warm summer in Corvallis.

Many thanks also to César, Susana, Oscar, Irene and the Palanganer crew for the long climbing days, and for the beers after training to recover the exhausted arms. I'll be waiting for you in the Chimborazo.

My greatest gratitude to my parents, sisters and my dear friends Hugo and Paúl for the permanent support and for believing in me. Special thanks to Niki for her encouragement, understanding and love.

Finally, I want to thank the external reviewers of this thesis and the reviewers of the published manuscripts for the constructive remarks and suggestions. Much gratitude to the R user's community in "StackOverflow" and "CrossValidated", all the digital statistical guardians who lighted my programming and statistical darkness.

CONTENTS

Abstract vii		
1. Introduction	1	
1.1 Problem statement	2	
1.1.1 Evaluation of species-mixing effects at the stand and tree level	3	
1.1.2 Tracing the effects of species mixing from stand to tree level	5	
1.1.3 Inter- and intra-annual radial growth dynamics in mixed-species	stands 6	
1.1.4 Modeling mixed-species stands	8	
1.2 Mediterranean mixed-pine forests	9	
1.3 Research questions and hypothesis	12	
1.4 Thesis focus and contributions	13	
2. Data	16	
2.1 Experimental units and databases	16	
2.1.1 Spanish National Forest Inventory	17	
2.1.2 Triplets network	21	
2.1.3 Backdating	26	
2.1.4 Band dendrometers	27	
2.2 Climate data	28	
3. Methods	30	
3.1 Mixing proportion and maximum stand density	31	
3.1.1 Mixing proportion	31	
3.1.2 Maximum stand density	31	
3.2 Mixing effects at stand level and tree level using NFI data	32	
3.2.1 Mixing effects at the stand level	32	
3.2.2 Mixing effects on inter-tree competition	33	
3.3 Stand structure and species traits in mixed and pure stands	34	
3.3.1 Intraspecific differences in tree allometry	34	
3.3.2 Stand structure on mixed and pure stands	35	
3.3.3 Evaluation of species-mixing effects stand structural heterogenei	ty 37	
3.3.4 Stand productivity related to structural heterogeneity	38	
3.4 Modeling of dendroclimatic responses of mixed pines stands	39	
3.4.1 Growth-drought long-term correlations	39	
3.4.2 Tree growth resilience to drought events	42	
3.5 Intra-annual radial increment patterns	43	
3.6 Adapting he tree-level model IBERO to mixed species stands	44	
3.6.1 Generalized height-diameter functions	44	
3.6.2 Tree basal area growth model	46	

Э	3.6.3	Models evaluation	48
3.7	3.7 Linear and non-linear mixed models		49
3.8		Model selection	50
4.	R	esults	51
4.1		Mixing effects at stand level and tree level	51
4	4.1.1	Self-thinning boundary line and maximum stand density	51
4	1.1.2	Growth efficiency and species-mixing effects at the stand level	52
4	4.1.3	Comparison of tree-level competition structures in mixed stands	52
4.2		Comparison of stand structure in mixed versus pure stands	55
4	1.2.1	Species-mixing influence in tree allometry	55
4	1.2.2	Structural attributes between species and stand composition	57
4	1.2.3	Additive and multiplicative effects of species mixing on structural train	ts59
4	1.2.4	Over-yielding and structural heterogeneity relationships	60
4.3		Relationships between drought and tree-growth	61
4	4.3.1	Temporal fluctuations of drought-growth relationship	61
4	1.3.2	Responses to drought events between species and stand composition	64
4.4		Intra-annual complementarity relationships	65
4.5		Integration of species- mixing effects in empirical models	67
4	1.5.1	Height-diameter generalized model	67
4	1.5.2	Peright-diameter function validation	69
4	4.5.3	Basal area increment model	70
5.	D	iscussion	74
5.1		National scale mixing effects on growth at stand and tree level	74
5	5.1.1	Feasibility of maximum size-density estimation with NFI	74
5	5.1.2	Species-mixing effects on growth efficiency at stand level	75
5	5.1.3	Competition effects on tree growth	76
5.2		Emerging differences: species-mixing and stand structural attributes	78
5	5.2.1	Crown allometry plasticity	78
5	5.2.2	Changes in structural heterogeneity driven by species-mixing	78
5	5.2.3	Ecological explanation of mixing effects on productivity and structure	80
5.3		Inter-annual differentiation of species sensitivity to drought	81
5.4		Intra-annual radial growth complementarity	83
5.5		Performance of empirical models for mixed stands	84
5	5.5.1	Influence of species-mixing in tree height estimation	85
5	5.5.2	Adapting the tree basal area growth model for mixed stands	86
5	5.5.3	Implications for tree-level model for mixed stands	87
5.6		Synthesis	89
5	5.6.1	Linking of species-mixing effects among levels and scales	89
5	5.6.2	Implications for forest management and future research questions	92
6.	C	onclusions	94

7.	References	98
8.	Appendix	118
8.1	APPENDIX A: Peer-reviewed articles	118
8.2	APPENDIX B: Supplementary figures	119
8.3	APPENDIX C: Supplementary tables	125

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Pure plots used to fit the self-thinning boundary line.
 18 Table 2.2. Stand variables for mixed and pure plots selected from NFI. 20 21
Table 2.3. Tree characteristics and competition status in selected NFI plots.
 22 Table 2.4. Mixed-species and monospecific plots included in the triplet. Table 2.5. Description of the triplet used to install band dendrometers. 28 28
 Table 2.6.Scots pine and Maritime pine trees with band dendrometers
 30 Table 3.1. Data sources and analytical approaches used in this thesis.
 Table 3.2. Structural measures for pure and mixed-species stands.
 36
Table 3.3. Generalized *h*-*d* equations including species-mixed effect.
 45
 Table 4.1. Quantile regression parameters of self-thinning relationships.
 51 52 **Table 4.2**. Estimated coefficients of stand volume growth efficiency models.
Table 4.3. Ranking of tree growth models comparing competition structures.
 53 **Table 4.4**. Estimated coefficients of tree growth models for both species. 54 Table 4.5. Crown allmetry functions. *h-d* and *hcb-d* relationships 56 Table 4.6. Ratios between of observed (Mixobs) over expected mixed stand (Mix_{exp}) and by species in pure vs. mixed stands. 58 **Table 4.7**. Mean of the ratio of structural traits of mixed-species stands (Mix_{obs}) 59 and expected mean of the monocultures (Mix_{exp},). **Table 4.8.** Stand relative productivity as a function of structural attributes. 61 **Table 4.9.** Results from the linear mixed models of the resistance, recovery, and resilience indices for Maritime pine and Scots pine in pure stands. 65 Table 4.10. Cumulative intra-annual radial increment pattern for Scots pine 67 and Maritime pine as a function of tree size and stand composition. Table 4.11. Ranking of generalized *h*-*d* models for Scots pine and Maritime 68 pine considering the species-mixing effects. Table 4.12. Parameter estimates and goodness-of-fit statistics for the 69 generalized *h-d* model selected. **Table 4.13.** Performance of generalized *h*-*d* fitted models and the equations 69 proposed by Lizarralde et al., (2010a, 2010b) applied to data from NFI data. Table 4.14. Ranking of basal area increment models comparing competition 71 structures. Table 4.15. Estimated parameters and fitting statistics for the selected basal area increment models of both species. 72

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Scots pine and Maritime pine pure and mixed stands in Spain.	11
Figure 1.2. Theoretical framework for modeling mixed-species stands.	14
Figure 2.1. Range of mixture proportions in selected plots from NFI.	18
Figure 2.2. Location of mixed and pure plots selected from NFI.	19
Figure 2.3. Locations of the 12 triplets respecting to the NFI plots.	23
Figure 2.4. Mixed and pure stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine.	24
Figure 2.5. Image for tree-ring measument using measurRing R-package.	25
Figure 2.6. Cross-dating between each segment and sample in a plot.	26
Figure 2.7. Walter-Lieth Diagram of the study area where.	29
Figure 2.8. Standardized Precipitation–Evapotranspiration Index accumulated	
during 12 months (from February to September).	29
Figure 4.1. Self-thinning boundary line using NFI data.	51
Figure 4.2. Volume growth as a function of size-symmetric competition and	
size-asymmetric competition in pine pure and mixed stands.	55
Figure 4.3. Crown and height tree allometry of Scots pine and Maritime pine	
in mixed and pure stands.	56
Figure 4.4. Inter-specific ratio of quadratic mean diameter and dominant	
height between mixed or pure stands.	57
Figure 4.5. Mean of the ratio resulting from the pair-wise division of the	
structural traits between species growing in mixed stands and monocultures.	58
Figure 4.6. Multiplicative mixing effects on the structural traits of Scots pine	
and Maritime pine in mixed stands compared with monocultures.	60
Figure 4.7. rBAI for each sample of P. pinaster and P. sylvestris and	
Standardized Precipitation–Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI).	62
Figure 4.8. Mantel correlograms showing the extent of temporal similarities	
between of rBAI and SPEI along distance classes.	63
Figure 4.9. Mantel correlograms representing individual tree responses to	
drought rely on BAI residuals and SPEI synchrony for age classes.	63
Figure 4.10. Variation in growth responses to drought at tree level (Rt, Rc, Rs,	
and rRs) between species growing in pure stand for each drought event.	64
Figure 4.11. Comparison of intra-annual cumulative radial increment pattern	
during 2016 for Maritime pine and Scots pine in mixed and pure stands .	66
Figure 4.12. Parameters from the cumulative intra-annual radial increment	
model fitted for Scots pine and Maritime pine in mixed and pure stands.	66
Figure 4.13. Mean bias by diameter classes of generalized h-d fitted models	
compared with models by Lizarralde (2008) in mixed and pure stands.	70
Figure 4.14. Variation of Maritime pine basal area increment with tree	
diameter depending on the amount of total size-asymmetric competition.	73

vi | Content

List of Acronyms

Arel	Relative species profile index			
BA	Stand basal area (m2 ha-1)			
BAI	Tree basal area increment (cm2)			
CR	Tree crown ratio			
d	tree diameter at breast height (cm)			
dq	Quadratic mean diameter (cm)			
Do	Dominant diameter (cm)			
Но	Dominant height (m)			
h	total tree height (m)			
hcb	tree height to crown base (m)			
m_i	Species proportion by area			
NFI	Spanish National Forest Inventory			
GC	Gini coefficient			
PAIBA	periodic annual basal area growth (m² ha-1 year)			
PAIV	periodic annual volume growth (m ³ ha ⁻¹ year)			
PS	Scots pine			
PT	Maritime pine			
rHo	Relative ratio between the species dominant height in mixed stands			
SDI	Stand density index			
SDI	Stand density index			
SDIL	Stand density index of larger trees			
SDImax	Maximum stand density index			
SDIR	Relative stand density index			
SDIRL Relative stand density index of larger trees				
SI	Site index			
SPEI	Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index			
V	Total stand volume			

Abstract

Mixed-species forests are becoming more prominent in forest management due to increasing evidence of their greater potential to supply ecosystem functions and services. Given the recognized multifunctionality of mixed forests, it is essential to generate knowledge that provides forest managers with evidence-based silvicultural guidelines. However, species interactions and their impacts on forest dynamics are anything but simple. The functioning of mixed-species stands is modulated mainly by potential niche differentiation, the ability to share available resources and competition dynamics among species. Moreover, species interactions can also change according to environmental spatial gradients and temporal scales. Consequently, analysis of species interactions must include different levels and scales to form a solid working knowledge of mixed-species stand dynamics, which cannot be understood by looking at isolated sub-processes.

This thesis provides a multilevel analysis, from tree to stand-level and along temporal and spatial scales, of how species interaction affects the growth and yield processes of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) mixed stands in a Mediterranean ecosystem. The leading hypothesis was that differences in structural and functional traits between the two species could induce interactions capable of altering stand productivity, above-ground species allometries, species crown dominance, stand structural traits and forest stand dynamics. The study used data from Spain's National Forest Inventory (NFI) and temporal plots grouped in triplets as primary input in the analysis of species-mixing effects at the three organizational levels: individual tree, tree size distribution, and stand. Additionally, tree-ring width series and band dendrometer measurements from pure and mixed plots made it possible to evaluate species-mixing effects on inter-annual and intra-annual tree growth dynamics.

NFI data showed that species-mixing effects at stand level differ from the effects of intra- and inter-specific competition at tree level. Growth efficiency increased in both species according to admixed species proportions at stand level. Intra-specific competition at tree level was higher than inter-specific competition in Scots pine tree growth, indicating a benefit from the mixture. In contrast, Maritime pine showed greater adverse effects of size-asymmetric inter-specific competition. In this species, tree growth was more strongly influenced by the competition structure (size-symmetric and size-asymmetric) than by the species of the competitors.

Stand composition influenced intra-specific variation in tree crown allometry. Species-specific traits and species interactions altered vertical structure and size-

distribution in mixed stands. Greater vertical structural heterogeneity was related to the relative productivity increment of mixed stands. Crown complementarity and vertical stratification in the canopy space were proposed as crucial mechanisms related to light interception and light-use that enhance ecosystem productivity in mixed stands composed of light-demanding species.

Both Scots pine and Maritime pine exhibited species-specific growth fluctuations in response to drought severity as well as different resilience values for drought events. While Maritime pine had a stronger temporal growth-drought correlation and lower resistance to extreme drought than Scots pine, it showed greater resilience and recovered better from drought. The long-term fluctuations and species-specific responses during the drought spells analyzed indicated that species interaction in mixed stands did not affect drought-growth relationships.

The two species presented distinct cumulative radial increment patterns in pure stands and species-mixing accentuated these differences. While species mixing did not affect maritime pine patterns, changes in intra-annual radial increment patterns for Scots pine in mixed versus pure stands increased temporal niche complementarity in mixed stands. The intra-annual growing period for Scots pine became longer in mixed stands, but the radial increment rate decreased compared to monospecific stands.

Finally, combining mixed-effect models and including parameters that express species-mixing enhanced the estimation performance for tree height and basal area growth, compared to the available models for pure stands. Models for mixedspecies stands can be integrated into tree-level models as a planning and evaluation tool for assessing the impact of different management options and determining mixing proportions that maximize performance.

Resumen

Los bosques mixtos son cada vez más relevantes en el manejo forestal debido a la creciente evidencia de su mayor potencialidad para suministrar servicios ecosistémicos. Además de su reconocida multifuncionalidad, se requiere generar mayor conocimiento sobre su dinámica y funcionamiento, que permita diseñar herramientas para definir propuestas de gestión adaptativa. Sin embargo, las interacciones entre especies y sus consecuencias en la dinámica de los bosques no son para nada simples. El funcionamiento de los bosques mixtos está definido principalmente por diferenciación de nichos, que permite compartir los recursos disponibles, y la capacidad competitiva entre las especies. Además, las interacciones entre especies pueden cambiar por el efecto de diferentes gradientes ambientales y escalas temporales. En consecuencia, es necesario considerar diferentes niveles de análisis y escalas como base para una comprensión sólida de la dinámica y funcionamiento de los bosques mixtos, lo que no podría lograrse si se consideran los subprocesos del sistema de forma aislada.

En esta tesis se analiza cómo la interacción de especies afecta los procesos involucrados en el crecimiento y producción de masas mixtas de pino albar (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) y pino negral (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) en un ecosistema mediterráneo. Para ello el análisis se realizó a múltiples niveles, desde rodal hasta árbol, así como a diferentes escalas temporales y espaciales. La hipótesis principal fue que las diferencias en los rasgos estructurales y funcionales entre ambas especies podrían inducir interacciones que generan cambios en la productividad, alometría de las especies, dominancia copa de las especies, características estructurales a nivel el rodal y dinámica del crecimiento. El estudio se basó en datos del Inventario Forestal Nacional (NFI) y parcelas temporales agrupadas en tripletes, que fueron la principal fuente de datos para el análisis del efecto de mezcla de especies en tres niveles de trabajo, árbol, distribución del tamaño y rodal. Además, se usaron series de ancho de anillo y mediciones de dendrómetros de banda, de parcelas mixtas y puras de los tripletes, para evaluar a escala interanual e intra-anual el efecto de la mezcla en la dinámica de crecimiento a nivel de árbol.

Usando los datos del NFI, los efectos de la mezcla de especies mostraron distintos resultados entre el nivel de rodal y el efecto de las estructuras de competencia intra e intre-específica a nivel de árbol. La eficiencia de crecimiento en ambas especies aumentó con la proporción de la mezcla de especies a nivel de rodal. A nivel de árbol, el efecto de la competencia intraespecífica fue mayor que la competencia interespecífica sobre el crecimiento del pino albar, lo que significa un beneficio en el crecimiento debido a la mezcla. Sin embargo, para pino negral el efecto fue contrario, la competencia interespecífica asimétrica fue mayor que la

competencia intraespecífica. Además, para esta especie el crecimiento se vio más afectado por la estructura de competencia (simétrica y asimétrica) que por la composición de especies (intraespecífica e interespecífica).

La interacción entre especies influyó en la variación intraespecífica de las relaciones alométricas de la copa a nivel de árbol entre parcelas puras y mixtas. Tanto las características morfológicas y estructurales específicas, así como las interacciones entre ambas especies causaron cambios en la estructura vertical y en la distribución de tamaño observados en los rodales mixtos. Este incremento en la heterogeneidad estructural vertical estuvo relacionado con el aumento de la productividad relativa de los rodales mixtos. La complementariedad de copas entre especies y la estratificación vertical del dosel se han propuesto como mecanismos relacionados con la intercepción y uso eficiente de luz que aumentan de productividad en masas mixtas.

Tanto pino albar como pino negral exhibieron respuestas específicas en las fluctuaciones del crecimiento respecto a la severidad de la sequía. Además, mostraron distinta tolerancia y resiliencia a los eventos de sequía extrema. El pino negral mostró una correlación temporal más fuerte en las fluctuaciones crecimiento-sequía que el pino albar. Por otro lado, durante eventos de sequía extrema, el pino negral fue menos resistente, pero se recuperó mejor y fue más resiliente a la sequía que el pino albar. La interacción de especies en rodales mixtos no afectó las relaciones sequía-crecimiento tanto en las fluctuaciones a largo plazo, como en las respuestas específicas a los años de sequía analizados.

El patrón de incremento radial intra-anual fue diferente entre las dos especies en rodales puros. Además, la mezcla de especies acentuó estas diferencias, incrementando la complementariedad temporal de nicho entre especies debido a modificaciones en el patrón de incremento radial acumulado para de pino albar entre parcelas puras y mixtas. En cambio, la mezcla de especies no afectó el patrón de pino negral. La duración del período de crecimiento intra-anual de pino albar se incrementó y la tasa de incremento radial disminuyó en rodales mixtos en comparación a los rodales monoespecíficos.

Finalmente, el uso de modelos de efectos mixtos y la inclusión de parámetros que expresen la mezcla de especies mejoró los errores de estimación de altura y crecimiento en área basimétrica en comparación con los modelos disponibles para rodales puros. Estos nuevos modelos que consideran la interacción de especies pueden integrarse en modelos de árbol individual como herramientas de planificación y gestión de rodales mixtos.

1. Introduction

Forests worldwide are experiencing alterations in dynamic growth patterns, structural composition, and functional integrity due to climate change (Allen et al., 2010). The impacts of climate change on forest ecosystems differ among regions depending on their limitations for forest production (Lindner et al. 2010). Higher temperatures in northern latitudes extend the growing season, which benefits tree growth (Pretzsch et al., 2014). In regions such as the Mediterranean, where water availability restricts productivity, a wide range of severe and negative impacts are expected (Gómez-Aparicio et al., 2011). However, warmer winters are driving positive growth trends in Mediterranean mountain forests, where temperature can be a more predominant constraint to tree growth than drought, (Sánchez-Salguero et al., 2015a).

Today, the main concerns for forest managers include strategies to promote resistance, resilience and adaptability in the face of abiotic and biotic stressors and disturbances to forest ecosystems (Puettmann et al., 2015). These strategies prioritize maintaining an ample range of ecosystem services within the framework of sustainable forest management, emphasizing species diversification as an adaptive forest management option (Ammer, 2016). Compared to pure forests, mixed forests have potential to deliver a greater variety of ecosystem functions and services at higher levels (Gamfeldt et al., 2013; Isbell et al., 2017; Van Der Plas et al., 2016) while also reinforcing resilience to disturbances (Jactel et al., 2017) and growth stability (del Río et al., 2017).

The multifunctionality of mixed forests is widely recognized (Van Der Plas et al., 2016). Currently, around 19% of European forests are dominated by two or more tree species, while the area of forest covered by a single tree species has been decreasing over the last 15 years at a rate of around 0.6% annually (FOREST EUROPE, 2015, pag 28). This tendency underscores the essential task of generating additional knowledge to provide forest managers with evidence-based silvicultural guidelines (Coll et al., 2018).

Numerous studies have described the complexity of mixed-species stands and species interactions, demonstrating the inability to simulate the dynamics of stand-level attributes of mixed-species stands by applying weighted means of the same attributes from pure stands of the constituent species (Pretzsch et al., 2017). Classical coexistence theories establish that each species inhabits a particular niche. Functional traits such as rooting depth, shade tolerance, phenology, wood density or specific leaf area determine the niches that species can occupy (fundamental niche). Similarly, ecological interactions such as competition or responses to environmental

gradients determine the actual niche of a species within a community at a given site (realized niche) (Kelty, 1992; Pretzsch et al., 2017). Complementary traits between species result in niche differentiation, which tends to stabilize their coexistence (Pretzsch, 2009a; Valladares et al., 2015). However, other mechanisms such as competition, facilitation, intra-specific variability and environmental heterogeneity play a more relevant role as niche differences diminish (Valladares et al., 2015). For example, differences in competitive ability (differences in species fitness) favor dominance of the more competitive species, those that will exclude the others in the absence of niche differences (Chesson, 2000).

The relationship between tree diversity and forest productivity is mostly positive across the major biomes, despite some geographic variation (Forrester and Bauhus, 2016; Liang et al., 2016). One explanation for increased stand productivity and resource efficiency in mixed stands compared to monocultures suggests that complementarity of structural and functional traits between species could reduce competition for above-ground and below-ground resources (Dănescu et al., 2016; Pretzsch, 2014; Williams et al., 2017). However, adverse or non-significant effects have also been reported for diversity-productivity relationships (Bourdier et al., 2016; Grossiord et al., 2014). In other words, the type and intensity of interactions, along with species functional traits and stand structure, drive the effects of tree species richness on ecosystem functioning for a particular species mixture at a given site (Forrester and Bauhus, 2016). For example, complementary traits and functions among species are likely to be higher in forests with shade-tolerant and deep-rooting deciduous species – which cover a wide range of functional types – than in forests with the same number of species but consisting only of coniferous evergreens (Bauhus et al., 2017a).

1.1 Problem statement

Most studies on mixed forests in temperate zones focus on mixtures that combine species with more diverse traits (shade tolerance, height growth rate, crown structure, leaf phenology, root depth) (Forrester, 2014; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016), due to the higher probability of complementarity (reduced competition and facilitation) in the allocation and efficient use of available resources among species (Bauhus et al., 2017a; Forrester, 2014; Kelty, 2006). Since competition among species increases as species niches overlap, when organisms occupy the same spatial and temporal habitats and use the same resources, the strength of interspecific competition is affected and they could interact as if they were the same species (functional redundancy concept) (Naeem, 1998; Rosenfeld, 2002). A positive diversity-productivity relationship has been observed in discrete species functional groups or homogeneous forest types, such as alpine coniferous, Mediterranean conifer or Mountain pine forests, with higher wood production in mixed-species stands than in monospecific stands (Jucker et al., 2014b; Ruíz-Benito et al., 2014; Vilà et al., 2013). However, the ecological mechanisms underlying the positive relationship between tree species richness and wood production remain unclear.

Comparison of mixed stands with neighboring pure stands in analogous environmental and silvicultural conditions makes it possible to detect positive or negative species-mixing effects. Quantitative information about how species diversity influences forest functioning can be obtained from forest inventory analyses that capture large-scale effects (del Río and Sterba, 2009; Gamfeldt et al., 2013; Mina et al., 2017; Vilà et al., 2013), controlled experiments, research comparing monospecific and mixed stands (especially two-species mixtures) long-term forest plots (Forrester et al., 2004; Pretzsch et al., 2015a, 2010) or experiments involving a greater range of species richness levels and functional diversity (Bruelheide et al., 2014; Jucker et al., 2014a; Tobner et al., 2014). Other sources include simulations that model dynamics (Bohn and Huth, 2017; Morin et al., 2011) and meta-analyses (Liang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2012).

Methodologically, researching the dynamics in mixed-species stands requires multi-level analysis involving tree, size distribution/structure and stand levels. Such work might even include zooming in closer (lower) to leaf level or farther out (higher) to landscape level (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015). Each organizational level provides distinct insights and reveals emerging properties that are unattainable at higher or lower levels. Discrepancies between predictions and observations when comparing different levels can also be used to formulate new hypotheses concerning the mechanisms that drive species interactions or for scaling up and down between levels (del Río et al., 2016; Pretzsch et al., 2015b). Analyzing processes and species interactions between levels and scales provides a solid base for understanding mixed-species stand dynamics, which cannot be understood by observing the subprocesses in isolation. The following paragraphs describe the most important theoretical and methodological issues involved in the analysis of species-mixed stands.

1.1.1 Evaluation of species-mixing effects at the stand and tree level

The fact that mixed forests can be more productive than single-species stands has been observed in many species combinations and ecosystems (Forrester, 2014; Kelty, 2006; Vilà et al., 2013). However, the generalization that forest productivity increases with species mixture is inaccurate. For example, greater stand density leads to increased complementarity for some species combinations but decreases complementarity for others (Condés et al., 2013; Forrester et al., 2013; Garber and Maguire, 2004). Other factors such as site conditions (Mina et al., 2017; Toïgo et al., 2015), climate (Forrester et al., 2016; Manso et al., 2015) or species assemblage (Mina et al., 2017; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016) may modulate the effect of species interactions, thereby affecting stand productivity (Forrester and Bauhus, 2016), mortality (Condés and del Río, 2015) or resource-use efficiency (Forrester, 2015; Richards et al., 2010). Consequently, interactions between any two species can also change along spatial gradients, with temporal scales and development stand stages adding further complexity (Cavard et al., 2011; del Río et al., 2014b; Forrester, 2014).

Combining tree- and stand-level analysis may help to trace the effects and determine the relevance of species interactions in forest functioning and dynamics (del Río et al., 2016; Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015). For instance, tree level models can represent size-distribution heterogeneity that emerges from species interaction, something that is scarcely captured in stand-level models. Moreover, while tree-level analysis can be directly carried out through regression techniques where the response is single-tree growth, mixing effects at stand-level are usually analyzed through possible growth deviations in mixtures compared to neighboring pure stands. In this respect, species proportion is used as a proxy for the partitioning of growing space: the allocation of resources such as light, water, and nutrients among the species in the stand (del Río et al., 2016).

The species proportion may vary considerably depending on how it is defined, leading to variations in the net species-mixing effects on stand growth (Dirnberger et al., 2017; Pretzsch, 2009b; Sterba et al., 2014). Selecting a species proportion definition that considers different potential densities between species might be more advisable than comparison based on species basal area or volume (Sterba et al., 2014). Species proportion in terms of maximum stand density index provides a better estimate of occupied growing space for each species and avoids incorrect interpretations stemming from different species-specific growth rates (Dirnberger and Sterba, 2014). This method is used extensively to analyze mixture effects at stand and tree level based on forest inventory data or to compare temporally plots in mixed and pure stands (Condés et al., 2013; del Río and Sterba, 2009; Huber et al., 2014; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2009). However, it requires potential density estimates for each species (Pretzsch and Biber, 2005) instead of using the generic self-thinning allometric coefficient established by Reineke (1933).

Competition from neighbors is an essential driver of tree growth and might cause much more substantial reductions in potential growth than climate or tree size (Sánchez-Salguero et al., 2015b). Moreover, target tree sensitivity to competition (competitive response) can vary markedly along environmental gradients, leading to significant rank reversals in species performance (Gómez-Aparicio et al., 2011). Competition indices reveal differences between intra- and inter-specific competition effects, thus making it possible to evaluate the influence of the species-mixture on tree growth (del Río et al., 2014a). They show adverse, neutral, or even positive effects of the inter-specific competitive environment on tree growth, such as when inter-specific competition coefficient term values are nonsignificant or lower than the intra-specific coefficient. Analyzing both tree and stand levels to determine the species-mixing effect may be the first step to understanding species-specific interactions that favor higher profitability in mixed stands compared to monospecific stands.

1.1.2 Tracing the effects of species mixing from stand to tree level

The tree size distribution of a stand can be understood as a property that emerges from the demographics of individual trees and therefore represents an intermediate scale between the tree and stand levels (del Río et al., 2016). Research into size structure dynamics can also link findings at both levels and help trace the effects of species mixing (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016). Stand structure is usually described in terms of stand density, size distribution, horizontal and vertical tree distribution patterns or combinations of several attributes (Gadow et al., 2012; McElhinny et al., 2005). Mixing species with complementary structural and functional traits may enhance structural complexity above and below-ground, which can increase stand production through more efficient use of resources compared to single-species stands (Dănescu et al., 2016; Pretzsch, 2014; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016). However, negative or non-significant effects have also been reported for structural diversity-productivity relationships (Bourdier et al., 2016).

Structural attributes such as crown morphology and the resulting canopy structure drive stand dynamics, which may be crucial to determining productivity and a broad range of ecosystem services (Gadow et al., 2012). This applies to mixed-species stands where inter- and intra-specific interactions may increase (Pretzsch, 2014). Inter-specific structural heterogeneity differences in morphological and physiological traits among coexisting species may enhance complementarity mechanisms, such as the filling of canopy space, leaf area index (LAI), light capture and light use efficiency, all of which can contribute to explaining greater productivity in more diverse forests (Jucker et al., 2015; Larocque et al., 2012; Pretzsch, 2014; Toïgo et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2017). Recent studies have also found that intra-specific differences in the allometric scaling of tree crowns in mixed stands were dependent on the competitive environment and competitive species composition of the stand (Barbeito et al., 2017; Forrester et al., 2017), which are directly related to canopy structure. In some mixtures, even small differences in species structural traits can trigger positive inter-specific interactions through complementarity or competition reduction mechanisms (Jucker et al., 2014b). However, the role of species-specific trait differences in mixed-stand functioning is not yet fully understood.

When mixed-species stands are more productive than monocultures, higher light absorption is often suggested as a cause. However, few studies have quantified this effect, and even fewer have examined light-related interactions (Forrester et al., 2018). A key question is whether differences in structural attributes between mixed and pure stands result from a merely 'additive effect', i.e., the combination of the different species-specific morphological traits in a mixed stand, or if species interactions trigger species traits that surpass their behavior in pure stands and modify outcomes such as productivity, stability, and resilience in a 'multiplicative effect' (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015; Loreau and Hector, 2001; Morin et al., 2011). Multiplicative effects are highly relevant for understanding changes in forest functioning and for modeling and predicting mixed-stand dynamics and productivity (Pretzsch et al., 2015b).

1.1.3 Inter- and intra-annual radial growth dynamics in mixed-species stands

Analysis of inter-annual and intra-annual temporal scales might reveal the degree of asynchrony between species in resource capture and growth, as well as growth pattern responses to variation in environmental conditions in mixed and monospecific stands. Inter-specific differences can lead to temporal complementarity/reduced competition or to competition for resources when species coexist (Kelty, 1992). However, species interactions can be altered intraand inter-annually by temporal changes in climatic conditions and resource availability (Forrester, 2014). Intra-annual patterns define the species-specific timing and magnitude of growth rhythms, which can provide insight into climate impacts on tree physiology and growth processes (Aldea et al., 2018; de-Dios-García et al., 2015; Rossi et al., 2012; Swidrak et al., 2013). For their part, interannual fluctuations in tree ring measurements in response to climate variability and specific disturbances (del Río et al., 2014b; Gazol and Camarero, 2016) are especially interesting for looking at productivity stability over time (del Río et al., 2017; Jucker et al., 2014a).

Tree-ring width series make it possible to quantify and compare climate-growth relationships and growth trend dependency on stand development or specific site conditions, thus providing long-term information with annual resolution (Fritts, 1976). Tree-rings data analysis must disentangle ontogenetic and short-term environmental signals from changes in long-term trends driven by gradually shifting environmental conditions (Peters et al., 2015; Speer, 2010). However, traditional dendro-climatic analysis and detrending methods are not always considered in the sampling design (e.g., hierarchical sources of variability from sample, tree, stand, forest and ecoregion). Different levels of variation in tree-ring series might include important biases in the extracted fluctuations (Bowman et al., 2013; Lara et al., 2013; Peters et al., 2015).

Most studies on mixed-species stands focus on finding how differences in species sensitivity affect tree growth and productivity in relation to specific disturbances. An example would be comparing species resistance or resilience to extreme drought events (Gazol and Camarero, 2016; Granda et al., 2018a; Pretzsch et al., 2013). However, drought resistance and post-drought resilience may also involve other factors, such as tree and stand features (Merlin et al., 2015; Thurm et al., 2016) or age and size (Pretzsch et al., 2013). To address these sources of variability and account for the intrinsic sampling schemes of dendrochronological data, algorithms based on multilevel modeling and multivariate comparison have recently been developed (Lara et al., 2018, 2013). Multilevel analyses - such as mixed-effects models - consider random effects for sampling designs (Bolker et al., 2009; Galecki and Burzykowski, 2013), while multivariate comparison - such as dissimilarity analysis – can contrast and organize dendroclimatic fluctuations into common ecological-factor levels (Borcard and Legendre, 2012; Goslee and Urban, 2007; Legendre and Legendre, 1998). This method can be implemented to better understand the role of species interactions in the long-term dendroclimatic relationships that affect forest-ecosystem dynamics.

Intra-annual growth patterns, or the daily course of growth, can also differ considerably among species (Camarero et al., 2010). The effects of species interactions on seasonal tree growth dynamics in mixed-species stands are even less well understood than long-term effects during rotation (Pretzsch et al., 2017). Measurements from band dendrometers on trees in monospecific and mixed-species stands make it possible to adjust the growth function to describe the accumulated radial increment pattern (McMahon and Parker, 2015; Oberhuber et al., 2014). From this, the critical phenological stages within the intra-annual pattern can be identified as the onset, end, rate and moment of maximum growth in seasonal dynamics and growth phenology (Swidrak et al., 2013). Such information could reveal how intra-annual and daily growth courses are modulated through species mixing (Schäfer et al., 2018), tree size and climate conditions (Camarero et al., 2010; Pacheco et al., 2018).

As with other scales and levels, analysis of species temporal complementarity in mixed stands involves defining whether the intra-annual radial growth and interannual growth variation between species results from a merely 'additive effect' – combining species with different seasonal growth or climate-growth behaviour, for example – or if species interactions have a 'multiplicative effect' on individual tree species growth dynamics that modifies outcomes such as productivity, stability and resilience to drought.

1.1.4 Modeling mixed-species stands

Despite evidence that mixed-species forests offer greater potential to supply ecological and socio-economic services of than monospecific forests, quantitative silvicultural guidelines that facilitate efficient management that facilitate efficient management of mixed-species stands are still largely based on pure even-aged stands (Bravo et al., 2012; Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015). The lack of tools for evaluating the long-term sustainability of silvicultural systems proposed for mixed-species stands hinders acceptance of these systems by stakeholders, practitioners and scientists concerning ecosystem services and the benefits of heterogeneous mixed forests compared to single-species stands (Carnol et al., 2014; Coll et al., 2018). Models that incorporate known species-mixing effects on tree and stand productivity, tree allometry, mortality, and maximum density are essential for proper design, the initial composition, spatial arrangement and management of mixed-species stands (Pretzsch and Zenner, 2017).

A critical issue for representing species mixing in forest growth models is the transition from the tree to the stand level, which involves introducing tree size structure, crown morphology, canopy structure and growth differences that might emerge from species interactions (del Río et al., 2016; Fichtner et al., 2017).. This is especially important for mixed-species stands where structural and environmental heterogeneity affects productivity at stand level (Dănescu et al., 2016; Forrester et al., 2018). Thus, individual tree models provide a better balance alternative between adequately representing the effects of species interactions and the integration of ecological processes in mixed-species stands into silvicultural guidelines (Pretzsch and Zenner, 2017).

Crown size and relative height of species in a mixed stand may be more relevant for growth and potential over-yielding than the given site conditions (Pretzsch, 2014; Pretzsch et al., 2015b). Productivity at the mixed-stand level might be influenced by the tree-level functions used, such as tree volume or biomass allometric equations, height-diameter and crown size functions, diameter or height increment models, mortality rates and ingrowth models, particularly if any or all are influenced by species composition and resulting stand structure. As these functions are seldom available for mixed stands, functions developed for pure stands are commonly used (del Río et al., 2016). The effects of either using functions developed from pure stands, or from a mix of pure and mixed stands may be significant depending on the covariates used in the model. For example, crown ratio accounts for some additional variability in stem form and stem volume when its marginal effect on a function containing tree diameter and total tree height is considered (Burkhart and Walton, 1985; Hann et al., 1987); hence, if tree diameter-height-crown ratio combination reflects local stand structure in complex mixed species stands, the models developed should perform well as long

as the modelling data included the appropriate tri-variate distribution of these covariates. The extent to which additional information on species composition would affect stem form is largely unknown. Limited evidence suggests the effects would be small (Garber and Maguire, 2003), but this working hypothesis should be further tested.

Pretzsch et al., (2015b) describes three approaches to representing species-mixing effects in empirical models: i) computing stand-level attributes as the weighted mean attribute of the monospecific stands, ii) adding covariates that represent the almost infinite range of stand structures in mixed species stands, or iii) including modifiers to represent the departure of mixed species stand attributes from pure stands attributes as a function of species composition. Forest growth models that are directly parameterized or adapted to more complex stands (uneven-aged or mixed stands) from existing functions for even-aged stands could use correction factors or include specific variables to express the multi-species condition (Calama et al., 2008; Forrester and Tang, 2015; Pukkala et al., 2009; Sterba et al., 2002; Trasobares et al., 2004). Thus, models of species growth rates, tree allometry, maximum density or mortality could be sensitive to intra- and inter-specific competition environments (Condés and del Río, 2015; del Río et al., 2014a; Temesgen et al., 2014).

1.2 Mediterranean mixed-pine forests

The 3.5 million ha of mixed forests in Spain represent 19% of total forest surface (MAGRAMA, 2012) and are mainly formed by combinations of broadleafbroadleaf or broadleaf-conifer species. Mixtures of pines with *Fagus sylvatica* or Quercus species are the most frequent in Mediterranean areas (MAGRAMA, 2012). However, forests with coexisting pine species are also common in Spain, covering almost 0.5 million ha (Montero and Serrada, 2013). Several studies have focused on inter-specific interactions and effects in pine-pine mixtures in different regions of the Iberian Peninsula, such as *Pinus sylvestris - Pinus nigra* (Trasobares et al., 2004), *Pinus halepensis - Pinus nigra - Pinus sylvestris* (Granda et al., 2018a) in the northeast, *Pinus halepensis - Pinus pinea* (Cattaneo et al., 2018) and *Pinus pinaster - Pinus pinea* (Ledo et al., 2014) in the northern plateau, *Pinus sylvestris - Pinus nigra* in the Southern Iberian Range (Jucker et al., 2014b) or *Pinus pinaster-Pinus sylvestris* with *Abies pinsapo* in the Cádiz Mountain Range. These studies reported positive, negative or neutral effects, which varied according to species assemblage and site conditions, for pine-pine interactions on wood production.

Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) are two of the main forest species in Spain (covering 1.20 and 0.68 million ha, respectively). They grow in pure and mixed stands, either naturally or through species selection for afforestation (Serrada et al., 2008). The two species co-exist on moderate slopes,

mainly in the Iberian and Central Mountain Range in approximately 120000 ha (Figure 1.1), where their natural ecological distributions overlap: in the colder and higher areas of Maritime pine distribution and close to the southern latitudinal limit of Eurasian distribution for Scots pine. These mixed stands are particularly interesting because of their location at the edges of the *P. sylvestris* range distribution, where ecological conditions (high temperatures, frequent droughts) approach the species tolerance limit and the most drastic effects of climate change are expected (Matías and Jump, 2012). Meanwhile, Maritime pine in a dynamic and continuous process expand into the natural distribution areas of Scots pine, especially in more xeric site conditions (García-Güemes and Calama, 2015).

Outside the areas where their distribution ranges overlap, Scots pine and Maritime pine have different life histories and ecological requirements (Richardson, 2000; Tapias et al., 2004). In the Mediterranean region, Scots pine and Maritime pine present differences in growth phenology (Camarero et al., 2010; Vieira et al., 2014) and climate-growth responses (Bogino et al., 2009; Bogino and Bravo, 2008; Lara et al., 2013) that might enhance species complementarity. For instance, different intra-annual growth patterns have been described for the two species in Mediterranean environments. Scots pine shows a unimodal pattern, with photoperiod and temperature changes as the main environmental factors that condition the beginning and end of xylem growth (Camarero et al., 2010). In contrast, Maritime pine shows a bimodal intra-annual growth pattern that is typical of xeric regions (Vieira et al., 2014), though with a second (autumn) radial increment period explained as rehydration after summer contraction (Aldea et al., 2017; Vieira et al., 2013).

Scots pine is the most widely distributed pine species in the world, ranging from the Iberian Peninsula to Siberia. In Spain, Scots pine is mainly found in montane climates: 800-2000 m.a.s.l., 600-1200 mm mean annual precipitation and summer precipitation above 100 mm. In addition to the high-quality wood obtained from this species, it has great ecological value and a protective function against soil erosion. The rotation period in Mediterranean pine forests is around 100–140 years, depending on the intensity of silvicultural operations (Montero et al., 2008). Scots pine is a light-demanding pioneer species that can grow in half-light conditions. New seedlings are often established under the shelterwood system, thereby maximizing regeneration density in moderate light conditions (Barbeito et al., 2011). Because of its deep root system with dominant oblique and long secondary roots, this species can tolerate frost and drought and grows in ecologically diverse habitats with very poor soils.



Figure 1.1. Distribution of Scots pine and Maritime pine in pure and mixed stands in Spain.

Maritime pine is widely distributed throughout the western Mediterranean basin (southwest Europe and northwest Africa), but not continuously, due to geographic isolation and human activity since ancient times. In Spain, Maritime pine grows in sub-humid and continental Mediterranean climates: 600-1300 m.a.s.l., 400-800 mm mean annual precipitation and 20-125 mm summer precipitation (Serrada et al., 2008). Maritime pine is a light demanding, shade intolerant, fast-growing species that occupies very diverse sites, showing high genetic diversity within populations and important genotype-by-environment interactions (Alía et al., 1997). It is also frost-resistant and tolerant to summer drought, which favors adaptation to local ecological conditions (Rodríguez et al., 2008). Natural regeneration occurs most commonly by means of the seed tree method (Rodríguez-García et al., 2010) and the survival of the new individuals is more related to light than to summer precipitation (Ruano et al., 2009). Traditionally, Maritime pine silviculture has focused on resin extraction, but the species has also been used for soil protection, reforestation of degraded areas and dune stabilization.

Growth and yield models for both species are available for different management purposes and regions, and at different scales (from whole stand to individual tree models), however, most models and tools were developed for pure even-aged stands (Bravo et al., 2012). For instance, IBERO is a distance-independent tree-level model for the simulation of different forest management scenarios in Spain. It predicts five-year growth for each tree in even-aged monospecific *Pinus sylvestris* L. stands (IBERO^{PS}) in the Iberian and Central Range (Lizarralde et al., 2010a) and for *Pinus pinaster* Ait. (IBERO^{PT}) in the Southern Iberian Range (Lizarralde et al., 2010b). IBERO is structured by modules that represent process driving stand dynamic , including initialization and complementary models (height-diameter model and functions of crown features)(Lizarralde, 2008; Lizarralde et al., 2004), productivity (side index) (Bravo-Oviedo et al., 2004; Bravo and Montero, 2001; Rojo and Montero, 1996), mortality/ingrowth (Bravo-Oviedo et al., 2008), growth (diameter and height growth projection models) and stem-taper equations (Lizarralde, 2008).

Finally, despite ongoing development of growth and yield models in Spain during recent decades (Bravo et al., 2012), there is still a clear and urgent need for silvicultural and forest management information for mixed Scots and Maritime pine stands. Accurate tools must be generated to inform the structural development and maintenance of mixed stands, tools that address the expansion of mixed forest surface due to changes or abandonment of forest management and the impact of global change.

1.3 Research questions and hypothesis

The main hypothesis in this thesis is that differences in structural and functional traits between Scots pine and Maritime pine could induce species interactions that can produce changes in stand productivity, above-ground species allometries, crown dominance, stand structural traits and forest stand dynamics. This thesis tests the hypothesis using a multi-level analysis (tree to stand level) that includes temporal and spatial scales, to understand how species interaction affects growth and yield processes in Scots pine - Maritime pine mixed stands in a Mediterranean ecosystem. The following research questions were set:

- When both species coexist, can competition relationships between species and stand attributes favor higher productivity at tree and stand levels compared to neighboring pure stands?
- Are the differences in structural and functional traits between Scots pine and Maritime pine enough to reveal species interactions and induce changes in above-ground species allometries, crown dominance, and stand structural attributes?
- Is there evidence of temporal species interaction dynamics on intra- and inter-annual scales that could modulate species-mixing effects?
- Do the available models for pure stands need to be adapted to mixed-species stands to improve mixed-stand growth estimates?

In concordance with these questions, the following hypotheses were formulated:

— Species-mixing effects can be traced at different organizational levels, from trees to stands. If inter-specific competition is less intense than intra-specific competition for the available above-ground or below-ground resources, then an increase in productivity (overyielding) in mixed stands compared to monospecific stands is expected. Combining tree- and stand-level analysis makes it possible to infer complementarity mechanisms between these pine species.

- Changes in structural heterogeneity may be associated with the effects of species mixing on productivity in Mediterranean mixed-pine stands. If the differences in structural attributes at tree and stand levels in mixed stands emerge from species interactions, then they are not a simple effect of mixture species with differing structural traits. Increased structural heterogeneity in mixed stands results in vertically structured canopies or crown complementarity among species, which is related to increased overyielding in mixed stands.
- Differences in intra- and inter-annual growth patterns could change temporal competition or complementarity relationships between species in mixed stands. Together, intra-annual cumulative radial increment patterns and inter-annual growth responses to drought could contribute to niche complementarity in the use of available resources by separating the temporal niche and stabilizing species coexistence.
- Integrating modifiers or parameters reflecting inter-specific competition into the structure of models adapted for mixed stands could improve their predictive capacity, thereby making them more useful than the parametrized functions available for each species in monospecific stands.

1.4 Thesis focus and contributions

Complexity in forest systems is expected to increase with the number of interacting species. Interactions between two species are often dynamic and result from processes and factors operating at different scales, none of which are mutually exclusive (Valladares et al., 2015). Additionally, species interactions can change along spatial and temporal gradients depending on resource availability and climate conditions (Forrester, 2014). To simplify complex systems (e.g., mixed-species stands), components are studied separately and then integrated to a whole system. However, this approach must take into account the emergent properties (e.g., species-mixing effects) resulting from component interactions (Messier et al., 2014) in the whole system. Analyzing these processes and species interactions at different levels and scales forms the basis for a solid understanding of forest dynamics in Scots pine-Maritime pine mixed-species stands, dynamics that cannot be predicted by studying isolated individual components.

The research activities in this thesis are based on the modeling approach proposed by Pretzsch et al., (2015b) and were modified to include tree-to-stand hierarchical levels along with spatial and temporal scales. Figure 1.2 describes the components (central cycle), level and scales that were analyzed according to the research questions formulated in Section 1.3. Theoretical modeling frameworks for deriving and predicting growth dynamics in mixed stands rely on the species-mixing effects of the main interacting components. Solid arrows (Figure 1.2) connect the components between the tree and stand-level, indicating species-mixing

14 | Introduction

(composition) effects on stand structure and the influence of the competition environment (species interactions) on tree growth. Dashed arrows indicate the spatial and temporal scales used when species-mixing effects were analyzed at different levels. Feedback between stand structure and tree growth using competition indices shows that species interactions can significantly affect stand development (Pretzsch, 2014). Components and system inputs outside the scope of this thesis are in bold grey.

This thesis is organized into five studies according to the theoretical framework for analyzing mixed species depicted in Figure 1.2, within the scope of the research questions identified in Section 1.3.



Figure 1.2. Theoretical framework for modeling mixed-species stands, modified from Pretzsch et al., (2015b). Sub-components of the conceptual system within the levels and scales analyzed throughout this research are highlighted with the 'Study number' in roman numerals. Sub-modules and inputs outside the scope of this thesis are in bold grey. Bold arrows connect tree and stand levels. Dashed arrows indicate the spatial and temporal scales used when species-mixing effects were analyzed at different levels.

Study I combines tree- and stand-level analysis to evaluate species-mixing effects of Scots pine and Maritime pine on a national scale using Spanish National Forest Inventory data (NFI). To understand the species-specific interactions that favor higher profitability of mixed stands over monospecific stands, the following approach was used: (i) determine species-specific potential density and space occupancy, (ii) evaluate if growth efficiency at the stand level is modified by mixture in terms of the growing space occupied, and (iii) test different competition structures to evaluate the influence of intra-specific and inter-specific competition on tree growth. This analysis provides a general overview of the behavior of this species mixture in an unbiased and systematic sample distributed across the complete range of mixture proportions.

Study II explores net species-mixing effects on stand productivity and stand structure in mixed forests composed of Scots pine and Maritime pine, compared to homologous monospecific stands, in a triplets assay in the Northern Iberian Range (Spain). The main objective of this study was to analyze mixture effects at three organizational levels – individual tree, tree size distribution, and stand – to develop hypotheses about possible complementarity mechanisms between these pine species. The following working questions were set for this purpose: i) to what extent does mixing modify structural attributes at the stand and species levels compared to pure stands?, (ii) how does volume production of mixed-species stands differ from that of neighboring pure stands?, and (iii) are mixing effects on stand productivity related to structural heterogeneity?

Study III includes modeling long-term growth fluctuations related to drought severity time series and comparing species-specific growth resilience to drought events in Scots pine and Maritime pine. The inter-annual niche differentiation of both co-existing pine species might be explored by combining both approaches. Our specific objectives were to (i) determine the long-term correlation between growth fluctuations and aridity index for each species, (ii) explore how stand composition and age might influence correlation in growth-drought fluctuations, (iii) quantify mean species-specific growth response and resilience to drought events in pure stands, and (iv) determine to what extent species responses to drought are influenced by stand composition.

Study IV focuses on comparing the intra-annual radial increment patterns of Scots pine and Maritime pine for mixed and pure stands. To quantify how species mixing influences cumulative radial increment patterns, the following objectives were established: (i) to compare the fitted functions for cumulative radial increment of each species in pure stands; (ii) to evaluate species-mixing effects on the intra-specific deviation of cumulative radial increment patterns between mixed stands and pure stands.

Study V applies the knowledge gained in the previous studies to develop generalized height-diameter and basal area tree growth models adapted to mixed stands for each species. First, for adapting these models, species-mixing effects were integrated through modifiers or parameters that reflect inter-specific competition. Estimates from the adapted models were then compared to predictions based on available functions for monospecific stands.

2. Data

2.1 Experimental units and databases

In this thesis, two data sources were the primary input to analyze, at multiple levels and spatial and temporal scales, the mixing-species effects of Scots pine and Maritime pine mixtures compared to their respective monocultures.

One dataset consisted of the Spanish National Forest Inventory (NFI). Data from the Second (1986–96) and Third NFI (1997–2007) were used to analyze at the treeand stand-level the species-mixing effect in Scots pine and Maritime pine mixed stands at large spatial range, to understand the species-specific interactions that favor higher profitability in the mixture than in monospecific stands (Study I). NFI was also used to validate the performance of generalized height-diameter functions developed for both species in mixed stands (Study V). NFI data offered the advantageous possibility to obtain a general overview of the behavior of this mixture in an unbiased and systematic sample distributed across the complete range of mixture distribution and proportions. However, using NFI data have some constraints due to the uncertainty related with data characteristics and methodological approach: stand age information is unavailable, uncertainty about past silvicultural treatments. Although estimates of stand variables using expansion factors could generate unbiased errors (Bravo et al., 2002).

Although, the strength of inventory datasets is the representativeness of the inferences, e.g., comparison of stand productivity of mixed versus monospecific stands and the correlation with site conditions is representative of a population (del Río and Sterba, 2009; Toïgo et al., 2015). The comprehensive quantification of the system properties and process in mixed stands from the analysis of inventory data is limited by the abovementioned data constraints and possible confounding factors that require particular attention when analyzing species-mixing effects (Bauhus et al., 2017a; Vilà et al., 2005). As a complementary alternative, observational studies based on temporary plots can help to exclude or control the influence of other factors in the analysis. Also, they allow ensuring a desire environmental gradient in the design (Bauhus et al., 2017a).

For this thesis, temporally plots grouped in a triplet design were established by the Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute (iuFOR). Typically triplets, a set of one plot in a mixed-species stand and two plots in the respective monospecific stands, are used to study species-mixing effects because this design allows for more control of some stand conditions, avoiding confounding factors at least for part of the stand development (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015; Vallet and Perot, 2016). These parameters include climate, soil conditions, stand structure, age, and forest practices.

The Triplets Research Network using in this thesis was located in a Mediterranean mixed pine forests area of Scots pine and Maritime pine that cover approximately 50 000 ha in the Northern Iberian Range. This design facilitates a pair-wise plausible comparison of mixed versus pure stands (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2009). Data from the tree and stand measurements were used to analyze changes in stand structure related with species mixing, as well as the relationship between the increase of stand productivity and differences in the canopy structure in mixed stands compared to pure stands (Study II). Dendrochronological data (tree-rings width) from tree cores taken in all the triplets and data from measurements of band dendrometers installed some of the triplets, allowing to evaluate the effect of species-mixing in the inter-annual growth responses to drought with the former (Study III) and intra-annual increments patterns with the latter (Study IV). Finally, dendrometric data from the triplets and diameter increment measurements from the cores were used to fit predictive generalized height-diameter functions and tree basal area growth models that consider the effects of the species-interactions (Study V).

2.1.1 Spanish National Forest Inventory

2.1.1.1 Description of the NFI

NFI is a systematic sample of permanent plots distributed across the forested area of Spain following the UTM square grid of 1 km, with a ~10-year re-measurements interval. NFI plots consist of four circular concentric subplots with radii of 5, 10, 15 and 25 meters, where species, diameter (d) and height (h) of all trees over 7.5, 12.5, 22.5 and 42.5 cm breast height diameter respectively are recorded.

Estimated stand variables included the number of trees (N), basal area (BA), dominant height (Ho), quadratic mean diameter (dq) and total stand volume (V) in pure and mixed plots; they were calculated using adequate expansion factors. Individual-tree stem volume over bark was estimated from volume equations proposed by the Second NFI (ICONA, 1990) and measures of diameter and height of each tree recorded in NFI. The origin of the stands, natural (Nt) or plantation (Pl) was considered in the analysis; available at SIG-FOREST (Auñon et al., 2011).

2.1.1.2 Plots selection criteria and mixed plots definition

NFI plots were selected rely on species composition. In pure plots of Scots pine and Maritime pine stands, the target species had at least 90% of the total BA of the plot. Plots were defined as mixed when the combined BA of both species in the plot had a minimum of a 90% of the total BA, and the proportion of BA of each
target species in the mixed plots was higher than 15%. Thus, the proportion of other species remained lower than 10% (Figure 2.1). Pure plots without evidence of thinning (BA reduction) between inventories were used to fit the self-thinning boundary line for each species (Table 2.1). Plots with dq under 10cm were removed to avoid including under-represented stands due to NFI lower threshold diameters. Thus we estimated the self-thinning line and maximum stand density index value (SDImax) for each species, as described in section 3.1.



Figure 2.1. Range of mixture proportions in selected plots from NFI.

		Scots 1	pine	Maritim	e pine
		Nt	P1	Nt	P1
$N^{\underline{o}}$ of plots		379	142	170	283
Ν	mean	965.0	1472.7	826.2	1087.5
(trees ha-1)	max	3939.9	3480.1	2567.7	4916.0
	min	65.2	187.5	117.9	88.3
	sd	585.5	734.1	502.7	659.7
dq (cm)	mean	22.4	18.0	24.4	20.0
	max	40.4	40.8	41.8	42.3
	min	10.5	10.0	13.3	10.4
	sd	6.4	5.6	5.9	6.2

Table 2.1. Main stand variables of pure plots used to fit the self-thinning boundary line.

N: stems per hectare; dq: quadratic mean diameter; Nt: Natural stands; Pl: Plantation stands

2.1.1.3 Data used in the analysis of species-mixing effects at stand and tree level

Only plots measured in both inventories were considered to analyze the effect of the mixture on growth efficiency at stand level (section 3.2.1). Plots, where total BA or BA of each species decreased more than 5% between inventories were excluded. Plots lacking continuous measurement, stand origin data, with damages due to biotic or abiotic factors (BA>40% affected) or with recorded growth

anomalies were also rejected. Finally, to reduce the effects of different abiotic growing conditions between mixed and pure plots: only pure plots within a buffer of <5km from the mixed plots were included (Figure 2.2). Plots with relative stand density index (SDIR) below 0.15 were excluded (see Eq. [3.2] in section 3.1.1) to avoid the use of plots with very low density. A total of 115 mixed plots, 210 pure Scots pine plots, and 148 pure Maritime pine plots were finally selected (Table 2.2). Volume increment was calculated by the difference in standing volume between inventories, extracting natural mortality and including in-growth from the Third NFI.

A data subset was selected to evaluate the species-mixing at tree-level from the same plots used to assess species-mixing effects at the stand level (section 3.2.2). Trees were selected regardless of the plot mixture proportion. Dead trees and trees registering anomalous growth data were excluded. Individual tree data for both species at the beginning of the studied growth period is shown in Table 2.3.



Figure 2.2. Location of mixed and pure plots selected from NFI (black dots) and the distribution of Maritime pine (gray) and Scots pine (dark gray) in Spain.

2.1.1.4 Data used for the evaluation of generalized height-diameter functions

Selected plots of the Third NFI located in the Northern Iberian Range were used to evaluate the performance of estimates of generalized *h*-*d* function fitted for both species in mixed stands (*Study V*). A total of 213 permanent plots of mixed and pure stands were used for this purpose, 47 mixed plots and 109 pure plots of Scots pine and 57 of Maritime pine, respectively.

				Mixed	l plots			Pure p	olots		
		Total s	tand	P. sylv	estris	P. pina	ster	P. sylv	estris	P. pina	ster
		Nt	Pl	Nt	Pl	Nt	Pl	Nt	P1	Nt	P1
N^{o} of plots		82	33	82	33	82	33	165	45	106	42
Ν	mean	564.5	1023.6	309	590	264	423	667.9	1293.3	796.5	863.6
(trees ha-1)	max	1479.9	3087.5	1322.7	1987.6	1177.7	1481.9	2893.0	3755.9	2291.8	1955.8
	min	87.1	226.4	14.2	88.4	19.2	28.3	65.1	240.5	104.1	283.0
	sd	312.5	744.6	241.4	500.1	218.1	398.5	468.6	678.6	558.3	450.7
BA	mean	26.8	21.6	12.7	9.7	14.3	11.7	31.9	21.2	30.3	23.7
(m ² ha ⁻¹)	max	53.7	41.4	35.4	22.9	44.8	31.9	68.9	54.0	67.4	48.0
	min	8.4	7.9	1.5	1.5	0.8	1.9	8.9	7.4	8.0	8.1
	sd	12.3	9.5	8.3	5.3	9.3	7.5	14.2	10.7	15.5	10.3
Но	mean	14.0	9.8	13.3	8.9	13.3	9.8	15.4	8.7	12.0	9.7
(m)	max	22.3	13.6	21.0	14.1	21.3	13.2	27.9	19.2	20.1	14.3
	min	6.3	5.3	5.8	4.2	4.8	5.6	6.1	4.7	5.1	5.5
	sd	3.4	2.2	3.5	2.6	3.8	2.0	4.0	3.2	3.2	2.3
dq	mean	26.3	18.0	25.1	17.0	28.9	21.5	27.7	15.1	24.3	19.6
(cm)	max	39.5	33.6	50.7	35.8	41.6	31.7	51.5	32.5	46.1	33.5
	min	11.7	10.7	9.8	8.8	10.3	11.2	10.5	8.9	10.0	10.7
	sd	7.0	5.3	7.8	6.8	8.9	5.5	8.7	4.6	7.6	5.0
PAIV	mean	5.1	7.4	2.3	3.2	3.1	4.1	4.6	6.7	5.0	7.7
(m ³ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	max	12.5	17.6	8.5	7.5	9.2	14.4	14.0	16.6	14.4	19.1
	min	0.3	1.4	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.6	0.1	1.6	0.7	1.0
	sd	2.8	4.1	1.7	1.8	2.3	3.2	3.1	3.5	3.1	4.8
Total stand	mean	0.48	0.41	0.23	0.19	0.25	0.22	0.55	0.41	0.56	0.44
density (SD)	max	0.99	0.76	0.62	0.47	0.81	0.60	1.17	1.00	1.2	0.88
	min	0.17	0.16	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.03	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15
	sd	0.23	0.18	0.15	0.11	0.17	0.14	0.24	0.19	0.28	0.19

Table 2.2. Main stand variables for mixed and pure plots at the beginning of the growth period (used to fit the growth models).

N: trees per hectare, *BA*: basal area per hectare, *Ho*: dominant height, *dq*: quadratic mean diameter; N: Natural stands; P: Plantation stands; SD: Total stand density as the sum of the relative stand density of each species SD=SDIRi+SDIRj.

	Origin	n		d (cm)	h (m)	iv (dm³ yr¹)	SDIR	SDIRL	SDIRintra	SDIRinter	SDIRLintra	SDIRLinter
Scots	Nt	1317	mean	27.2	14.1	11.12	0.52	0.30	0.33	0.19	0.16	0.14
pine			min	7.5	3.0	0.01	0.09	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00
			max	54.1	24.0	68.15	1.06	1.04	0.97	0.94	0.96	0.94
	Pl	419	mean	17.5	8.9	9.16	0.36	0.23	0.19	0.18	0.09	0.14
			min	7.5	3.5	0.20	0.07	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00
			max	55.8	18.0	74.89	0.65	0.62	0.39	0.49	0.35	0.49
Maritime	Nt	1367	mean	32.3	14.0	18.69	0.54	0.23	0.38	0.16	0.18	0.05
pine			min	7.65	2.0	0.01	0.09	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00
			max	73.2	25.5	120.51	1.06	0.98	0.94	0.97	0.92	0.44
	Pl	523	mean	22.3	9.6	17.53	0.39	0.15	0.26	0.13	0.13	0.02
			min	7.7	4.0	0.15	0.07	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00
			max	54.5	19.0	76.54	0.65	0.63	0.49	0.39	0.48	0.26

Table 2.3 Tree characteristics and competition status by stand origin in selected plots at the beginning of the growth period (used to fit tree-growth models).

d: diameter at breast height; iv: tree volume growth; sd: standard deviation, min: minimum value, max: maximum value. Nt: Natural stands; Pl: Plantation stands. Competition indices are described at section 3.2.2, SDIR: size-symmetric competition index; SDIRL: size-asymmetric competition index for larger trees; intra: intra-specific competition, inter: inter-specific competition

2.1.2 Triplets network

2.1.2.1 Study area

Triplets were established during 2014-2015 in mixed pine forests of Scots pine and Maritime pine that cover approximately 50 000 ha in the Northern Iberian Range. The climate is subhumid Mediterranean continental with a mean annual temperature of 9.0° C and mean annual precipitation approximately of 800 mm with frost occurring from September to May. Plots are located at an elevation ranged from 1090 to 1277 m a.s.l. Soils are acidic (pH 3.9–5.4) with sandy loam to sandy texture, low cation exchange capacity (2.4 – 18.1 cmolC kg⁻¹) and medium to lower water-retention capacity (1.5 – 18 g cm⁻²) (López Marcos et al., 2017).

In the region, forest management has divided the forest cover into even-aged sections and compartments. Traditionally, the even-aged stands management applied strip clear-cutting with soil movement and sowing when necessary, followed by natural regeneration. The main objective is timber production, but with a clear multifunctional approach. For instance, mushroom production and the recreational activities related are considered as highly relevant economic incomes from forestry resources (Aldea et al., 2014; de Frutos et al., 2009). Forest management of mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine commonly favor the former due to its better wood quality. However, environmental conditions

have benefited the progressive establishment of Maritime pine into forest areas covered by Scots pine (García-Güemes and Calama, 2015). Moreover, Maritime pine stands historically were slightly tapping for resin extraction in this area due to resin productions constraints by low temperatures (Rodríguez et al., 2008)

2.1.2.2 Triplets design

A total of 36 plots, grouped into 12 triplets of mixed plots (PS,PT) and their corresponding pure plots of Scots pine (PS) and Maritime pine (PT) (Figure 2.3). Plots within triplets had similar site conditions, age, and density and belonged to the same management compartments where the same silviculture regime had been applied; facilitating a pair-wise plausible comparison of mixed versus pure stands (Table 2.4).

Table 2.4. Description of mixed-species and monospecific plots included in the triplet design.

Composition		N (trees ha ⁻¹)	dq (cm)	BA (m ² ha ⁻¹)	Ho (m)	V (m³ ha-1)	PAIV (m ³ ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)	Prop (% BA)	Age	SI
Maritime	mean	286	37.9	31.2	21.5	282.5	4.2	53.5	100	22
pine mixed	max	538	48.0	49.3	26.9	429.3	7.0	67.0	49	27
	min	127	27.5	11.1	15.0	79.7	2.2	28.6	140	16
Scots pine	mean	398	29.5	26.7	20.2	237.4	2.8	46.5	100	22
mixed	max	594	40.6	45.9	26.7	473.2	6.9	71.4	44	29
	min	241	20.5	13.0	15.0	86.3	0.9	33.0	138	14
Total mixed	mean	685		57.9		519.9	7.0			
	max	1103		75.7		700.2	9.2			
	min	523		33.3		234.3	4.4			
Maritime	mean	724	33.1	59.3	19.0	476.7	6.9	98.7	98	20
pine pure	max	1259	40.3	70.3	22.5	632.6	9.2	100.0	45	28
	min	410	22.0	37.5	14.9	249.6	4.2	95.0	130	16
Scots pine	mean	709	30.8	50.3	21.5	453.3	5.8	94.3	105	22
pure	max	1217	39.3	66.3	25.7	652.8	11.3	100.0	44	31
	min	410	21.5	33.3	16.5	236.4	3.1	93.3	140	17

N, tree number (ha⁻¹); dq, quadratic mean diameter (cm); Ho, dominant height (m); BA, stand basal area (m² ha⁻¹); V, standing stem volume (m³ ha⁻¹); PAIV, periodic annual volume growth (m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) for the period 2004-2014; Prop, proportion of species stand basal area; SI, site index as the dominant height (m) at age 100 based on the site index curves developed by Rojo and Montero (1996) and Bravo-Oviedo et al. (2007) for Scots pine and Maritime pine, respectively.

The stands were approximately full stocked, stocked above 60% relative to or even exceed the maximum, and none of the plots had been thinned for at least 10 years. In most of the triplets, both species were in the same age phase comparing monoculture and mixed-species stands, ranging from mature (45-50 years) to old

stands (120-140 years). Site quality estimated as the dominant height at age 100 years indicated moderate to low growth conditions according to specific curves of pure stands (Bravo-Oviedo et al., 2007; Bravo and Montero, 2001; Rojo and Montero, 1996). Some variations in stand age and site conditions were tolerated among triplets to cover stand variability in the study area (Table 2.4).

Each triplet consisted of three circular plots of 15m radius, including one pure plot of Scots pine, one pure plot of Maritime pine and one mixed plot that contained both species. Mixed plots had varying individual tree mixtures, and the mixing proportion between species had a combination of at least 75-25% of the total basal area. Pure plots were located within 1 km of the mixed plots. Pure plots stands were considered only when the total basal area of the target species was higher than 90% and was used as a reference to evaluate mixing effects on stand structure, growth, and yield.



Figure 2.3. Left above: Distribution of Maritime pine (blue), Scots pine (green) and mixed stands (red) in Spain, black frame marks the study area. Below: The locations of the 12 triplets (red circles with black center) respecting to the NFI plots. Right above: location of monospecific and mixed plots in one triplet (PS -green circle- for Scots pine and PT -blue circle for Maritime pine) and mixed stands (PS,PT -red circle-).



Figure 2.4. Mixed (above) and pure stands of Scots pine (middle) and Maritime pine (below).

2.1.2.3 Triplets inventory and cores sampling

All stems > 7.5cm in diameter were positioned ('x, y' coordinates) and measured the diameter at breast height (*d*). Tree total height (*h*) and height to crown base (*hcb*, height of the crown's lowest primary branch) were measured for all trees using a vertex hypsometer. A crown class was assigned to each tree (dominant, co-dominant, dominated and suppressed).

Increment cores at stem height of 1.30 m covering at least the last 15 years were taken from all trees avoiding dead or suppressed individuals. A total of 736 from Scots pine and 693 from Maritime pine trees in mixed and pure plots were sampling. All cores were mounted, sanded till tree-ring boundaries were clearly visible and scanned at 1800ppi image resolution. For each cored tree, tree ring widths (mm year⁻¹) were dated and measured from the scanned images using the *measuRing* package (Lara et al., 2015), Figure 2.5. We performed cross-dating using species-specific marker years, narrow rings, followed by statistical confirmation of quality tree-ring series synchronization using the *dplR* package (Bunn, 2010), Figure 2.6.



Figure 2.5. Segment from a scanned core sample 'PT07_2362A' of Maritime pine processed with *measurRing* R-package. Tree-ring detection was a combination of automatic and visual selection from the sampling year 2014. Numbers on vertical segments 'gray-matrix column' are the formation years. The position of the dotted red line over the smoothed grays correspond to a constant across which the ring borders were detected (default origin = 0), details in Lara et al., (2015).

Stand variables and tree measurements were used to analyze to what extent mixing modifies the structural attributes in the stand and species crown allometric relationships compared to pure stands (Study II). Tree-rings width was the main input to evaluate growth at tree level and scale up to stand level (Study II and V). Tree rings measurements were used to backdate tree size (*d* and volume) and

stand variables (BA and dq) to the beginning of the evaluation period. Tree-ring series after detrending were used to evaluate the responses and long-term drought effects in both species in mixed and pure stands (Study III).



Figure 2.6. Cross-dating between each segment (10 years) of each sample in a plot with the master chronology, blue segments showed significative correlation to the master chronology (critical value=0.35), red segments indicated the segment with potential dating problems (Bunn, 2010).

2.1.3 Backdating

Reconstruction of diameter and height of all trees to the beginning of the evaluation period (2004, t₁) is necessary to relate past growth to initial condition, *'backdating'* (Bravo et al., 2001, Hann and Hanus, 2001). Diameter over bark at breast height for time t₁ (d₁) for all cored trees was calculated using the diameter measured at 2014 (d₂), the tree ring width measurements from each core sampled and the species-specific bark factors (Bravo et al., 2007; Lizarralde, 2008). The diameter increments of all non-cored trees for this evaluation period were calculated by fitting diameter increment functions for each plot and species based on the diameter measured at 2014 (d₂).

$$id = \beta_0 + \beta_1 d_2 \tag{2.1}$$

where *id* is the stem diameter increment for the period, and β_0 and β_1 are intercept and slope of the linear model. Diameter increment estimation of non-cores trees and backdated data of cored trees were used to calculate the diameter over bark at the beginning of the evaluation period for all trees (d₁). Stand variables such as quadratic mean diameter and stand basal area directly derived from the backdating. This data was used to evaluate the effect of mixing species on stand productivity (Study II) and tree growth (Study V). Specific height-diameter functions parameterized for the same study region (Lizarralde, 2008) were used to reconstruct individual tree heights. However, this required estimates past dominant height in each plot (Ho₁). Ho₁ was calculated using species-specific site index curves and the mean stand age. Age was determined relies on cores to the pith took from dominant trees of both species in each plot. We used site index curves developed by Rojo and Montero (1996) and Bravo-Oviedo et al. (2007) for Scots pine and Maritime pine, respectively. Once Ho₁ was estimated, tree height (\hat{h}_1) at the beginning of the growth period was calculated using the generalized specific height-diameter functions (Lizarralde, 2008). Then past tree height (h₁) was calculated by multiplying the 2014 measured tree height (h₂) by the proportional difference between estimated past and current tree height, \hat{h}_1 and \hat{h}_2 respectively, thereby avoiding negative height growths in the h₁ reconstruction. Tree height reconstruction in mixed plots was based on the species-specific dominant height and quadratic mean diameter in the stand.

$$h_1 = h_2 \,\frac{\hat{h}_1}{\hat{h}_2} \tag{2.2}$$

Individual tree diameter and height reconstruction data and species-specific volume functions (Rodríguez and Broto, 2014) were used to estimate stand volume (V). Annual volume increment was calculated by differences between the stand volume at 2014 (V₂) and stand volume at the beginning of the period evaluation, 2004 (V₁), as PAIV=(V₂-V₁)/t, analogously annual basal area increment was calculated as PAIBA=(BA₂-BA₁)/t. Removed volume and basal area from the stand were not considered since the triplets were established in stands that had not been thinned during the study period at least. In pure plots, stems of the coexisting species were assigned as Scots pine or Maritime pine, respectively. Volume increment was used to evaluate the effect of mixing species on stand productivity and stand structure (Study II).

2.1.4 Band dendrometers

Band dendrometers (DB 20, EMS Brno) were placed on one triplet from the Triplets Research Network of pinewood forest during autumn and winter 2015. Stand variables, age and site index, were similar between mixed and pure plots (Table 2.5). Tree dead bark was removed and circumference measured previous mounted the dendrometers at breast height (1.3m) on 32 trees, 8 trees per species and plot (16 trees in mixed stands). Trees were selected to obtain a balanced representation of the diameter distribution of each tree species in mixed and pure stands (d > 17cm). Band dendrometers were measured biweekly from March to December 2016 with a precision of 0.1mm. To avoid diurnal biases due to changes in tree water status, all measurements were taken in the afternoon around 4 p.m. Girth increment data were transformed to radial increments based on a cylindrical

tree shape (Table 2.6). We used girth increment measurements of band dendrometers to analyze the intra-annual radial increment pattern of both species in mixed and pure stands (Study IV).

Composition] (tree	N s ha-1)	B (m²	BA (m² ha-1)		dq (cm)		Ho (m)		Prop (%BA)		ge	Site index	
	PS	PT	PS	PT	PS	PT	PS	PT	PS	PT	PS	PT	PS	PT
Mixed plot Scots pine	396	283	13.0	20.2	20.5	30.2	15.0	16.1	0.39	0.61	44	49	23	23
pure	778	42	30.8	2.6	22.4	27.7	17.8	19.5	0.92	0.08	44		26	
Maritime pine pure	0	594	0	37.5	0	28.4	0	16.9	0	1.00		49		23

Table 2.5. Description of the triplet used to install band dendrometers.

PT: P. pinaster; PS: P. sylvestris; BA: stand basal area; Ho: dominant height

Table 2.6. Main characteristics of Scots pine and Maritime pine trees with band dendrometers in mixed and pure plots. Mean and standard deviation in brackets of tree diameter and intra-annual cumulative radial increment measured at 2016.

Composition	Tree d (c	iameter m)	Cumulat increme	ive radial ent (mm)
	PS	РТ	PS	РТ
Mixed plot	21.05 (3.11)	28.79 (4.41)	1.462 (0.38)	1.828 (0.72)
Scots pine pure	22.76 (4.30)		1.609 (0.38)	
Maritime pine pure		30.47 (6.58)		1.808 (0.73)

2.2 Climate data

Climate data were extracted from available raster maps (at 1x1 km scale) of the functional phytoclimatic model (Gonzalo Jiménez, 2010). Mean monthly, seasonal and annual temperature and precipitation values from 1951 to 1999 and the corresponding phytoclimatic regions were assigned to each selected plot from the NFI dataset according to their coordinates. These variables were used to test if the main environmental conditions influenced the mixture effects in the stand model (Study I).

Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index–SPEI (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010) was used to estimate the drought intensity at triplets plots. The SPEI is a multi-scalar drought index based on a simple climatic water balance (monthly differences between precipitation and reference evapotranspiration), which is intended to determine the onset, duration and magnitude of drought conditions with respect to normal conditions in a given area. Negative and positive values below or above 1 correspond, respectively, to dry and wet periods. In this study, we considered a 12 months long September SPEI (i.e., the cumulative water deficit

from October of the previous year to September). Based on analyses reported by Camarero et al., (2015) showing the most robust SPEI-growth relationships for both species. We used specific coordinates of each plot to extract SPEI time series for the period 1961–2015 from the gridded Dataset of Drought Indices for Spain (spatial resolution 1.1 km²) (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2017). From 1961 to 2015, seven years showed SPEI values lower than -1 (Figure 2.8), considered as drought years (Potop et al., 2014). Strongest drought event in 2005 (SPEI = -2.20) and an increment of drought events in the last 30 years.



Figure 2.7. Walter-Lieth Diagram of the study area where Triplets Research Network was established. Aridity Index (AI)=0.182. Monthly mean temperature and precipitation calculated using Gonzalo Jiménez, (2010) dataset, 1951 – 1999.



Figure 2.8. Standardized Precipitation–Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), drought index accumulated during 12 months (from February to September). SPEI time series extracted for each plot in the Triplets (black lines). Positive and negative SPEI values indicate wet and dry conditions, respectively. Vertical dashed lines highlight drought years.

3. Methods

During the development of this thesis, species-mixing effects on processes involved in growth and yield mixed stands (Figure 1.2) were progressively analyzed at three organizational levels, stand, individual tree and tree size distribution level. NFI and temporal plots grouped in triplets were the primary data used for these analyses. Additionally, tree growth dynamics and temporal variation were studied at long-term inter-annual and short-term intra-annual scale. Tree-ring width series and band dendrometers measurements were used for this purpose. In the following sections, the methodological aspects considered and analytical procedures used for developing each study are widely described. Data sources and analysis methods used in the different studies are summarized in Table 3.1.

Table 3	1. Summary	of	data	sources	and	analytical	approaches	used	in	relation	to	each
study in	this thesis.											

		Data	source		Analysis method			
Study/Objective	NFI	Triplets and backdating	Tree-ring series	Band dendrom.	Statistical procedure	R Package		
Study I: Mixing effects at	stand ar	nd tree-level						
Maximum stand density	•				Quantile regression	quantreg		
Comparison of mixing	•				Linear mixed model	nIme		
effects between stand					Model selection	MuMIn		
and tree-level					Model selection	1111111111		
Study II: Species-mixing e	effects o	n stand product	ivity and sta	nds structure				
Intra-specific differences		•			Major axis repression	smatr		
in tree allometry					ingor and regression	0///00/		
Evaluation of stand		•			t.test	stat		
structure heterogeneity					wilcox.test			
Overyielding and stand		•			Linear models	stat		
structure relationship		<i>.</i>						
Study III: Dendroclimatic	respons	ses of mixed and	d pure stands	3		,		
Growth-drought long-			•		Linear mixed model	nlme		
term fluctuations					Mantel correlograms	BIODry		
Tree growth responses to			•		Linear mixed model	nlme		
drought events								
Study IV: Temporal comp	olementa	urity intra-annua	l increment	patterns				
Mixture effects in intra-				•	Non-linear model	FlexParamCurv		
annual growth patterns					Generalized linear	е		
					model	nlme		
Study V: Adapting tree-lev	vel mode	el IBERO to mi	ixed species	stands				
Generalized <i>h-d</i> model for	•	•			Non-linear mixed	nlme		
mixed stands					model	122/120		
Basal area growth model		•			Linear mixed model	nlme		
for mixed stands					Model selection	MuMIn		

3.1 Mixing proportion and maximum stand density

3.1.1 Mixing proportion

Comparison of growth in mixed and pure stands, negative or positive interaction effects on growth must be related to the area occupied by the respective species. The area available for a species in a mixed stand (species proportion by area) can be defined as the ratio of the observed space occupancy and the potential (maximum) space occupancy for this species and site. The maximum stand density index (Reineke, 1933) and the maximum basal area (Sterba, 1987) have well-developed theories that describe potential density which can be used to estimate species proportion by area, and can be estimated from large inventory data (Río and Sterba, 2009; Condés et al., 2013). They are expressions of the same ecological principal (Vospernik and Sterba, 2015) and both approaches produced similar estimations of mixture effects when the potential densities of the species did not differ by much (Sterba et al., 2014). In this way, the *stocking proportion* or species proportion by area (m_i) Eq. [3.1] were estimated in this study using the respective relative stand density index of the target species (SDIR_i) Eq.[3.2] (Sterba et al., 2014).

$$m_{i} = \frac{SDIR_{i}}{SDIR_{i} + SDIR_{j}}$$

$$SDIR_{i} = \frac{SDI_{i}}{SDIrrer} = \frac{N_{i} \left(\frac{2S}{dq_{i}}\right)^{E_{i}}}{C^{2}S^{E_{i}}}$$

$$[3.1]$$

$$[3.2]$$

where *m*_i is the proportion of species *i* by area, SDIR_i is the observed relative stand density of species *i*, SDI_i is the stand density index of species *i* and index *j* is referred to coexisting species. The denominator in Eq. [3.2] represents the maximum or potential stand density index (SDImax) of species *i* in a fully stocked pure stand. Thus, mixing proportion was adjusted to take account inter-specific differences in carrying capacity at a given site and allowing a plausible comparison of productivity per hectare between pure and mixed stands (del Río et al., 2016; Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015).

3.1.2 Maximum stand density

In order to use the stocking proportion approach, the maximum stand density had to be determined for both species. To derive the potential density of the species in pure stands, we used the maximum stand density index SDImax as the self-thinning rule (Reineke, 1933) Eq. [3.3]. Species-specific parameters C and E were estimated with a log-linear quantile regression (QR) in Eq. [3.4] using the *quantreg* R-package (Koenker, 2015; R Develomment Core Team, 2015).

 $N_{max} = C_0 \cdot dq^{E_0}$

$$\ln N = C_0 + E_0 \ln dq + \varepsilon$$
[3.4]

where C_0 and E_0 are species-specific parameters of the self-thinning line to be estimated. The parameters obtained in the outermost quantiles (90–99th) were compared with the slope and intercept fitted by OLS. Additionally, we tested whether other independent variables such as stand origin might significantly affect the intercept value in the self-thinning line. This robust method is especially useful for estimating rates of change along or near the upper limit of the functional size-density relationship (Cade and Noon, 2003; Zhang et al., 2005). Several studies have demonstrated the suitability of using National Forest Inventory data for estimating self-thinning lines (Charru et al., 2012; Valbuena et al., 2008) and evaluating the influence of species-specific traits to predict maximum size-density relationship (Bravo-Oviedo et al., 2018).

3.2 Mixing effects at stand level and tree level using NFI data

3.2.1 Mixing effects at the stand level

Effects of species-mixing at the stand-level are usually analyzed through the possible growth deviations in mixtures as compared to neighboring pure stands. In this respect, species proportion was used as a proxy for the partitioning of growing space: the allocation of resources such as light, water, and nutrients among the species in the stand (Río et al., 2016). The growth efficiency at stand level for species i (IVm_i), was defined as the volume increment of species per hectare PAIV_i (m3 ha-1 year-1) divided by the stocking proportion (Eq.[2.1]), IVm_i = PAIV_i/m_i, e.g. species volume growth up-scales to the hectare, being $m_i = 1$ in pure stands. The volume increment per hectare (PAIV) is the volume difference between the two inventories divided by the time span between them. The period between measurements varied among plots (10 - 13 years). To test if the species mixture affects growth efficiency and study the density-growth relationships, the following general model was fitted for Scots pine and Maritime pine, respectively.

$$\ln(IVm_i) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln(Ho) + \beta_2 \ln(dq_i) + \beta_3 \ln(SD) + \beta_4 m_j + \beta_5 ORIG_i + \varepsilon$$
[3.5]

where the dependent variable is the volume growth efficiency of species *i*. Dominant height (Ho) of the stand, the quadratic mean diameter (dq) of the species *i* and total stand density (SD) are the independent variables. Stand variables such as Ho and dq were included in the model as surrogate variables to account for the high variability in the site qualities and ages presented in NFI data. Total stand density (SD) was used to compare growth in pure and mixed stands. SD was calculated based on the relative total stand density concept, $SD = SDIR_i + SDIR_j$ (Sterba et al., 2014).

To test if species-mixing affects growth, we included the species proportion by area of the coexisting species (m_j) . A positive and significant coefficient for this variable would indicate that growth efficiency of the species *i* increases with an increasing proportion of species *j*, e.g. positive species-mixing effect. Additionally, a dummy variable for each origin was included ORIG (0 for natural plots or 1 for plantation plots) and interactions between species proportion by area and independent variables were also tested. Finally, we tested the benefit of including the set of climate variables (Gonzalo Jiménez, 2010; section 2.2) in the model structure.

Linear regression was fitted using the least squares approach establishing significance at p<0.05. The relevance of the species proportion in the growth efficiency model was tested using the F-statistic to compare equation Eq. [3.5] (mixture model) against a null model (without the m_j parameter).

3.2.2 Mixing effects on inter-tree competition

Single-tree models are a very effective tool for exploring the effect of competition on growth. An adequate individual tree growth model must include both an expansion and decline component to represent the growth pattern (Zeide, 1993). Equation [3.6] includes both components as a function of tree size. The competition status of the tree was included as a modifier component (e^{Comp}) that reduces the potential growth rate to the actual growth rate (Bravo et al., 2001; del Río et al., 2014a; Pretzsch and Biber, 2010).

$$iv_i = \beta_0 \cdot e^{\beta_1 d_i} \cdot d_i^{\beta_2} \cdot h_i^{\beta_3} \cdot e^{Comp}$$

$$[3.6]$$

where iv_i is the volume increment of a tree with a given diameter d_i and tree height h_i . The species-specific parameters are β_0 , β_1 , β_2 and β_3 . *Comp* is the competition term. Because in NFI trees are recorded according to diameter classes over circular concentric plots is not possible to use a distance independent approach to quantify tree competition. We used the stand density index concept (Eq. [3.2]) as a measure of size-symmetric competition. To analyze size-asymmetric competition, we used the stand density index of trees larger than the target tree (SDIL) Eq. [3.7] as an indicator of asymmetric competition for light (Pretzsch and Biber, 2010).

$$SDIL = N_L \left(\frac{25}{dq_1}\right)^E$$
[3.7]

where N_L and dq_L , are the number of stems per hectare and quadratic mean diameter of trees larger than the target tree, respectively, and *E* is maximum stand density exponent. We used species-specific values of *E* fitted using the QR technique (section 3.1.2).

Both size-symmetric (SDI) and size-asymmetric (SDIL) competition were calculated in relative terms Eq. [3.2] to take into account species-specific site

occupancy (Condés and del Río, 2015; Sterba et al., 2014). Relative size-symmetric (SDIR) and relative size-asymmetric (SDIRL) competition indices attributed for each species were calculated following a similar approach to that of Río et al., (2014). SDIR and SDIRL were split into intra-specific and inter-specific competition components for evaluating the influence of the mixture on tree growth. If inclusion of SDIR or SDILR in the growth model results in a better fit than the use of the intra- and inter-specific indices, it may indicate similar intra- and inter-specific competition structures was analyzed in the tree volume growth model Eq. [3.8] using the information-theoretic approach (Anderson, 2007), section 3.8.

The original dependent variable was logarithmically transformed to attain normal distribution of the residuals and reduce heteroscedasticity. Linear mixed-models were fitted considering random effects at two nested levels: phytoclimatic region and plot-in-region. However the inclusion of the phytoclimatic region in the hierarchical structure did not improve models performance; thus, we only used plot as the grouping structure of the random effects. We included random effects in both intercept and logarithm diameter terms.

$$\ln(iv_{ij}) = (a_0 + u_{0j}) + a_1 \cdot d_i + (a_2 + u_{2j}) \cdot \ln(d_i) + a_3 \cdot \ln(h_i) + a_4 ORIG + \sum \beta_k Comp_{ijk} + \varepsilon_{ij}$$
[3.8]

where iv_{ij} is the volume increment of the tree *j* measured in the plot *i*, u_{0j} and u_{2j} are plot level random effects and ε_{ij} the error term. $Comp_{ijk}$ represents the *k* different competition structures for tree *j* in plot *i*. a_0 , a_1 , a_2 , a_3 , a_4 and β_k are parameters to be estimated. All errors terms were assumed to be normally distributed with mean 0, $(u_{0j}) \sim N(0, \sigma_0^2)$, $(u_{2j}) \sim N(0, \sigma_2^2)$ and $\varepsilon_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma_{res}^2)$.

3.3 Stand structure and species functional traits in mixed versus pure stands

3.3.1 Intraspecific differences in tree allometry

Stand density and competition can considerably modify crown allometry and tree morphology. Species-specific characteristics of crown shape and allometric scaling are relevant for understanding the tree species size development, especially in mixed stands (Pretzsch, 2014). The influence of species mixing on the *h*-*d* and hcb-d allometric relationships were assessed using h, hcb and d measurements from 938 and 858 trees of Maritime pine and Scots pine, respectively. Tree allometry relationships were fitted by log-transforming h–d and hcb-d, assuming that above-ground allometry follows a power-law function or allometric relation, $y = \alpha x^{\beta}$. Stand composition was treated as a factor for each species model (mixed or monospecific stand). Then, likelihood ratio test was used to ascertain whether the

slope of the allometric functions differed according to stand composition (Warton et al., 2006). Significant differences between model parameters indicate in what extent inter- vs. intraspecific environment influence above-ground allometry. h–d and hcb-d relationships were fitted with standardized major axis regression (SMA) in R package '*smatr*' (Warton et al., 2012). SMA regression is preferable to ordinary least squares regression when neither variable is clearly the dependent variable, and the objective is estimating how one variable scales against another. Such a line is a summary in the sense that a single dimension is used to describe two-dimensional data (Warton et al., 2006).

3.3.2 Stand structure on mixed and pure stands

In order to characterize structural traits and compare mixed and monospecific stands, we considered a set of attributes related to horizontal size distribution patterns and vertical structure as measures of stand structure, Table 3.2., as well as quadratic mean diameter and dominant height. For analyzing differences in size distributions, we calculated the mean, minimum and maximum values of tree diameter, height and volume for each plot (x_{mean} , x_{min} , x_{max} where x is the *d*, *h* or tree volume (*v*), respectively). We also considered the vertical species profile index (A_{index}) according to (Pretzsch, 2009b), that allows for comparison of vertical structure differentiation between mixed and pure stands. Gini coefficient for tree volume (GC_v) and tree volume growth (GC_{iv}) were used to quantify inequalities in volume distribution and growth allocation among trees within a stand, respectively (Binkley et al., 2006).

The A_{index} quantifies the vertical stand structuring of each tree species within different height zones. Any deviation from a single-layered pure stand is reflected as a distinct increase in the species profile index. The more heterogeneous the vertical profile, the higher A_{index} becomes (Pretzsch, 1998).

$$A_{index} = -\sum_{i=1}^{S} \sum_{j=1}^{Z} p_{ij} \times \ln p_{ij}$$

$$[3.9]$$

where *s* represents the number of species in the stand, *z* the number of height zones, and p_{ij} the proportion of a species in the height zone, $p_{ij} = n_{ij}/N$, being *N* the total number of individuals and n_{ij} the number of individuals of each species *i* in zone *j*. Thus the overall species diversity and the vertical spatial occupancy of the species present in the forest stand were quantified. We calculated A_{index} dividing each plot into three height zones *j*=(1, 2, 3), which constituted 0–50%, 50–80% and 80–100% of the maximum stand height, respectively.

Aindex was standardized to relative vertical species profile index (Arel) facilitating comparisons between stands with differing numbers of species. Arel quantifies the relative degree of structural diversity, e.g., the observed diversity in relation to the

maximum structural diversity for the given number of species and number of zones distinguished (Pretzsch, 2009b).

$$A_{rel} = A_{index} \times \ln(S \times Z) \times 100$$
[3.10]

Gini coefficient was used to evaluate whether mixing modifies the size and growth hierarchy among trees in a population. GC = 0.0 represents a homogeneous distribution and means that all trees are equal in size or growth. Higher GC corresponds to greater size or growth inequality among trees. These have been used to compare how species-mixing can modify the hierarchy between trees in mixed compared with pure stands (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2014).ç

$$GC = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_i - x_j|}{2n (n-1) \times \bar{x}}$$
[3.11]

for quantifying the relative distribution of tree volume (GC_v) and tree volume growth (GC_{iv}), respectively, between the trees in mixed versus pure stands of all 12 triplets. Variables x_i and x_j denote tree volume or tree volume growth for the *i*th, respectively the *j*th tree in the stand with *i* =1...*n* trees (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2014). GC_v and GC_{iv} were calculated separately for both species of each triplet.

Table 3.2. Mean values and standard error of structural measures for monospecific and mixed-species stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine.

Structure	PS	pure	РТ	pure	PS	nix	РТ	mix	Mix	lobs
traits	mean	SE	mean	SE	mean	SE	mean	SE	mean	SE
dmean	30.06	1.49	32.52	1.56	28.81	1.64	37.63	2.02	32.31	1.96
dmin	14.58	1.18	17.46	1.68	14.88	1.97	25.78	2.38	14.54	1.71
d _{max}	46.83	2.17	49.22	1.88	44.61	2.18	51.14	2.17	52.68	1.80
h _{mean}	19.89	0.80	17.59	0.78	18.94	1.04	20.48	1.18	19.55	1.04
hmin	13.03	1.25	12.34	1.38	13.28	1.25	17.04	1.49	12.80	1.36
h _{max}	24.35	1.03	21.18	0.85	23.02	1.05	23.62	1.22	24.18	1.10
Vmean	0.71	0.08	0.74	0.08	0.64	0.09	1.13	0.15	0.82	0.09
Vmin	0.14	0.03	0.20	0.05	0.18	0.07	0.54	0.11	0.16	0.05
Vmax	1.72	0.18	1.72	0.17	1.45	0.17	2.05	0.23	2.16	0.22
A_{rel}	49.25	20.71	54.04	19.13	62.54	8.30	51.04	11.77	69.64	8.75
GCv	0.27	0.02	0.26	0.02	0.27	0.02	0.22	0.02	0.30	0.02
GC_{iv}	0.29	0.02	0.28	0.02	0.29	0.02	0.24	0.02	0.36	0.02

PS, *Pinus sylvestris* and PT, *Pinus pinaster*; mean, minimum (min) and maximum (max) values of tree diameter in cm (d); height in m (h); volume in $m^3(v)$; relative species profile index (A_{rel}); Gini coefficient for tree volume (GC_v) and volume growth (GC_{iv}).

3.3.3 Evaluation of species-mixing effects stand structural heterogeneity

We calculated ratios ($R_x = x_{mixed}/x_{pure}$) of tree size distribution traits, inequality growth indices and vertical structure between mixed (x_{mixed}) and pure (x_{pure}) stands separately for both species in each triplet. The mean ratios (\bar{R}_x) provide a simple basis for testing whether species mixing alters stand structural characteristics compared to monocultures (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016). \bar{R}_x significantly different from 1 (1.0 is beyond the confidence intervals) can be considered a mixture effect. We used the *t.test* and *wilcox.test* functions for normally and non-normally distributed \bar{R}_x , respectively.

Differences in any structural attributes between mixed and pure stands may be due to an additive or a multiplicative effect (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015; Loreau and Hector, 2001). Additive effects quantify heterogeneity when both species retain the same structural behavior in mixed stands as in monocultures. They represent how complementary species traits would be in a mixture if their size or shape did not vary from those grown in a monoculture (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016). Multiplicative effects arise from facilitation and/or niche partitioning between species that modify structural attributes and cannot be predicted by only studying the species in their monocultures (Pretzsch et al., 2016). Both mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and could act simultaneously increasing ecosystem function (Loreau and Hector, 2001; Ruíz-Benito et al., 2014). The expected additive effect was quantified as the weighted mean of the pure stand characteristics; any deviations in mixed stands from this weighted mean were considered multiplicative or complementarity effects.

Therefore, after comparing the inter-specific structural differences of species growing in mixed stands or monocultures, we explored both additive and multiplicative mixing effects. In order to reveal any additive effects, we compared the weighted mean expected of the structural traits of the two monocultures (x_{exp}) with both monocultures (x_{exp}/x_{pure}). This may indicate how species selection alone can modify mixed stand traits with respect to monocultures. The weighted mean of both monocultures ($\hat{D}_{PS,PT}$) represents the expected distribution of each structural trait under the assumption that mixing causes an additive effect. They were calculated by multiplying the monospecific stand size distributions (D_{PS} and D_{PT}) in such a way that the observed species mixing proportion of the mixed stands was reproduced. This resulted in $\hat{D}_{PS,PT} = D_{PS} \cdot m_{PS(PT)} + D_{PT} \cdot m_{(PS)PT}$, where $m_{PS(PT)}$ and $m_{(PS)PT}$ are the proportions calculated based on the species stand density index, weighted by equivalence coefficients (section 3.3.4.1).

We used structural traits Table 3.2 to test for a multiplicative mixing effect on the Scots pine, and Maritime pine mixed stands. At the stand level, this was done by comparing the observed distribution of mixed stands $D_{PS,PT}$ with the weighted mean

38 | Methods

distribution $\hat{D}_{PS,PT}$. Analogously, the contribution of each species to a multiplicative mixing effect was analyzed, and the structural traits of a species in the mixture $(D_{(PS)PT} \text{ and } D_{PS(PT)})$ were compared to those in monoculture $(D_{PS} \text{ and } D_{PT})$. Again, the species distribution of structural traits in mixture had to be scaled up to a unit area of 1 ha using the species mixing proportions (Pretzsch et al., 2016).

3.3.4 Stand productivity related to structural heterogeneity

3.3.4.1 Quantification of overyielding in mixed stands

Quantity the net effects on stand growth is a key question when comparing growth and yield in pure and mixed stands and may result in under-, neutral-, or over-yielding or even transgressive over-yielding (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2009). In addition to whole-stand analysis, we explored species-specific growth in mixed and compared monospecific stands, applying the nomenclature and algorithm used by Pretzsch et al., (2015) and del Río et al., (2016).

Species-mixing effects at stand level were evaluated as stand productivity for the period from 2004-2014. In order to determine whether mixing affects productivity at the stand level, relative productivity $(RP_{PS,PT} = P_{PS,PT}/\hat{P}_{PS,PT})$ was used as the ratio of observed productivity in a mixed stand $(P_{PS,PT} = p_{PS}(PT) + pp_{(PS)PT})$ divided by the expected productivity from the mixed stand $(\hat{P}_{PS,PT} = P_{PS} \cdot m_{PS(PT)} + p_{PT} \cdot m_{(PS)PT})$. The total productivity of the mixed stand was the shared productivity of Scots pine $(pp_{PS(PT)})$ and Maritime pine $(pp_{(PS)PT})$, while the expected productivity for the mixed stand was obtained from the productivity of both species in the neighboring pure stands (P_i) and their mixing portions (m_i) . In the same way, relative productivity was used to compare species performance in mixed versus pure stands. For Scots pine, $(RP_{PS(PT)} = pp_{PS(PT)}/m_{PS(PT)}/P_{PS};$ notice that $pp_{PS(PT)}/m_{PS(PT)}$ is the contribution of Scots pine in the mixed stand scaled up to 1 ha using the mixing proportion. Relative productivity for Maritime pine $(RP_{PS(PT)})$ was established in the same way.

To measure productivity, we used the mean periodic stand basal area growth (*PAIBA*, m²ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) and mean periodic stand volume growth (*PAIV*, m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) for the period 2004 – 2014. If the mean ratio of relative productivity at stand ($RP_{PS,PT}$) or by species ($RP_{PS(PT)}, RP_{(PS)PT}$) significantly differed from 1, productivity in mixed and pure stands differs. Mean ratio higher than 1 indicates positive species-mixing effect or over-yielding, whereas the opposite indicates under-yielding. The same statistical test applied in section 3.3.3 was used.

In this section mixing proportions (m_i) were calculated rely on SDI concept to consider species-specific growing space occupied. Analogously as in section 3.1.1, but weighting by equivalence coefficients in order to compare species-specific growing space requirements of a species with their value in mixed stands (del Río et al., 2016; Pretzsch and Biber, 2016; Sterba et al., 2014). Maximum stand density

for each species (SDImax) was calculated using the species-specific function fitted in section 3.1.2. Equivalence coefficient using Scots pine as reference species was 1.03 ($e_{PT \Rightarrow PS}=SDImax_{PS}/SDImax_{PT}$). The resulting species SDI values transformed by the equivalence coefficients were used to calculate density in mixed stands ($SDI_{PS,PT} = SDI_{PS,(PT)} + SDI_{(PS),PT} \cdot e_{PT \Rightarrow PS}$) and the relative density ($RD_{PS,PT} = SDI_{PS,PT} / SDI_{PS}$), which measures over/understocking in the mixed-species stands in relation to neighboring monocultures within each triplet (Pretzsch and Biber, 2016). Thus, species mixing proportions might be calculated to avoid bias in the quantification of the net total mixing effect, as well as in the relative importance of under- or over-yielding by species, due to differences in the potential densities of the species. The mixing proportions for both species were calculated as follows:

$$m_{PS(PT)} = SDI_{PS(PT)} / (SDI_{PS(PT)} + SDI_{(PS)PT} \cdot \mathbf{e}_1)$$

$$m_{(PS)PT} = (SDI_{(PS)PT} \cdot \mathbf{e}_1) / (SDI_{PS(PT)} + SDI_{(PS)PT} \cdot \mathbf{e}_1)$$
[3.13]

3.3.4.2 Relationships between mixing effects at different levels of organization. Relative productivity with structural heterogeneity

Finally, we used linear regression to attempt explaining the relationship between the species-mixing effect on relative productivity at the stand level $(RP_{PS,PT})$ and species level $(RP_{(PS)PT}$ and $RP_{PS(PT)})$ with variability in stand structural trait ratios between mixed and pure stands. OLS linear regression was used to reveal the relevance of observed changes between species tree crowns and canopy structures in terms of productivity gains or losses at stand level.

3.4 Modeling of dendroclimatic responses of mixed pines stands

3.4.1 Growth-drought long-term correlations

The standard dendrochronological analysis can be improved with new advances in time-series modeling, e.g., using mixed-effects models and multivariate ordination techniques (Lara et al., 2018). Considering the hierarchical structure of tree-ring series and adequately handling the pseudoreplication, autocorrelation, and nested random effects underlying in sampling design and modeling of treering data (Bowman et al., 2013; Hughes, 2002). BIOdry algorithm (Lara et al., 2018) was used to modeling the non-linear relationships between long-term growth fluctuations and drought severity (SPEI time series, 2.2) in mixed and pure stands. Modeling scheme in BIOdry mainly consists in: i) multilevel normalization of treering series, and ii) multivariate comparison between residual variances (tree growth and drought).

3.4.1.1 Multilevel normalization of tree-rings series

Basal area increment (BAI) series were used instead of ring width series to extract the climate-related growth reaction. BAI is calculated directly from tree-ring width series and could reflect the whole tree volume (Biondi and Qeadan, 2008). BAI was preferable instead of volume or biomass estimations derived from allometric models (parameterized species in monospecific stands) because these models could induce bias in the comparison between growth patterns in mixed and monospecific stands (del Río et al., 2016).

Growth equation developed by Zeide (1993) was used to normalize BAI series Eq.[3.14] and extract the ontogenetic growth trend for each species. Random effects were progressively included in the growth model accounting for hierarchical structures of the data, enhancing residual variances due to the sampling design: sample replicate (core), core nested in the tree (tree/), core in tree nested in the stand (plot/) and core in tree in plot nested in the triplet (site/) Eq. [3.15]. Triplet level diminished he performance of random structure and was excluded. Significances of fixed effects were tested with t-tests, and the best random structure was selected based on the likelihood ratio test. Serial autocorrelation and heteroscedasticity of residuals were assessed by inspecting diagnostic plots of the normalized residuals and by evaluating their empirical autocorrelation functions (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000).

$$ln(BAI) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ ln(g) - \beta_2 f(t)$$

[3.14]

where $\ln(BAI)$ is the natural logarithm of annual tree basal area increments (cm² yr¹); *g* is the cumulative tree basal area (cm²), β are parameters to be fitted; *t* is the time. *f*(*t*) is a function of time which can be $\ln(t)$ called Logarithmic Time-Decline Form (LTD), or *t* called a Time-Decline Form (TD) (Zeide, 1993). This growth model form represents the expansion and decline components present in tree growth pattern. The expansion component is proportional to ln(g). Whereas the decline from could be LTD or TD depending of the declining is proportional to the logarithm of age (*t*) or directly proportional to age, respectively (Zeide, 1993). Taking into account the random structure considered the following model was used:

$$ln(BAI_{ijk,t}) = A_{ijk} + B_{ijk} ln(g_{ijk,t}) - C_{ijk} f(t) + \epsilon_{ijk,t}$$

$$[3.15]$$

$$A_{ijk} = \beta_0 + u_{i,0} + u_{ij,0} + u_{ijk,0}$$
[3.16]

$$B_{ijk} = \beta_1 + u_{i,1} + u_{ij,1} + u_{ijk,1}$$
[3.17]

$$C_{ijk} = \beta_2 + u_{i,2} + u_{ij,2} + u_{ijk,2}$$
[3.18]

where β are the model parameters, $u_i = (u_{i,0}, u_{i,1}, u_{i,2})^T$ is the vector of plot random effects, u_{ij} is a vector of tree random effects nested in the plots, and u_{ijk} is a vector

of core random effects nested in trees that are nested in the plots. The vector $\epsilon_{ijk,t}$ contains the within-core residual errors and follows a multivariate normal distribution $\epsilon_{ijk,t} \sim N(0,R)$. The residuals of BAI (rBAI) contain valid fluctuations of tree growth (Lara et al., 2018) to computes multivariate correlograms between rBAIs and Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index–SPEI (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010).

3.4.1.2 Multivariate comparison

Mantel correlograms are the extension of 'Mantel test' plotted against spatial/temporal distance classes (lags) (Legendre and Legendre, 1998). The 'Mantel test' is the correlation between two similarity or dissimilarity matrices obtained independently (Goslee and Urban, 2007; Lichstein, 2007). To test the significance of coefficients of correlation, both matrices need to being first detrended to make the data second-order stationary, mean and variance should be constant and finite along series. Hence the covariance (or correlation) function depends only on the distance (lags) between observations along the series. In other words, temporal variation of the data should be adequately described by the same single temporal correlation function in all sections of the analyzed period (Borcard et al., 2011; Legendre and Legendre, 1998).

We used BIOdry algorithm (Lara et al., 2018) to compute 'Mantel correlograms' that depict patterns between residual variances of rBAI and SPEI with magnitudes and significances of the relationships. Allowing identify changes in the intensity of temporal patterns at different distances (lags). We compared patterns between rBAI and SPEI of Maritime pine and Scots pine in mixed and pure stands and explored how stand intrinsic factors such tree ontogeny could influence correlation in the growth-drought fluctuations. In mantel correlogram, the shape of the significant values along the distance classes might show nonlinear patterns. Positive and significant values indicate that for the given distance class, the multivariate similarity between rBAI and SPEI is higher than expected by chance (i.e., the mean within-class similarity is higher than the mean among-class similarity). The reverse is true for negative and significant values (Borcard and Legendre, 2012).

Mantel correlograms between rBAI and SPEI were established considering a common classification factor, for this case plot. Mantel correlograms for each plot allowed comparison of rBAI fluctuation between species and stand composition exposed to common climate conditions for each site (triplet). Standard Euclidean distances (z scores) of rBAI were compared with binary model matrices specifying membership in particular classes of z scores of SPEI. The Mantel statistic was:

42 | Methods

$$r(d) = \frac{\sum_{i}^{n} \sum_{j}^{n} w_{ij} z_{ij}}{\sum_{i}^{n} \sum_{j}^{n} w_{ij}}$$
[3.19]

where *d* is the distance class from SPEI; z_{ij} is the distance between each pair *i* and *j* from basal area residuals; w_{ij} is a weight for the pair: typically 1 if z_{ij} is in *d* and 0 if it was not. The number of classes is calculated with the Sturges rule and the significance of Mantel statistic for each distance class was tested using 1000 permutation (Goslee and Urban, 2007; Legendre and Legendre, 1998).

3.4.2 Tree growth resilience to drought events

Resilience indices (Lloret et al., 2011) have been successful used to quantify forest growth response to drought across varying spatial scales (Gazol et al., 2018, 2016) and to assess whether species-mixing alters a given species growth stability (resilience) related to drought (Merlin et al., 2015; Pretzsch et al., 2013). We calculated four resilience components: resistance (Rt), recovery (Rc), resilience (Rs), and relative-resilience (rRs = Rs–Rt) indices for all sampled trees using BAI time series. We selected the last 30 years (1984-2014) in the analysis to excluding the juvenile period in the younger stands, avoiding a strong age-related trend in the BAI time series. To identify when a drought event had an impact on tree growth, we considered only years when SPEI was lower than -1. Then, negative pointer years were defined when at least 45% of the BAI series of both species displayed a noticeable BAI drop of at least 50% relative to the average BAI in the four preceding years (Schweingruber et al., 1990). Thus in this analysis, we selected 2005 and 2012 as pointer years.

The Rt index quantifies the decrease in BAI from the preceding drought years (PreDr) to the dry year (Dr), Rt= Dr / PreDr. It measures the capacity of trees to resist disturbing events; trees are less resistant as the Rt value fall below 1, Rt = 1 is complete resistance. Rc index describes the difference in BAI between the dry year and the subsequent years (PostDr), Rc=PostDr/Dr. It describes the tree ability to restore a level of growth after disturbance; Rc > 1 indicates a tree growth recovery; Rc < 1 indicates a growth decline and Rc = 1 indicates a persistent low level of growth in the subsequent years. The Rs index is the ratio between the BAI values of the subsequent drought years (PostDr) and preceding drought years (PreDr), Rs = PostDr / PreDr. It quantifies the capacity of trees to return the growth rates observed before the disturbing event; Rs > 1 indicates full recovery, while Rs < 1indicates a growth decline and low resilience. Finally, the rRs index is the resilience weighted by the growth decrease experienced during the disturbance, rRs= (PostDr - Dr)/PreDr (Lloret et al., 2011; Pretzsch et al., 2013). To quantify these resilience indices, the mean annual BAI was calculated for the three years before and after the drought period, except for 2012, where we defined two years before and after the drought event.

We used linear mixed-effect models to assess whether Rt, Rc, Rs and rRs indices differ between species and to analyze the influence of species mixing on growth resilience. Resilience indices were log transformed when necessary for ensuring the assumption of normality. We used triplet as a random factor to consider the hierarchical nature of the data. Separate models were fitted for each of resilience index and given drought event. Tree diameter, stand density, tree age, and site index were selected as covariates in the model. First, we tested the species-specific response to drought for each drought event in pure stands, with Maritime pine as the reference group. Second, we analyzed the influence of stand composition on tree response during drought years using pure stands as the reference group for both species. Species or stand composition effect was removed from each model if it was not significant, as well as the tree and stand covariates. When significant differences between tree species or pure vs. mixed stands were found, we used least-squares means based on Tukey HSD tests for post-hoc analysis between marginal means. To calculate the resilience indices we used the 'pointRes' Rpackage (van der Maaten-Theunissen et al., 2015).

3.5 Intra-annual radial increment patterns

Asymptotic functional models can adequately represent the intra-annual radial increment pattern (McMahon and Parker, 2015; Zeide, 1993). The advantage that parameters have biological meaning, allowing identify the critical phenological stages within the intra-annual pattern. For the selection of the non-linear model that better describes the intra-annual pattern, we used *FlexParamCurve* R-package (Oswald et al., 2012). A set of models based on a flexible single-Richards function Eq.[3.20] were tested. The most suitable model (number of necessary parameters) was selected considering the lowest mean square error value (RMSE) penalized by the sample size of the fitted models.

$$y = \frac{Asym}{\left(\left[1 + M \times e^{\left(-K(t-I)\right)}\right]^{\frac{1}{M}}\right)}$$
[3.20]

where *y* is the cumulative radial increment for tree, *Asym*, *I*, *K* and *M* are the asymptote, inflection point (Julian days), rate parameter and shape parameter of Richards curve; *t* is time variable (days). The shape parameter (*M*) allows modifying the asymmetric form of the function. If *M* =1 the function is symmetric or logistic, if $M \approx 0$ is similar than a Gompertz function and when M = -0.3 is a Von Bertalanfy function (Oswald et al., 2012).

First, the parameters of Eq. [3.20] were obtained for each individual tree, as well as a general model by species and type of composition. Second, parameters obtained for each tree were used to compare differences between species in pure stands and then the effect of the stand composition. Additionally, effects of tree size and the interaction *Composition x Size* were tested using generalized linear models (GLM). GLM was fitted using monospecific stand as the reference group in both species. Significant differences in parameters between mixed and pure stands by species indicate a deviation from the expected pattern in pure stands.

3.6 Adapting he tree-level model IBERO to mixed species stands

This section aimed to develop generalized height-diameter and basal area growth models for mixed-species of Maritime pine and Scots pine that considering the effect of species interaction on the estimations. Both models could be potentially integrated as the initialization and growth sub-modules within tree-level models IBERO parameterized for Maritime pine (IBERO^{PT}, Lizarralde et al., 2010a) and Scots pine (IBERO^{PS}, Lizarralde et al., 2010b) in monospecific stands. These components were considered because results from previous sections showed that crown allometric plasticity and vertical stratification can vary in response to interspecific competitive environmental conditions (section 3.3), and tree-growth efficiency increased in mixed stands compared to monocultures (section 3.2).

3.6.1 Generalized height-diameter functions

In the first step, we considered generalized height-diameter equations used previously to fit the height-diameter relationships for both species in the model IBERO for mono-specific stands (Lizarralde, 2008). These models have the advantage that include stand variables in their formulation, which is a particular interest for their use in a given region and also require a medium sampling effort for their application.

Models were modified for including a term that reflects interspecific competition environments in the model structure (Table 3.3). Two modifications on the base structure were tested; i) only adding the species-mixing effect term (BASE + mix) and ii) considering the target species stand variables instead of the corresponding whole stand values plus the species-mixing effect term (BASE_{sp} + mix). As indicators for the species-mixing effect term (mix), we tested the proportion of admixed species (m_{sp2}) and ii) the relative ratio between the dominant height of both species in mixed stands, $rHo = Ho_{PS}/Ho_{PT}$. Where, Ho_{PS} and Ho_{PT} are the species-specific dominant height for Scots pine and Maritime pine, respectively.

Mixing proportions as described in Section 3.3.4.1 were used to calculate m_{sp2} . When both species have the same species-specific dominant height (rHo = 1) none of the species is dominant in the canopy; as relative ratio decreases or increases from 1, larger difference between species dominant height. Values above 1 indicate a dominance of Scots pine over Maritime pine, the opposite for values lower than 1; in pure stands rHo = 0.

Function	Function form	Source base function
number		
M1	$h = 13 + \left[\alpha_0 \cdot \left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{Ho - 13}\right)^{0.5}\right]^{-2} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Cañadas et al. IV (1999)
M2	$h = 13 + \left[\alpha_0 \cdot \left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do_{sp}}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{Ho_{sp} - 13}\right)^{0.5}\right]^{-2} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Cañadas et al. IV (1999)
M3	$h = 13 + (\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \cdot Ho - \alpha_2 \cdot dq) \cdot e^{\left(\frac{-\alpha_3}{\sqrt{d}}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Schöder & Álvarez (2001)
M4	$h = 13 + (\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \cdot Ho_{sp} - \alpha_2 \cdot dq_{sp}) \cdot e^{\left(\frac{-\alpha_3}{\sqrt{d}}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Schöder & Álvarez (2001)
M5	$h = \alpha_0 \cdot Ho^{\alpha_1} \cdot BA^{\alpha_2} \cdot e^{\left(\frac{\alpha_3}{d}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Rio (1999)
M6	$h = \alpha_0 \cdot Ho_{sp}^{\alpha_1} \cdot BA_{sp}^{\alpha_2} \cdot e^{\left(\frac{\alpha_3}{d}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Rio (1999)
M7	$h = \alpha_0 \cdot Ho^{\alpha_1} \cdot BA^{\alpha_2} \cdot e^{\alpha_3 \left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Rio I (1999)
M8	$h = \alpha_0 \cdot Ho_{sp}^{\alpha_1} \cdot BA_{sp}^{\alpha_2} \cdot e^{\alpha_3 \left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do_{sp}}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Rio I (1999)
M9	$h = Ho \cdot e^{(\alpha_1 \cdot Ho + \alpha_2 \cdot dq) \left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Michailoff I (1943)
M10	$h = Ho \cdot e^{\left(\alpha_1 \cdot Ho_{sp} + \alpha_2 \cdot dq_{sp}\right)\left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do_{sp}}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Michailoff I (1943)
M11	$h = Ho \cdot e^{\left(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \cdot Ho + \alpha_2 \cdot \frac{N}{1000}\right)\left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Michailoff II (1943)
M12	$h = Ho \cdot e^{\left(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \cdot Ho_{sp} + \alpha_2 \cdot \frac{N_{sp}}{1000}\right) \left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do_{sp}}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot mix$	Michailoff II (1943)

Table 3.3. Generalized height-diameter equations modified to include species-mixed effect.

h: tree height (m), d: diameter at breast height (cm), m_j : proportion of complementary species *j*. α_0 , α_1 , α_2 , α_3 and β_1 are parameters. dq: quadratic mean diameter (cm), Ho: dominant height (m), Do: dominant diameter (cm), BA: basal area (m² ha⁻¹), N: tree number (ha⁻¹), subheading '*sp*' is the species-specific stand variables value for the target species, Scots pine or Maritime pine.

A total of 12 equations with a combination of species-specific or whole stand covariates and the expression of species mixture were evaluated (Table 3.3). Nonsignificant parameters (p-value <0.05) were set to zero, and the remaining parameter were re-estimated. We used ordinary non-linear least squares (ONLS) to fit each of the equations with the function nls in R (R Develomment Core Team, 2015). Once the best generalized h–d models were selected based on the lower AIC, nonlinear mixed-effect modeling framework (NLME) was used to consider the hierarchical levels of the data (multiple trees in a plot, plots nested in triplets). Triplet level was non-significant in the nested random structure rely on the likelihood ratio test. A general multilevel nonlinear mixed-effects model (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000) can be defined as follow:

$$h_{ij} = f(x_{ij}, \varphi_i) + \varepsilon_{ij}, \ \varepsilon_{ij} \sim N(0, R_{ij})$$

$$[3.21]$$

where h_{ij} is the observed height of tree *j* within plot *i*; *f* is a nonlinear function of the covariate matrix x_{ij} with a parameters vector φ_i ; ε_{ij} is the within tree error term that is assumed to be independent and normal distributed; and R_{ij} is a positive-definite variance–covariance matrix for the error term. In this study, *f* is the best selected model of the 12 equations listed in

Table 3.3. Moreover the parameter vector φ_i can be expressed with their fixed and random components, as follow:

$$\varphi_i = A_i \lambda + B_i b_i \tag{3.22}$$

where φ_i is the parameter vector $\mathbf{r} \times 1$ (r is the total number of parameters in the model) specified for the i-th plot; λ is the vector $\mathbf{p} \times 1$ of the common fixed parameters (p is the number of fixed parameters in the model), b_i is the vector $\mathbf{q} \times 1$ of the random parameters associated with the i-th plot (q is the number of random parameters in the model), A_i and B_i are matrices of size $\mathbf{r} \times \mathbf{p}$ and $\mathbf{r} \times \mathbf{q}$ for fixed and random effects for the *i* plot, respectively.

3.6.2 Tree basal area growth model

Increment basal area (Δg) calculated from each cored tree from the last 5 years (2009-2014) were used to fit basal area increment models of Scots pine and Maritime pine mixed stands. Stand variables were calculated including total stand basal area (BA), quadratic mean diameter (dq), dominant diameter (Do) and dominant height (Ho). Further, crown ratio (CR), as the proportion of crown length to total tree height, and the ratio of target tree height to stand dominant height (Rh), were calculated as measurements of vigor and competitive status of tree in the stand (Yang et al., 2009). Except for crown ratio (CR), all variables values were backdated (section 2.1.3) to the beginig of the growth period (year=2009). Crown ratio changes slowly over time and bias introduced by not backdating is probably negligible (Sterba et al., 2002; Wykoff, 1990). Rh was backdated using the height-diameter function fitted in section 3.6.1.

The basal area increment model followed the same basic form of previous growth models for mono-specific stands for both species in the region (Lizarralde, 2008). The basic equation has been commonly used in modeling diameter or basal area increments in pure (Wykoff, 1990) and mixed stands (Bravo et al., 2001; Sterba et al., 2002). The log transformation of the original dependent variable was applied to homogenize the variance, linearize the parameters and attain normal distribution of the residuals.

$$ln(\Delta g) = ln(d) + d^2 + ln(CR) + Rh + ln(SI) + COMP$$
[3.23]

where Δg is the 5-year basal area increment of a tree (cm²) and depends on the following tree and stand attributes; *d* is the diameter at breast height (mm); *d*² is the square diameter and the declining term that prevents unlimited growth for large-diameter trees (Zeide, 1993); *CR* is the crown ratio; *Rh* is the relative tree height; *SI* is the site index (m) for stand productivity , which was calculated as the dominant height at age 100 years according to specific site index curves for both species (Bravo-Oviedo et al., 2007; Rojo and Montero, 1996). We considered the SI

in pure stands, which is used for each species and by triplet as reference for the mixed-species stands.

COMP is the competition term as a combination of both a one-sided (asymmetric) and a two-sided (symmetric) competition used to adjust potential to actual growth. We considered two metrics to evaluate the effect of competition, both distance-independent measures of competition that do not require a tree's spatial coordinates which are usually not available in most of the stand inventories in the region. First, we used the basal area of trees larger than the target tree (BAL) as size-asymmetric competition and total stand basal area (BA) as size-symmetric competition. Both were used in the growth model developed for these species in pure stands (Bravo, 2005) and they are frequently included in tree increment models for uneven-aged and mixed species stands (Bravo et al., 2012, 2001; Yang et al., 2009). Second, we analyzed the competition rely on the SDI concept, that characterizes the degree of crowding with reference to standard conditions (del Río et al., 2014a). Competition based on SDI was calculated in relative terms as described in section 3.2.2.

Both measures of competition, based on BA and SDI, were compared to determine the most suitable explanatory variable for competition. To evaluate the influence of the species-mixture on tree growth, competition indices for each species were calculated with individuals of both species together and then split into intra- and interspecific components (del Río et al., 2014a), similar as in section 3.2.2. Thus, the resulting competition structures for each species might express the adverse, neutral, or even reduced interspecific competitive effects, e.g., when values of interspecific coefficient means positive species interaction on tree growth. The performance of the different competition structures were analyzed using information- theoretic approach (Anderson, 2007), section 3.8.

We used a linear mixed-model approach to predict the basal area growth and account for possible correlation among grouping levels. For both species, triplet level was non-significant in the nested random structure. We included plot as random effects in the intercept term first, and then in the initial diameter term, the latter instance did not improve the models. The linear mixed-effects models for tree increment had the following form:

$$ln(\Delta g_{ij}) = (\alpha_0 + u_i) + \alpha_1 ln(d_{ij}) + \alpha_2 d^2 + \alpha_3 ln(CR_{ij}) + \alpha_4 Rh_{ij} + \alpha_5 ln(SI_i) + \sum \beta_k COMP_{ijk} + \varepsilon_{ij}$$
[3.24]

where Δg_{ij} is the basal area increment of tree *j* within plot *i*; α are parameters to be estimated, *COMP*_{*ijk*} represents the *k* different terms of the competition for tree *j* in plot *i* according to the different structures mentioned and β_k their corresponding

parameters to be estimated. Moreover, u_i as the random effects at plot level and ε_{ij} is the error term. Random effects u_i and error term ε_{ij} are normally distributed with a mean of zero and a variance σ_i^2 and σ_{ε}^2 , respectively.

Fitted models showed non-constant variance in the residuals for both species. This problem was addressed by modeling residual variance with weights arguments. We used an exponential variance function(*Var*), which is useful for relax normality assumptions in variables which may take the value 0 (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000):

$$Var\left(\varepsilon_{ij}\right) = \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} \exp^{(2\delta x_{ij})}$$
[3.25]

where ε_{ij} are the residuals within the innermost level of grouping; σ_{ε}^2 is the initial variance for the innermost residual; δ is the parameter to be estimated and x_{ij} is the variance covariate. We test *d*, BAL, SDIRL and BA to modeling residual variance. We verified mixed-model assumptions graphically (quantile-quantile and residual plots).

3.6.3 Models evaluation

Predictions of h-d function and basal area increment model for both species were examined for assessing their predictive ability. We used the Third Spanish National Forest Inventory data (IFN) as an independent data source for quantifying models error of the h-d generalized functions. Mixed and pure plots were selected according to section 2.1.1.2. Predictions from the best parsimonious generalized h-d functions that express species-mixing effect in their structure were compared with the predictions of the models proposed by Lizarralde (2008) for these species parameterized for monospecific stands.

There were some limitations using the NFI data to evaluate the basal area increment models. Stand age and height to the crown base are missing in NFI data. Consequently, site index and CR could not be calculated. Instead, we evaluated the predictive quality of the basal area increment models using a tenfold block cross-validation procedure. The original data set was split at the plot level into ten subsamples approximately of equal size. Final models were fitted ten times, with one of the subsamples omitted at each fit for training the model. Each of the re-calibrated models was testing with observation of the omitted subsample, thus a population-averaged predictions were generated (Dănescu et al., 2017; Manso et al., 2015) These predictions provided a pseudo-independent measure of the mean bias, root mean square error (RMSE) and model efficiency (EF), computed as follows:

$$bias = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (o_i - P_i)}{n}$$
[3.26]
$$BMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (o_i - P_i)^2}{n}}$$
[3.27]

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (O_i - P_i)^2}{n}}$$
[3.27]

$$EF = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (o_i - P_i)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (o_i - \bar{o}_i)^2}$$
[3.28]

Where, O_i and P_i are the observed and predicted values for the *i*th observations respectively, *n* in the total number of observations, \bar{O} is the mean of the observed variable. In the models that included random effects, the predicted value P_i denotes the population-averaged predictions (outermost residuals).

We used a log-transformed of tree basal area growth to attain normal distribution of the residuals Eq.[3.24]. This induces a bias proportional to the model semivariance terms when the predictions are back-transformed to the original scale (Calama and Montero, 2005; Manso et al., 2015). To correct for this bias, population-averaged predictions were calculated as follows:

$$\Delta g_{ij} = e^{\ln(\Delta g_{ij}) + 1/2(\sigma_i^2 + \sigma_\varepsilon^2)}$$
[3.29]

where, $ln(\Delta g_{ij})$ is the model basal area predicted on the log-transformed scale and σ_i^2 and σ_{ε}^2 are the maximum likelihood estimators of the plot and residual variance, respectively.

3.7 Linear and non-linear mixed models

Mixed-models approach was used when the data source presented a clear hierarchical structure due to sampling design, e.g., plot-in-phytoclimatic region in the model evaluating the effect of intra and inter-specific competition on tree volume growth using NFI (Study I) in section 3.2.2; core-in-tree-in-plot-in-triplet in the detrending procedure to extract growth fluctuations, and comparison of resilience indices between species and stand composition (*Study III*) in section 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 and tree-in-plot-in-triplet to fit the *h*-*d* and tree basal area growth models adapted to mixed species stands (Study V) in section 3.6.1 and 3.6.2.

The inclusion of random effects alleviated the lack of independence of models residuals, as they would absorb the unaccounted variability at the above mentioned levels due to growing conditions. The significance of the random structure was based on the likelihood ratio test (p < 0.05) between nested models in the presence of all non-collinear fixed predictors (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000). Multicollinearity of model variables was controlled by variance inflation factor values. We assumed that the random effects are independent; in this case, we used a diagonal form for variance-covariance matrix. Models were fitted using *nlme* R-package (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000) and the ML (maximum likelihood) method to allow comparison among different candidate model structures. The unbiased restricted maximum likelihood (REML) method was then used to fit the parameter estimates and variance components for the final model selected. Additionally, we calculated conditional R² values, which account for the explanatory power of both fixed and random effects and marginal R² to describe the proportion of variance

explained by the fixed factors alone, both as a measure of goodness-of-fit of mixed models (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2013).

When non-linear mixed models were used, we tested different combinations of random parameters to determine which parameters should be modeled as mixed effect. First, all parameters were assumed random, with a general positive definite variance-covariance structure for the random effects. If this model failed to converge, then the number of random parameters was reduced to achieve convergence. Non-nested fitted models were compared according to the Akaike information criterion (AIC) using ML fits. In addition, we verified correlations between estimated random-effects parameters to evaluate whether the NLME model was appropriately parameterized. A high correlation coefficient between two estimated random parameters is an indication that the model is not correctly parameterized regarding setting random effects (Lindstrom and Bates 1990).

3.8 Model selection

Information-theoretic approach was used in the model selection procedure among candidate models (Anderson, 2007). Allowing evaluate multiple non-nested models relative to each other and quantify the relative support for multiple models simultaneously (Zuur et al., 2009). Fitted models were ranked by their AICc value (Second-order Akaike Information Criterion, Eq. [3.30]). Model with the lowest AICc could be considered most parsimonious "*best model*". The absolute magnitude of the differences in AICc between alternate models (Δ AICc) and Akaike weights (w_i in Eq.[3.31]) provides an objective index of the strength of empirical support for the competing models or alternate hypothesis (Anderson, 2007). The multi-model inference procedure was performed with *MuMIn* R-package (Bartó, 2016).

$$AICc = -2\log(L) + 2K + \left(\frac{2K(K+1)}{n-K-1}\right)$$
[3.30]

where L is the likelihood of the fitted model, K is the total number of parameters in the model and n is the sample size.

$$w_{i} = \frac{exp\{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{i}(AICc)\}}{\sum_{k=1}^{R} exp\{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{r}(AICc)\}}$$
[3.31]

where Δ is the differences in AICc between the model *i* and the best candidate model and *r* ranges from 1 to the total number of candidate models compared *R*. Therefore, the final output is a set of candidate models rather than a single model.

4. Results

4.1 Mixing effects at stand level and tree level

4.1.1 Self-thinning boundary line and maximum stand density

A maximum size-density relationship was clearly identified using NFI data (Figure 4.1). No effects from stand origin were detected in the self-thinning limit parameters. We chose the 0.95 quantile because it showed significant parameters and the closest 95% confidence intervals of the highest quantiles. The intercept and slope of the self-thinning relationship for both species are given in Table 4.1. These parameters were used in Eq.[3.1] to estimate the SDI and SDImax values.



Figure 4.1 Self-thinning boundary line using NFI data plotted on a log-log scale. Lines by joining dots represent the ongoing density-related mortality within plots between the second and third NFI, red lines natural (Nt) and black lines plantation stands (Pl). Straight lines represent maximum size-density lines (solid = fitted by QR regression, dotted = functions fitted by del Río et al., (2006, 2001).

Table 4.1. Quantile regression parameters and standard errors (in parentheses) for linear models of self-thinning relationships of pure stands (Eq. [3.4]).

Species	Intercept	Slope	SDImax
Scots pine	12.801 (0.192)	-1.789 (0.061)	1143.65
Maritime pine	13.218 (0.278)	-1.929 (0.088)	1103.64

SDImax: maximum stand density index estimated using *dq*=25.

4.1.2 Growth efficiency and species-mixing effects at the stand level

Table 4.2 shows the estimated parameters and regression statistics of the growth efficiency models for both species. All coefficients were significant in the final models (p <0.05). Similar relationship between growth efficiency and predicted variables was found between species: a positive relationship with Ho, SD and stocking proportion of admixture species, but a negative relationship with the dq of the target species. Dominant height and quadratic mean diameter were used as surrogate variables of site quality and age respectively. Thus, the results in Table 4.2 might indicate an increase in growth efficiency with increasing site quality and a decrease in growth efficiency with aging.

Growth efficiency increased with total stand density and obtained maximum volume increment in fully stocked stands (SD=1), as expected. The significant difference with the null model (F-statistic and Δ AIC) revealed the influence of species proportion in the final model, indicating that both species grew better in mixed stands than in pure stands. The interaction between stand density and mixing proportion did not improve the growth efficiency models in either species. Additionally, the stand origin was statistically significant, indicating that a model is required for each origin and species. The inclusion of climatic variables did not prove to be statistically significant.

Table 4.2. Estimated coefficients	(SE) of the stand	volume growth	efficiency models	5 Eq.[3.5]
for both species.				

Species	Intercept	ln (Ho)	ln (dqi)	ln (SD)	т рт	m PS	Origini	RSE	Adj.R ²	F.	ΔAIC
Scots pine	3.516	0.626	-1.076	0.238	0.341		-0.306	0.735	0.222	5.12	3.2
	(0.461)	(0.244)	(0.176)	(0.117)	(0.148)		(0.122)				
Maritime pine	3.782	0.530	-0.971	0.331		0.355	-0.338	0.623	0.228	5.63	3.7
	(0.475)	(0.209)	(0.150)	(0.090)		(0.149)	(0.094)				

Ho: Dominant height; dq: quadratic mean diameter; SD: total stand density, m: stocking proportion of Maritime pine (PT) and Scots pine (PS). Origin: dummy variable (0=natural stands, 1=plantation stands) RSE: residual standard error; Adj.R²: adjusted coefficient of determination R²; and F: F-statistic; Δ AIC: delta AIC between mixture versus null model.

4.1.3 Comparison of tree-level competition structures in mixed stands

Table 4.3 compares the different models that include size-symmetric or sizeasymmetric competition structures and assumes different composition in the competition structures. Models that simultaneously included size-symmetric and size-asymmetric terms (SDIR + SDIR) outperformed the models than used only SDIR or SDIRL in both species. Further, models expressed only by sizeasymmetric competition resulted better, and the parameter was larger than the size-symmetric competition, which denotes the importance of light competition in these species. The combination of size-symmetric and size-asymmetric terms with different species composition (intra+inter) emerged as the best competition structure model, with the lowest AICc values.

Table 4.3. Ranking of volume tree growth models comparing competition structures and their parameters estimated. The competition status was defined as the relative stand density index calculated for size-symmetric (SDIR) and/or size-asymmetric competitors (SDRIL) and for trees of all species or divided by intra- and inter-specific competitors.

	SDIR	SDIRL	SDIRinter	SDIRintra	SDIRLinter	SDIRLintra	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi
Scots			ns	-0.8558	-0.8312	-1.0079	3077.7	0	0.801
pine	-0.4552	-0.8943					3081.0	3.25	0.158
		-1.0860					3083.6	5.91	0.042
					-0.8985	-1.1969	3104.6	26.92	0.000
			-0.7641	-1.3640			3118.8	41.08	0.000
	-0.9990						3120.7	43.04	0.000
Maritime			ns	-0.6262	-1.614	-0.7307	3202.9	0	0.535
pine	-0.5251	-0.8650					3203.3	0.44	0.429
					-1.669	-0.9077	3209.0	6.12	0.025
		-1.0120					3210.6	7.68	0.012
	-0.8950						3233.1	30.17	0.000
			-0.7357	-0.9379			3234.9	32.02	0.000

SDIR: size-symmetric competition index; SDIRL: size-asymmetric competition index for larger trees; intra: intra-specific competition; inter: inter-specific competition; AICc Second-order Akaike Information Criterion; Δ AICc difference between the model i and the best candidate model; w_i Akaike weights. Significance of coefficients p≤0.05, ns: not significant.

Contrasting results were observed between species when best competition structures were compared. In the case of Scots pine, intra and inter-specific competition were significant in size-asymmetric competition terms with a higher coefficient value of intra-specific term that means that inter-specific competition was less intense for Scots pine. In size-symmetric competition, the variable related to Maritime pine competition was found to be non-significant, which means no effect of inter-specific competition on tree growth.

For Maritime pine, the same pattern was observed than in Scots pine for sizesymmetric competition structure. On the other hand, for size-asymmetric competition the intra-specific parameter was lower than the Scots pine competition term. However, this model was slightly better (Δ AICc = 0.44) than the second best-ranked model (without distinguishing species composition in the competition). Despite the uncertainty to define the 'best model', both models
indicate no benefit from the mixture in the size-asymmetric competition, which is more intense for tree growth than that of size-symmetric competition. However, in the first model species interaction have a positive effect in the size-symmetric competition, revealing that both relationships (competition and complementarity) could be observed simultaneously in Maritime pine. The volume growth models with the lowest AICc value were fitted with the REML procedure (Table 4.4). Parameters were significant at 95% probability.

	Scots pine	Maritime pine
Intercept	-4.0212 (0.417)	- 3.0889 (0.392)
d	-0.0465 (0.009)	-0.0242 (0.006)
ln (<i>d</i>)	2.2426 (0.209)	1.8626 (0.178)
ln (<i>h</i>)	0.3951 (0.105)	0.3854 (0.093)
Origin	-0.3493 (0.089)	-0.3442 (0.082)
SDIRintra	-0.8606 (0.264)	-0.6377 (0.209)
SDIRinter	ns	ns
SDIRLintra	-1.0020 (0.205)	-0.7242 (0.163)
SDIRLinter	-0.8196 (0.320)	-1.6234 (0.385)
AIC	3104.13	3230.74
R ² conditional	0.62	0.60
R ² marginal	0.43	0.46
Variance of ran	dom effects	
σ_{u0}^2	0.3637	0.3229
σ_{u2}^2	8.479x10-7	0.0403
σ_{ε}^2	0.0003	0.0086

Table 4.4. Estimated coefficients for the best tree growth model Eq.[3.8] of the two species (standard errors in parentheses), including competition structures. Conditional R² values are showed as a measure of goodness-of-fit.

 R^2 conditional: variance explained by both fixed and random effects; R^2 marginal: describes the proportion of variance explained by the fixed factors alone. Significance of coefficients $p \le 0.05$, *ns*: not significant.

Figure 4.2 depicts the effects of size-symmetric and size-asymmetric competition analyzed independently, when the target tree was influenced by intra-specific competition only (pure stand) and when the competition was the combination of intra- and inter-specific competition structures (mixed stands). To illustrate the different effect of competition structures, simulations of tree volume growth were based on fitted models (Table 4.4). Simulations depending of the amount of size-symmetric (Figure 4.2 left) and size-asymmetric competition (Figure 4.2 right) for an average tree with d=30 cm and h=14 m in a natural stand. Results show that the stronger the size-symmetric inter-specific competition, the higher the growth benefit from the mixture of both species (Figure 4.2, left) when size-asymmetric

competition was fixed to 0, for example dominant trees. However, when asymmetric competition was split by species and symmetric competition was fixed to 1, for example full-stocked stands. Positive mixture effect on tree growth was only evident for Scots pine (Figure 4.2, right).



Figure 4.2. Volume growth as a function of size-symmetric competition (left, asymmetric competition = 0) and size-asymmetric competition (right, symmetric competition = 1) in Scots pine (PS, circles) and Maritime pine (PT, triangles) for a tree with d=30cm and h=14m in a natural stand and using mean competition status values (Table 2.3). Solid lines indicate results for intraspecific competition only (pure stand); dashed lines indicate results for a combination of intraspecific and inter- specific competition structures (mixed stand).

4.2 Comparison of stand structure in mixed versus pure stands

4.2.1 Species-mixing influence in tree allometry

Height-diameter relationships varied significantly between stand compositions in both species (Figure 4.3 and Table 4.5). The *hcb-d* allometry relationship, in contrast, remained constant for Maritime pine but differed for Scots pine trees growing in mixture versus monocultures. Parameters and statistical tests of the fitted functions are shown in Table 4.5. Maritime pine trees growing in mixture tended to be significantly higher, presented a considerably steeper slope in the *h-d* relationship and had longer crowns as size increased compared with trees in pure stands. Despite the slope differences in both functions for Scots pine, vertical crown extension was similar in mixture that than in monospecific stands. This pattern concurs with intra-specific stand structural traits ratios (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.3. Crown and height tree allometry of Scots pine and Maritime pine in mixed and pure stands. Solid lines represent h-d functions and dashed lines represent hcb-d functions. Grey lines indicate trees in mixture; black lines indicate trees growing in monocultures.

Species	Model	composition	intercept	Slope	R ²	p-value
Scots	h-d	mixed	0.307	0.672	0.57	
pine			(0.24 - 0.38)	(0.64 - 0.72)		0.002
		pure	0.448	0.583	0.51	0.003
			(0.40 - 0.50)	(0.55 - 0.62)		
	hcb-d	mixed	-0.914	0.868	0.56	
			(-0.19 - 0.06)	(0.80 – 0.94)		0.017
		pure	0.064	0.76	0.31	0.017
			(-0.02 – 0.14)	(0.71 – 0.82)		
Maritima	h d	mixed	0.071	0 783	0.68	
nino	п-и	IIIXeu	(0.071)	(0.72, 0.85)	0.00	
pine		101110	(-0.03 - 0.17)	(0.72 - 0.65)	0 50	< 0.001
		pule	(0.279)	(0.60 - 0.68)	0.39	
	hch-d	mixed	-0 246	0.914	0.51	
	neb-u	mixeu	(-0.400.10)	(0.82 - 1.02)	0.51	
		nure	-0 203	0.876	0 42	0.509
		raie	(-0.300.11)	(0.82 - 0.94)	0.12	

Table 4.5. Crown allometry functions of Scots pine and Maritime pine. SMA log-linear regression parameters (confidence intervals) of height – diameter (h-d) and height to crown base – diameter (hcb-d) functions by species and composition.

Significant differences in slope between fitted composition models (mixed vs. pure), p-value <0.05.

4.2.2 Structural attributes between species and stand composition

Inter-specific comparison of stand characteristics between pure and mixed stands (Figure 4.4) showed that dq was significantly greater for Maritime pine than for Scots pine in mixed stands, whereas between pure stands did not differ from 1. The opposite was observed for *Ho*, Scots pine in pure stands was on average about 19% taller than pure Maritime pine stands, while in mixed stands both species reached similar dominant height. However, these mean relationships varied due to differences in site conditions and age prevailing among triplets. SDI was about 24 % higher in pure Maritime pine than in pure Scots pine stands (Figure S1). Despite the lower dominant height of pure Maritime pine, the higher SDI and dq resulted in 20% and 8% higher basal area, and standing volume compared to pure Scots pine stands. Greater differences, 37% and 43%, were observed for PAIBA and PAIV, respectively.



Figure 4.4. Inter-specific ratio of quadratic mean diameter and dominant height between mixed or pure stands (PS_{mix}/PT_{mix} and PS_{pure}/PT_{pure}). Filled symbols indicate mean ratio significantly different from one (p < 0.05).

In addition, some shifts in size distribution traits emerged when we compared species-specific ratios in mixed stands with pure stands (Figure 4.5). Values of mean diameter, height, and volume, as well as minimum diameter and volume, were higher for Maritime pine than Scots pine in mixture (Figure 4.5). Significant differences were also observed in vertical structure and grow inequality indexes and were greater for Scots pine in mixture. These differences show an overview of the stands characteristics and reveal which role each species plays in the mixture as an indication of their competitive status.

Intra-specific comparison showed that *dq* of Maritime pine in mixed stands was 16 % higher and *Ho* was 18 % higher than in pure stands (Table 4.6). For Scots pine, quadratic mean diameter and dominant height were 3 % and 4 % lower in mixed stands, respectively, but the differences were not significant. SDI in mixed stands increased for Scots pine but maintained similar for Maritime pine compared to

pure stands. Although the stands represent fully stocked and almost unthinned conditions, SDI values varied considerably among triplets due to the wide range in site conditions and the variation in stand age.

Table 4.6. Comparative statistics (mean and standard error) of the ratios between of observed mixed stand (Mix_{obs}) over expected mixed stand (Mix_{exp}) and by species in pure vs. mixed stands. Bold values indicate significant differences in ratios, $p \le 0.05$.

	Mixobs/	Mixexp	PSmix/I	Spure	PT _{mix} /I	PT pure
	mean	SE	Mean	SE	Mean	SE
N (trees ha-1)	0.96	0.05	1.35**	0.14	0.72***	0.03
dq (cm)			0.97	0.04	1.16***	0.03
Ho (m)			0.96	0.03	1.15***	0.03
BA (m ² ha ⁻¹)	1.05	0.04	1.20***	0.05	0.97	0.05
V (m ³ ha ⁻¹)	1.12*	0.05	1.16**	0.07	1.11***	0.07
SDI	1.06	0.04	1.21***	0.05	0.96	0.05
PAIBA (m ² ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	1.08	0.07	1.06	0.08	1.09	0.08
PAIV (m ³ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	1.14*	0.07	1.11	0.11	1.19*	0.08

N, trees per hectare; dq, quadratic mean diameter; ho, dominant height; BA, stand basal area; V, stand standing volume; SDI, stand density index; PAIBA, periodic annual basal area growth; PAIV, periodic annual volume growth. In bold, significant differences in mixed-species versus monoculture stands at: *p< 0.05, ** p < 0.01 and *** p < 0.001.



Figure 4.5. Mean of the ratio resulting from the pair-wise division of the structural traits between species growing in mixed stands and monocultures. PS: *Pinus sylvestris* and PT: *Pinus pinaster*. Filled circles indicate mean ratio significantly different from one (p < 0.05).

4.2.3 Additive and multiplicative effects of species mixing on structural traits

Table 4.7 showed a weak additive effect on structural traits of mixture compared to Scots pine pure stands and a moderate effect compared to Maritime pine: Species structural indices differed between weighted stands (Mixexp) and monocultures for 4 out of 12 in the former and 6 out of 12 in the latter. Scots pine monoculture compared with the expected mixed stand (weighted mean of both monocultures) showed higher diameter and volume maximum values. However, mean and minimum heights were reduced by the component of Maritime pine in the expected mixed stand. Maritime pine monoculture showed significantly higher mean and maximum height values compared to the weighted mean of both monocultures, and lower minimum diameter, height and volume values than expected in mixed stands. These indicate that a broader size distribution range was expected in mixed stands than in monospecific stands, especially with regard to tree height size distribution. The higher GC_{v} means greater inequality in the standing stand volume for the weighted mean of the two monocultures than in the Maritime pine monoculture. All these comparative differences in structural traits for both species imply that structural heterogeneity may increase just by mixing.

Table 4.7. Mean of the ratio resulting from the pair-wise division comparing the structural traits of the mixed-species stands (Mix_{obs}) and monocultures, and of the expected mean of the monocultures (Mix_{exp}, weighted mean pure stands by mixing proportions) with the neighboring monocultures.

			Structure traits											
		dmean	dmin	dmax	hmean	\mathbf{h}_{\min}	hmax	Vmean	Vmin	Vmax	Arel	GCv	GCiv	
Mix _{exp}	mean	1.03	0.92	1.12**	0.94*	0.65*	1.01	1.04	0.85	1.25**	1.15	1.07	1.08	
vs. PSpure	SE	0.03	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.01	0.06	0.1	0.08	0.68	0.06	0.04	
Mix _{exp}	mean	0.96	0.79***	1.07	1.06**	0.89*	1.17**	0.98	0.60**	1.59	1.02	1.14*	1.12	
vs. PT _{pure}	SE	0.02	0.05		0.02	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.09		0.42	0.05	0.06	

PS, *Pinus sylvestris* and PT, *Pinus pinaster*. In bold, significant differences in mixed-species stand versus monoculture at: *p< 0.05, ** p < 0.01 and *** p < 0.001.

The multiplicative mixing effects observed by comparing the structural traits between species in mixed and pure stands are shown in Figure 4.6. Differences between observed mixed-stand structural indexes and the weighted mean of both monocultures (Mix_{obs} vs. Mix_{exp}) are also displayed. No shifts in structural traits for Scots pine were observed in mixtures compared to monocultures, PS_{mix}/PS_{pure}. In contrast, most of the size distribution traits were significantly higher for

Maritime pine in mixed-species stands. Only GC_v was lower compared to Maritime pine monocultures (PT_{mix}/PT_{pure}). We might consider these changes in the structural indexes of Maritime pine growing in mixture versus monoculture to be closely related to shifts in structural traits patterns when species coexist in mixing (PS_{mix}/PT_{mix}) or to comparison of species in pure stands (PS_{pure}/PT_{pure}), Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5. However, the multiplicative effect of species mixing at the stand level (Mix_{obs} vs. Mix_{exp}) does not always emerge from patterns at the species level.



Figure 4.6. Multiplicative mixing effects on the structural traits of Scots pine and Maritime pine in mixed stands compared with monocultures. Circles are the mean of the ratio resulting from the pair-wise division of the structural traits of the mixed-species stands by the respective value of the neighboring monocultures. Filled circles indicate mean ratio significantly different from one (p < 0.05).

4.2.4 Over-yielding and structural heterogeneity relationships

Table 4.6 shows that standing volume and PAIV values were an average of 12 % and 14% higher in mixed stands than in pure stands, respectively. However, BA, PAIBA, and SDI were similar in mixed and pure stands. Greater volume in mixed stands was caused by the larger volume (RP $V_{(PS)PT} = 1.11$) and mean annual volume growth (RP PAIV (PS)PT = 1.19) of Maritime pine in mixed stands compared to pure stands. Though PAIBA was higher for Maritime pine in mixed stands (1.09), the effect was not significant at the total mixed-stand level.

The variability of relative stand productivity at the stand and species levels was related to specific stand characteristics and the intra-specific ratio of structural traits between mixed and pure stands. We focused on the whole stand ($RP_{PS,PT}$) and Maritime pine relative productivity in mixed stands ($RP_{(PS)PT}$) since both showed significant effects of mixture on the PAIV (Table 4.6, Figure S2). Accordingly, we explored the significant ratios of the structural traits between Maritime pine in mixed-species stands and monocultures (PT_{mix} vs. PT_{pure}) as explanatory variables (Figure 4.5). In both cases, we accounted for relative stand density ($SD_{PS,PT}$), site index (dominant height of Maritime pine at age 100 in mixed stand) and age (age of Maritime pine in mixed stand).

Relative stand productivity increased significantly with relative stand density, $s_{D_{PS,PT}}$ (Figure S3). However, site index and age had non-significant effects on relative productivity, though they presented a slightly positive correlation. Both the over-yielding observed at stand level and species level for Maritime pine were related to structural ratios describing tree height differences between Maritime pine in mixed-species stands and monocultures (Table 4.8). $RD_{PS,PT}$ and $RP_{(PS)PT}$ increased as the difference in maximum tree height of Maritime pine trees in mixed stands increased with respect to monocultures (Rhmax).

	RP _{PS,PT}	RP(ps),pt
Intercept	-0.178 (0.26)	-0.887(0.53)
Rhmax (PTmix/PTpure)	1.126 (0.2)	1.924 (0.47)
R ² adjusted	0.710	0.669
RSE	0.078	0.159
p-value	0.001	0.003

Table 4.8. Linear model of the relative productivity in mixed-species versus monocultures at the stand and species levels as a function of changes in structural attributes.

RP_{*PS*,*PT*}, Relative productivity of mixed-species stands versus monocultures; RP_{(*PS*),*PT*}, Relative productivity of Maritime pine mixed-species stands versus monocultures; Rh_{max} (PT_{mix}/PT_{pure}), ratio between the maximum tree height of Maritime pine in mixed versus monospecific stands. (Standard error in brackets)

4.3 Relationships between drought and tree-growth

4.3.1 Temporal fluctuations of drought-growth relationship

For both species, the inclusion of random effects in the extraction of the ontogenetic trend from BAI series improved the fitted models compared to fixed effect only. The final random structure included plot/tree/core levels as random effects, considering triplet in the random structure did not improve the model based on likelihood ratio test (Table S1). Further modeling the variance and accounting for autocorrelation enhanced models parameters of both species. All

parameters were significant (p<0.05) in the fitted model derived from Eq.[3.16]. Residuals were generally scattered symmetrically around zero for both species (Figure 4.7) within some variation among triplets. Superimposing tree growth residuals, the rBAI fluctuations were generally similar in both species between plot composition (mixture vs. pure), with some differences across triplets. However, rBAIs of Maritime pine exhibited higher deviations below the threshold of –1 than rBAI of Scots pine during the drought events in the last 20 years.



Figure 4.7. rBAI for each sample (grey lines) of *P. pinaster* (above) and *P. sylvestris* (middle). Mean fluctuation of trees in mixed stands (red line) and pure stands (green line). (Below) Standardized Precipitation–Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), drought index accumulated over 12 months (from October to September). SPEI time series extracted for each plot in the triplets (black lines). Positive and negative SPEI values indicate wet and dry conditions, respectively. Vertical dashed lines highlight the drought years, SPEI<-1.

Mantel correlograms between rBAI and SPEI show a clear nonlinear pattern of the computed correlations, but different oscillating patterns over time between species (Figure 4.8). Maritime pine showed a stronger temporal correlation than Scots pine, which was progressively reducing from positive in the first distance classes to negative for distance classes around 3. This general pattern was also observed across triplets (sites) (Figure S4 and Figure S5), moreover, differences between stand composition (mixture vs. pure) were not evidently noticed.

Species identity defined the patterns of the computed correlations over time, while the variability within-site and among-plots influenced the correlation trends and scales across the calculated distance classes. Maritime pine trees showed a generally consistent symmetric pattern over distance classes across sites and within plots. The response pattern was more irregular among Scots pine trees within plots, and the correlation of the closer temporal classes vary widely depending on the site. In other words, Maritime pine trees were more sensitive, but they disassembled faster from the drought long-term effects than Scots pine trees.



Figure 4.8. Mantel correlograms showing the extent of temporal similarities between of rBAI and SPEI along distance classes (lag). Filled and open symbols indicate the significant and non-significant Mantel statistic (p < 0.05). Blue line illustrated the overall pattern.



Figure 4.9. Mantel correlograms representing individual tree responses to drought rely on BAI residuals and SPEI synchrony for age classes. Filled and transparent open symbols indicate the significant and non-significant Mantel statistic ($p \le 0.05$) for both species in mixed plots, Scots pine in green and Maritime pine in red.

We found that differences in dendroclimatic relationships between species depending on the tree age. Figure 4.9 illustrates those differences in mixed stands. In young stands (45 years) both species showed similar response patterns. However, Scots pine trees responded less intense and frequent to drought that Maritime pine trees in closer temporal classes. In mature and old stands (80 and >110 years, respectively) changes in the intensity of temporal patterns between species were notorious. While Maritime pine trees followed similar response pattern among age classes, discrepancies among age classes were more evident for

Scots pine. Weaker correlations and less frequent significant responses to drought were observed for closer distance classes in Scots pine trees, moreover, trees without any response across all distance classes were more common in mature and old stands.

4.3.2 Differences in responses to drought events between species and stand composition

Species-specific response to drought differs among drought events and varies depending on the index (Table 4.9 and Figure 4.10). During the extreme drought in 2005, Maritime pine was less resistant than Scots pine, while in 2012 both species had a similar level of growth reduction. Generally, Maritime pine recover better was more resilient and showed higher relative resilience to drought than Scots pine. Tree and stand covariates did not show a consistent pattern between drought events. Tree age showed a negative relationship with Rc and rRs indices in 2005, but positive with Rt in 2012. SDIR and tree size were never significant for the selected drought events. Analysis of Rt, Rc, Rs and rRs depending on stand composition between the two dry years showed a dominance of no significant differences in mixed versus pure stands (Table S2 and Figure S7). However, only Rs in 2012 for Maritime pine showed differences depending on species-mixing (Table S2). In this case, Maritime pine was more resilient to drought in mixed stands than in pure stands.



Figure 4.10. Variation in growth responses to drought at tree level (Rt, Rc, Rs, and rRs) between species growing in pure stand for each drought event. Scots pine in green and Maritime pine in red.

	Resistance		Recove	ery (<i>ln</i>)	Resilience		Relative resilience		
	2005	2012	2005	2012	2005	2012	2005	2012	
Intercept	0.617	-0.407	1.099	0.008	1.085	0.687	0.798	-0.001	
Maritime pine	-0.171		0.333	0.381		0.174	0.220	0.262	
Age		0.004	-0.005				-0.004		
SI		0.029							
ΔAICc	3.816	6.019	2.704	1.941	3.643	2.676	1.886	1.276	

Table 4.9. Results from the linear mixed models of the resistance Rt, recovery Rc, resilience Rs and relative resilience rRs indices for Maritime pine and Scots pine trees growing in pure stands in all the selected drought events. (p < 0.05).

 Δ AICc: second-order Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) difference between the actual and full model. *ln* next to recovery index indicates a logarithmic transformation of the response variable.

4.4 Intra-annual complementarity relationships

The mean radial-annual increment was greater for Maritime pine than in Scots pine, in both mixed and pure stands (Table 2.6). The single-Richards function Eq.[3.20] was the best model that fitted the data. This model described a unimodal pattern for both species and by stand composition (Figure 4.11). The double-Richards function did not converge with our data, thus we were not able to distinguish the second peak of growth or radial increase in autumn after summer season (bi-modal pattern).

The parameters of the single-Richards models fitted for each tree were used to evaluate the inter- and intra-specific differences in the cumulative intra-annual radial increment pattern between species and by stand composition. Maritime pine presented higher asymptote (*Asym*), and greater radial increment rate (*K*) and shape (*M*) parameters than Scots pine, regardless of stand composition (Figure 4.11 and Figure 4.12). There was a not significant difference in the intra-annual pattern between mixed and pure stands for Maritime pine. While, for Scots pine the inflection point was greater and the increment rate lower in trees growing in mixed compared to pure stands. This means that for Scots pine trees in mixed stands, the intra-annual growing period became longer although the radial increment rate decreases compared to monospecific stands.

Tree size affected the shape of the intra-annual pattern for Scots pine, increasing the value of M related with tree diameter. In addition, *size x Composition* interaction showed that for a given diameter M was lower in pure stands compared to mixed stands (Table 4.10). The inflection point was lower in Scots pine growing in pure stands, but no-size dependency was observed. For Maritime pine the *size x*

66 | Results

Composition interaction was significant only for the value of the asymptote, increasing with the tree diameter in pure stands



Figure 4.11. Intra-annual cumulative radial increment pattern during 2016 from single-Richards fitted model for Maritime pine (green line) and Scots pine (red line) in mixed (solid line) and pure stands (dashed line). a) Inter-specific comparison of patterns in mixed and pure stands. b) Intra-specific comparison of intra-annual pattern between trees growing in pure or mixture conditions, (PT: *P. pinaster*; PS: *P. sylvestris*).



Figure 4.12. Differences of parameters from the cumulative intra-annual radial increment model fitted for Scots pine (red symbols) and Maritime pine (green symbols) trees in mixed and pure stands. Different letters denote significant differences (p-value <0.05). *Asym* is the asymptote; *Infl* is the inflection point; *K* is the rate or slope at the inflection point and *M* is the shape parameter of the model.

		S	cots pine		Maritime pine					
	Asym	K	Infl	М	Asym	K	Infl	М		
Composition (pure stand)	ns	ns	-14.458**	0.618*	-5.253*	ns	ns	ns		
d	ns	ns	ns	0.021*	ns	ns	ns	ns		
d x Composition	ns	ns	ns	-0.027*	0.175*	ns	ns	ns		
AIC			112.5	-29.7	33.09					
Deviance			643.83	0.077	4.096					

Table 4.10. Cumulative intra-annual radial increment pattern for Scots pine and Maritime pine as a function of tree size and stand composition (pure or mixed stands).

Parameters of single-Richards function: *A* asymptote;. *Infl* inflection point; *K* rate or slope at infection point and *M* shape parameter; *d*: tree diameter; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; *ns*: not significant.

4.5 Integration of species- mixing effects in empirical models

4.5.1 Height-diameter generalized model

Table 4.11 shows the best fitted models for Scots pine and Maritime pine that including the species-mixing effects parameter in their structure and yielded better goodness of fit than the base models fitted without considered the species interaction (Table S3). Just considering the species-specific stand variables ($Ho_{sp}, BA_{sp}, dq_{sp}$ or N_{sp}) instead of the total stand values, the performance of the models increased (Table 4.11 and Table S3). The relative ratio of the species-specific dominant height (rHo) showed lower AICc and less bias than the proportion of admixed species, therefore the former was selected as an indicator of species-mixing effects and intrer-specific competition environment in the fitted models. Functions M8 for Scots pine and M6 for Maritime pine showed the best performance among all the proposed functions, as measured by lower ACIc values and higher model efficiency. On inspecting the residuals versus predicted height by the best models for each species, we observed a homogeneous variation of the residuals over the full range of the predicted values (Figure S6), which would suggest compliance with the assumption of homogeneity of variance.

The performance of models for both species was improved when sample plot-level was included as random effects (Table 4.12). When all parameters in selected models were considered random, the final NLME *h-d* model failed to converge in both species. Convergence was possible when only one or two parameters of the model were treated as random. However, most of the models with two parameters specified as random showed high correlations between the random parameters; this indicates over parameterized random-effects that can produce poor estimates of the standard errors on the fixed-effects in the model (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000).

The best random structure treated α_3 as random parameter at the plot level for both species. The following mixed-effects model formulations, which showed the smallest Akaike's information criterion (AIC) were finally selected for Scots pine Eq. [4.1] and Maritime pine Eq. [4.2], respectively:

$$h_{ij} = \alpha_0 \cdot Ho_{sp}^{\alpha_1} \cdot BA_{sp}^{\alpha_2} \cdot e^{(\alpha_3 + u_i)\left(\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1}{Do_{sp}}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot rHo$$

$$\tag{4.1}$$

$$h_{ij} = \alpha_0 \cdot Ho_{sp}^{\alpha_1} \cdot BA_{sp}^{\alpha_2} \cdot e^{\left(\frac{\alpha_3 + u_i}{d}\right)} + \beta_1 \cdot rHo$$

$$\tag{4.2}$$

where α_0 to α_3 and β_1 are considered fixed parameters; u_i is the random plot effects on parameter α_3 , and all other variables were previous specified in Table 3.3. The NLME *h-d* generalized models supposed a reduction in the RMSE of 5.11% in Scots pine and 4.08% in Maritime pine compared with the fixed-effects models fitted by ordinary non-linear least squares (Table 4.11).

Table 4.11. Summary statistics and ranking of generalized height-diameter models for Scots pine and Maritime pine considering the species-mixing effects. Models number according to Table 3.3.

		Scots pir	ne		Maritime pine						
model	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi	EF	model	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi	EF		
m8	7595.11	0.00	1.00	0.820	m6	6687.69	0.00	0.870	0.848		
m7	7611.43	16.32	0.00	0.817	m8	6691.51	3.81	0.129	0.846		
m11	7629.94	34.83	0.00	0.812	m2	6703.39	15.70	0.000	0.843		
m9	7635.56	40.45	0.00	0.811	m9	6703.76	16.07	0.000	0.843		
m6	7644.02	48.91	0.00	0.810	m10	6718.30	30.60	0.000	0.841		
m2	7645.67	50.57	0.00	0.808	m11	6720.76	33.07	0.000	0.840		
m11	7658.18	63.07	0.00	0.806	m4	6738.52	50.83	0.000	0.837		
m5	7663.97	68.86	0.00	0.806	m12	6742.19	54.50	0.000	0.836		
m4	7678.41	83.30	0.00	0.802	m7	6744.31	56.62	0.000	0.836		
m12	7687.51	92.41	0.00	0.800	m1	6751.12	63.43	0.000	0.834		
m10	7692.94	97.84	0.00	0.798	m5	6757.30	69.61	0.000	0.834		
m3	7724.38	129.27	0.00	0.792	m3	6781.27	93.58	0.000	0.828		

AICc: Second-order Akaike Information Criterion; Δ AICc: difference between the best model and the ith model; w_i: Akaike weights.

The species mixing effects varied between the species in the fitted models. Figure 4.4 seems to support the tendency of Maritime pine to overtop Scots pine, suggesting that most increases in rHo are associated with an increase in relative height of Scots pine while this species is still in an inferior crown class within the stand at a fixed age. Thus, within the stand a larger diameter is associated with a relatively small increase in height for Scots pine. In contrast, a decrease in rHo implies an increase in the dominance of Maritime pine, so heights associated with

a given d are greater, and a given decrease in *rHo* is associated with a greater increase in height for a *P. pinaster* tree of given d within the stand at a fixed age.

Caratas		Estima		NLME performance					
Species	α0	α1	α_2	α3	β_1	$\sigma_u^2_{(plot)}$	$\sigma^2_{\epsilon \ (error)}$	RMSE	% RMSE reduct.
Scots	0.9928	0.9732	0.0271	-7.284	0.2908	3.644	2.464	1.654	5.107
pine	(0.081)	(0.035)	(0.002)	(0.502)	(0.027)				
Maritime	2.5348	0.8356	-0.0630	-8.165	-0.643	0.521	1.888	1.374	4.795
pine	(0.325)	(0.033)	(0.018)	(0.417)	(0.344)				

Table 4.12. Parameter estimates and goodness-of-fit statistics for the generalized h-d model selected (all parameters were significant at p <0.05; standard errors in brackets)

% RMSE; Percentage of RMSE reduction with regards to RMSE obtained using ordinary non-linear least squares fitting method.

4.5.2 Height-diameter function validation

The most parsimonious generalized h-d functions (Table 4.12) were validated based on the independent dataset, a set of pure and mixed plots selected from the third NFI plot network. Validation statistics were calculated and compared with the performance of the equations proposed by Lizarralde et al., (2010a, 2010b) for monospecific stands of both species (Table 4.13). When the fitted models were applied to trees in mixed stands, the Scots pine h-d function had larger model efficiency and lower RMSE of those of Maritime pine. Results were consistent across stand composition when predictions bias were compared between the models fitted in this research and the proposed by Lizarralde et al., (2010a, 2010b). For both species, the fitted models that included mixed-species stands attributes reduced the total prediction error in the mixed stands, increasing the model efficiency by 6% and 1%, for Scots pine and Maritime pine, respectively. The gain in efficiency of 1% was observed.

Table 4.13. Performance of generalized <i>h-d</i> fitted models and the equations proposed by
Lizarralde et al., (2010a, 2010b) applied to data from National Forest Inventory of the in the
Northern Iberian Range.

Stand Composition	Species	n	Fitte mode	ed els	Lizarralde (2010a, 2010b)		
	_		RMSE	EF	RMSE	EF	
Mixed	Scots pine	721	1.69	0.74	1.88	0.68	
	Maritime pine	738	1.88	0.66	1.89	0.65	
Pure	Scots pine	3983	1.73	0.81	1.79	0.79	
	Maritime pine	2089	1.71	0.75	1.68	0.76	

The fitted models reduced the mean bias of tree height predictions for both species regardless of stand composition across medium to small trees (d < 25 cm, Figure 4.13). Bias from both models in other diameter classes followed the same pattern. However, bias was evident and sizable in larger diameter classes (d > 65 cm) for Maritime pine when the models were applied to both mixed and monospecific stands.



Figure 4.13. Mean bias (m) by diameter classes of the generalized *h-d* fitted models (red circles and lines) compared with models by Lizarralde (2008) (green circles and lines) in mixed and pure stands using NFI data.

4.5.3 Basal area increment model

Differences in growth rates between mixed and pure stands were more evident and variable among triplets in Maritime pine that in Scots pine. In the fitting model, the inclusion of random effects greatly improved the goodness-of-fit indicators, decreasing AIC and producing significant differences in likelihood ratio. For both species, a random intercept at the plot level and an exponential variance function (function of SDIRL) was selected as most appropriate random model structure for the data. A visual check of the model residuals indicated no major departures from the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance.

According to the base model structure, basal area growth (log-transformed) increased with tree size and crown ratio with the differing magnitude depending on species identity. The d^2 term was non-significant in the base model structure. Site index did not improve the performance of the models in either species, as indicated by non-significant differences by the likelihood ratio test, so it was not included in the base model. Rh had high collinearity with the diameter (variance inflation factor, VIF>10) so was also excluded. The inclusion of competition in the model structure improved considerably the basal area increment models for both

species. Competition terms relying on SDIR yielded the most parsimonious models compared to competition expressed in terms of stand basal area (BA or BAL), so the former were used in the subsequent model selection.

Table 4.14 compares the different models that include symmetric or asymmetric competition structures. Not all the possible combinations of competition structure are listed because non-significant parameters were excluded from the models and the remaining parameters were re-estimated. Clear differences between species in terms of competition structure were observed after ranking the best models by AICc and w_i .

Table 4.14. Ranking of basal area increment models comparing competition structures and their respective parameters estimated. Competition status was compared for the size-symmetric (SDIR) and/or size-asymmetric competitors (SDIRL) and divided by intraspecific and interspecific competitors. Significant parameters, p-value <0.05.

	SDIR	SDIRintra	SDIRinter	SDIRL	SDIRLintra	SDIRLinter	AICc	ΔAICc	w _i
Scots	-1.669						1107.8	0	0.674
pine		-1.818	-1.645				1109.3	1.53	0.314
		-1.138				-1.132	1115.9	8.13	0.012
						-0.5957	1123.8	16	0
				-0.3128			1127.2	19.39	0
Maritime	-0.941				-0.2561		926.8	0	0.332
pine		-0.9415	-0.836		-0.2521		927.2	0.39	0.273
	-0.917			-0.271			928.9	2.05	0.119
		-0.4815		-0.397			929	2.22	0.109
	-1.192						929.1	2.3	0.105
		-1.188	-1.048				930.6	3.75	0.051
				-0.410			934.5	7.72	0.007
					-0.385		935.6	8.75	0.004

SDIR, size-symmetric competition index; SDIRL, size-asymmetric competition index for larger trees; subheading inter and intra are the interspecific and intraspecific competition structures, respectively; AICc, Second-order Akaike Information Criterion; Δ AICc, difference of AICc values between the best model and the ith model; ω i, Akaike weights.

For Scots pine, the size-symmetric competition indices were the most relevant predictors of basal area tree growth in mixed and pure stands. The index measuring size-symmetric competition without considering species composition of competitors was the best-ranked model. The model containing size-symmetric competition and accounting for different levels of competition by species was the second-best model according to AICc ranking. Here, the symmetric intra-specific competition (SDIR_{intra}) was greater that inter-specific competition term (SDIR_{intra}), implying a reduced competing against itself. Even though the difference in AICc between the two highest-ranking models is small, Akaike weights endorsed the

relative superiority of the model containing the SDIR competition index without discriminating among competitors by species.

These results for Scots pine contrasted with the best basal area increment model for Maritime pine. Here, the effects of competition on basal area growth rate in the most parsimonious model are most accurately predicted by the combination of size-symmetric and size-asymmetric indices. Thus, the asymmetric competition was mainly affected by the competition neighborhood with other Maritime pine trees, and the effect from the inter-specific competition with Scots pine was not significant. On the other hand, the symmetric competition had a similar effect on Maritime pine basal area growth as that the observed for Scots pine, with no species-mixing effects. When the size-symmetric competition effect was separated into species effects in the second best ranked model, a positive species interaction was observed, with size-symmetric intra-specific competition (SDIRintra) greater than the inter-specific competition term. Differences between the two best ranked models were smaller than in Scots pine, and both models showed species-mixing effects of competition

		Scots pine	Maritime pine
Fixed parameters	α ₀	-1.4119	-3.1198
		(0.5434)	(0.9136)
	α_1	1.1894	1.4201
		(0.0895)	(0.1635)
	α ₃	0.4897	0.3171
		(0.0723)	(0.0732)
	SDIR	-1.6751	-0.9524
		(0.3078)	(0.2909)
	SDIRLintra		-0.2447
			(0.1282)
Variance components	$\sigma_{i\ (plot)}^2$	0.0592	0.0589
	$\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}_{(error)}$	0.1965	0.1071
Variance function	δ	0.2880	0.5166
	R ² marginal	0.4963	0.5695
Cross-evaluation	Bias	0.1246	0.8255
	EF	0.2825	0.3680
	RMSE	15.9205	20.9099

Table 4.15. Estimated parameters (standard errors) and fitting statistics for the selected basal area increment models of both species (Table 4.14). Parameter estimates rely on REML.

 σ_{ϵ}^2 , residual variance; σ_i^2 , variances for the plot random effects; δ , parameters of the variance function (Eq. [3.25]); Marginal R², values correspond to the proportion of variance explained by the fixed effects (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2013). Bias, EF and RMSE are mean bias model efficiency and root mean square (Eq.[3.26]-[3.28]), respectively, calculated with back-transformed data Eq. [3.29].

The cross-validation gave satisfactory results, the model being reasonably accurate and unbiased. The basal area growth models with the lowest AICc value were fitted with the REML procedure (Table 4.15) and all parameters were significant. Figure 4.14 depicts the effects of size-asymmetric competition on basal area increment of Maritime pine, comparing when trees were influenced by intraspecific competition only, pure stands (Proportion PT=1), and when competition was the combination of intraspecific and interspecific interactions, mixed stand (Proportion PT <1). The effect of competition reduction on tree growth was greater as the proportion of Scots pine in size-asymmetric competition increase, however, these effects was reduced as total size-asymmetric competition decreased, e.g., dominant trees.



Figure 4.14. Variation of Maritime pine basal area increment with tree diameter depending on the amount of total size-asymmetric competition (SDIRL), and according to Maritime pine proportion in SDIRL (SDILintra/SDIL). In pure stands proportion PT =1 and decreased as the asymmetric competition of Scots pine increased (SDIRLinter). All the other explanatory variables were fixed at their mean values, CR=0.25 and SDIR=0.8.

5. Discussion

5.1 National scale mixing effects on growth at stand and tree level

5.1.1 Feasibility of maximum size-density estimation with NFI

Appropriate estimation of potential or maximum density is a crucial step in determining the stocking proportion of species in mixed stands (Sterba et al., 2014). Self-thinning fitted models reached a lower maximum size-density line and SDImax value than the upper limiting boundary lines fitted in previous studies for these species in this region (del Río et al., 2006, 2001) (Figure 4.1). This was mainly due to different intercept values, which can vary with site conditions. The same has been reported in other studies, where larger intercept values in stands growing on more productive sites (Bi, 2004; Weiskittel et al., 2009) led to considerable differences in density. It is important to note that both the methodology and the type of data used for analysis may explain the distinct values of the maximum size-density relationships compared to previous studies (Hann, 2014). Here, the 95% quantile of the selected NFI plots was used to fit the size-density relationship, thereby providing a genuine reflection of the wide range of stand conditions in the national distribution of the species. Stand origin had also been associated with significant changes in the intercept on the self-thinning boundary line in prior research (Weiskittel et al., 2009). However, we did not observe differences between natural stands and plantations in our results, which concur with those of Puettmann et al. (1993).

The species-specific slope observed for Scots pine was similar to that estimated by del Río et al., (2001) from non-thinned permanent plots, suggesting quantile regression as an appropriate approach for estimating the self-thinning boundary line using inventory data. The self-thinning coefficient determined for Maritime pine in this study supports the idea of using a species-specific slope rather than a constant coefficient among species (Charru et al., 2012). However, del Río et al. (2006) used the slope stated by Reineke to fit the self-thinning line for Maritime pine, so comparison of the fitted self-thinning line was not possible. Recently, Aguirre et al. (2018) developed climate-dependent maximum size-density models for pine species in Spain. Using these models could help to deal with the potential variability of the size-density relationship on environment and site conditions (Condés et al., 2017). Such models may also generate more accurate species-specific carrying capacities and subsequent calculations of mixing proportions.

5.1.2 Species-mixing effects on growth efficiency at stand level

The criteria used to select the pure and mixed plots made it possible to reduce the shift in ecological variables between pure and mixed stands and control the effects of silvicultural practices (level of growing stock) that might alter or mask mixture effects (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015). However, the low variability explained by the growth efficiency models in both species may be due to uncertainty regarding NFI data characteristics and methodological approach. When highly accurate predictions are required, methods for dealing with bias in predictions can be used, such as marginalization of predictions over the error term distribution through numerical integration (Fortin, 2013). Furthermore, the self-thinning law is hard to verify, and we have assumed that mixed-stand density can be estimated from the relative densities of both species, though this implies a risk of introducing bias into yield estimates in mixed stands. Nevertheless, estimating species occupancy, and therefore species proportion, by area in mixed stands has often provided good results (Huber et al., 2014; Sterba et al., 2014).

National Forestry Inventory data made it possible to obtain a general overview of the behavior of this mixture type in an unbiased and systematic sample distributed across the complete range of mixture proportions. Thus, we compared the 'true mixture effect' (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015) independently of the mixture proportion, revealing apparent profit at the stand scale and the mutual benefit of both species from the mixture. Given that complementarity processes require species niche differentiation (Kelty, 1992), complementarity is less likely to occur when light-demanding species with potentially similar crown architectures coexist, as is the case with these two pines (Crecente-Campo et al., 2013). Hence, the mutual facilitation we observed, in which both species gained (Larocque et al., 2012), is an unexpected indication of a complementary relationship between Scots pine and Maritime pine. These results suggest that slight differences in species traits, even small differences in shade tolerance, can trigger positive inter-specific effects through competition reduction or complementarity mechanisms. Species mixture can induce changes in crown dominance, above-ground species allometries and structural stand traits (Pretzsch et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2017) according to how light is distributed among the trees, which affects productivity. This applies to light-demanding species mixtures with notable effects on tree growth and stand productivity (Jucker et al., 2014b).

Potential growth gain for Scots pine was also found in mixture with *Quercus pyrenaica* (Río and Sterba, 2009) and *Fagus sylvatica* (Condés et al., 2013; Pretzsch et al., 2015b), and *Pinus nigra* (Jucker et al., 2014b), but no such effect was reported in mixture with *Quercus petraea* (Toïgo et al., 2015). To our knowledge, no prior research has reported mixture effects on growth efficiency for Maritime pine. Despite the mixture effect observed in this study, the mechanisms that trigger

species interactions are not easy to disentangle in a stand-level analysis, because some factors may act simultaneously. In most cases, complementary strategies for light interception or light use efficiency between species were the main drivers of positive mixing effects. However, in climatically stressful Mediterranean conditions there is evidence of higher wood production in mixed forests due to species niche partitioning in water use (Vilà et al., 2007).

Site quality is a trigger factor and could determine the effect of species mixing (Huber et al., 2014; Toïgo et al., 2015). Because stand age is missing in NFI data, the age-related site index could not be estimated in this study. Instead, we used Ho and dq as surrogate variables for site quality and stand age or development stage, respectively, in the growth efficiency model. Additionally, since dominant height cannot be directly associated to site quality class, mixture effects at stand level could not be assessed along a productivity gradient (Condés et al., 2013). The traditional use of Eichorn's rule for calculating side index might not be appropriate for mixed stands due to inter-specific interactions that could modify the expected side index, as calculated from pure stands (del Río et al., 2016). However, site index for pure stands (Pretzsch et al., 2015b) or abiotic gradients to describe site productivity (Dănescu et al., 2017; Toïgo et al., 2015) are commonly used to analyze the relationship between total yield and site conditions in mixed forests.

5.1.3 Competition effects on tree growth

Unlike the stand-level results, response to both structure and species composition of the competition varied significantly between Scots pine and Maritime pine at the tree level. This demonstrates the importance of looking at tree-specific competition relationships in multi-level analyses of mixed-species forests (Pretzsch et al., 2015a).

Symmetric and asymmetric competition have frequently been related to belowground and above-ground resources, respectively (Larocque et al., 2012; Weiskittel et al., 2011). The fitted single-tree volume growth models revealed that asymmetric competition was stronger than symmetric competition, suggesting light competition (above-ground resources) as the main driver limiting growth in these mixtures. This was expected as both species are considered light demanding, though Scots pine is relatively more shade tolerant.

Differentiation of intra- and inter-specific competition has also provided useful information for inferring species interactions that influence tree growth (Manso et al., 2015) and whether niche complementarity occurs above-ground or below-ground (Río et al., 2014). For Scots pine, competition with Maritime pine was less intense than intra-specific asymmetric competition. This indicates a degree of complementarity or reduced competition for above-ground niche occupation or

light interception, especially if we consider that Maritime pine mainly occupies the dominant canopy layer and larger size-distribution class (Table 2.3) and that Scots pine can grow in half-light conditions (Gaudio et al., 2011). In contrast, Maritime pine tree growth was more strongly influenced by the competition structure (symmetric and asymmetric) than by the specific composition of the competition (intra- and inter-specific), indicating that growth depends more on size than on species identity. This is explained by the greater shade intolerance of Maritime pine, which as mentioned dominates the canopy layer and the larger size-distribution classes in mixture stands, where access to light is less affected by species-mixing (lower SDIRLinter values, Table 2.3). The effect of intra-specific symmetric competition was more intense than that of inter-specific symmetric competition (lower and non-significant) in both species. This may explain the results at the stand level, as it indicates reduced competition for belowground resource extraction for both species in the mixture.

Combining both competition structure models resulted in a clearly positive mixture effect for Scots pine, while the mixture effect could be overridden at tree level for Maritime pine. This might apply to dominant trees especially, due to the stronger and negative effects of inter-specific asymmetric competition (Figure 4.2). It also means that inter-specific competition and complementarity co-occur. However, we think that upscaling these interactions to stand level would depend on size distribution, which should be considered to understand the extent to which the specific mixture effect deviates stand growth in mixtures as compared to pure stands. The differences detected in our study may correspond to the fact that Maritime pine occupied the dominant social classes in the mixtures. Thus, any neutral or negative mixing effect on suppressed trees would have little influence and result in a positive net effect when aggregated at the stand level.

Differences in species-mixing effects at stand and tree levels have also been found in other mixtures, such as *Pinus sylvestris* – *Quercus petraea* L. (Perot and Picard, 2012) and *Pinus sylvestris* – *Fagus sylvatica* (Condés et al., 2013; del Río et al., 2014a). Tree size distribution is a crucial issue when upscaling from tree to stand level (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016, 2014); mortality differences between mixed and monospecific stands can modify size distribution and influence upscaling. For instance, mixing might increase mortality in suppressed trees of the more lightdemanding species, while decreasing mortality in the less light-demanding one (Condés and del Río, 2015).

Regarding the reliability of results at the two levels studied (tree and stand), it is important to note that tree-level results might be influenced by functions used (tree volume allometric equations, height-diameter relationships) for upscaling from tree to and level. Since these functions are usually not available for mixed stands, the functions developed for pure stands are commonly used (del Río et al., 2016) and add uncertainty to the results.

5.2 Emerging differences: species-mixing and stand structural attributes

5.2.1 Crown allometry plasticity

Tree crown morphology was significantly influenced by interspecific competition. Vertical crown extension of Maritime pine was greater in mixed versus pure stands, especially in larger trees (Figure 4.3), which is consistent with studies showing that interspecific interactions affect species-specific allometric relationships (Forrester et al., 2017a; Pretzsch, 2014). This may signify niche partitioning processes resulting from the slow, continual feedback between structure, environment and tree growth in mixed stands (Pretzsch, 2014). Crown plasticity, or the ability of trees to develop complementary crown morphologies in response to changes in their local competitive environment, is a critical element that promotes efficient canopy packing and reduces the intensity of light competition in mixed forests (Ishii and Asano, 2010; Jucker et al., 2015).

Though the variability of allometric relationships was partially explained by the inclusion of stand composition in the model (Table 4.5), the intra-specific differences of tree height for given diameter in monspecific versus mixed stands could not be attributed to species-mixing alone. Density and canopy structures across plots, which can be partially attributed to interspecific interactions, might also modify crown allometry and tree morphology. Thus, including stand structural variables in allometric equations could help account for variability in stand densities (Calama and Montero, 2004). In addition, Vizcaíno-Palomar et al., (2016) observed variation in the inter-population tree height allometry of both Maritime pine and Scots pine, resulting from adaptive responses to local environments (climate and geographical sites of origin) or their past genetic background. This indicates that allometric relationships are not a static trait for any species (Forrester et al., 2017) and underscores the need to develop individual tree-based growth models for mixed stands.

5.2.2 Changes in structural heterogeneity driven by species-mixing

Stand structure and species diversity are crucial drivers that affect most forest functions and services (Gadow et al., 2012; Pretzsch, 2014). Detailed information on stand structures and size-distribution is needed for upscaling mixing effects from the individual tree to the species or stand level, thereby improving our understanding and modeling of mixed-species stand dynamics (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015; Pretzsch, 2014).

For some structural traits (Table 4.7 Mixexp/Pure), differences between the two species (monoculture compared to the weighted mean of both monocultures) were enough to increase structural heterogeneity through species-mixing alone, resulting in an additive effect. This implies that these species can show complementary traits in vertical stand structure related to crown architecture and differences in their ability to grow in low light conditions (Gaudio et al., 2011; Sánchez-Gómez et al., 2006). However, information about the differences between species morphology and stand structure in pure stands is insufficient for predicting crown vertical extension, crown packing or structural heterogeneity resulting from emerging species-mixing effects. This multiplicative effect revealed new structural and morphological aspects resulting from species interactions (Forrester, 2014; Pretzsch, 2014). At the stand level, vertical stratification and volume growth inequality emerged as the most meaningful multiplicative effects of species interaction in mixed stands (Figure 4.6: Mixobs/Mixexp). However, most of the mixed-species size-distribution ratios that differed significantly from pure stands at this level showed opposite species reaction traits, which counteracted each other and overrode the mixing effects at the whole stand level. Counterbalancing effects at the species level was also observed in mixtures with more contrasting morphological traits between species (Pretzsch et al., 2016).

Enhanced vertical layering through species-mixing could be traced to structural trait shifts in Maritime pine growing in mixture versus pure stands, which contrasts with the steady structural performance of Scots pine in mixed versus pure stands. Vertical heterogeneity (Figure 4.6), differences in allometric equations (Figure 4.3) and mixing effects on mean tree sizes (Table 4.6) resulted in stand structures in which Maritime pine tended to occupy the dominant canopy layer and larger size-distribution classes more in mixtures, compared to inter-specific size-distribution and vertical structure in monospecific stands. Previous studies analyzed the mixture effect on dominant height (Menalled et al., 1998; Pinto et al., 2008; Pretzsch et al., 2015a), their results shows that inter-specific competition for light in mixed forests can modify tree height growth, mean height or dominant. However, the magnitude of the mixture effect on dominant height depending on species interactions (Vallet and Perot, 2016) as well as stand density (Amoroso and Turnblom, 2006).

Complementarity or reduced competition due to the space released by Scots pine for above-ground niche occupation is probably enabled by the slight differences in light-use strategies between the two species. This has implications for crown architecture in species subjected to heavy competition for light (Ishii and Asano, 2010; Jucker et al., 2015). Jucker et al. (2014) reported that shifts in size distribution and crown structure in mixed versus pure stands acted as mechanisms for inducing the positive effects of species-mixing by enhancing light use efficiency in *Pinus sylvestris* and *Pinus nigra* mixtures.

5.2.3 Ecological explanation of mixing effects on productivity and structure

We observed greater relative volume productivity in mixed stands compared to pure stands (Table 4.6 and Figure S2), derived from the significant over-yielding of Maritime pine; whereas the relative productivity of Scots pine remained steady and was unaffected by mixing. These results partially agreed with the results of *Study I* (Section 5.1.2), where species-mixing increased productivity at the stand level and large-scale mutual benefits were observed for both species. This might be due to differences in environmental conditions between the two studies, which may cause spatial variations in over-yielding or mixing effects (Forrester, 2014; Toïgo et al., 2015).

Despite the over-yielding observed, the variability in relative productivity among triplets (Figure S2) highlights the complexity of the different processes that influence net complementarity effects between species. Mixing effects depend on stand development stage, stand density and site conditions (Cavard et al., 2011; Condés et al., 2013; Mina et al., 2017). In some cases, opposite patterns even appear between species in the same mixture (Amoroso and Turnblom, 2006; Pretzsch et al., 2010; del Río, et al., 2014; Toïgo et al., 2015). It is also relevant to note that though the stands had not been managed for about ten years, some of the crown architectural and stand structural traits observed in mixed stands might represent earlier silviculture interference more than the species-specific ability to appropriate resources or adapt to competition. Uncertainty in the observed mixing effect due to past management could not be quantified here.

Some degree of niche partitioning is required for coexisting species and can be reflected in crown characteristics, vertical leaf profiles, shade tolerance or differences in growth phenology (Aldea et al., 2018; Jucker et al., 2015; Toïgo et al., 2017). Nonetheless, small differences in species structural traits can trigger positive interspecific effects through complementarity or competition reduction mechanisms (Jucker et al., 2014b). In this study, over-yielding at the stand level was related to vertical structural heterogeneity resulting from species interaction (Table 4.8), which increased mixed-species stand productivity compared to monocultures. In other words, crown complementarity in canopy space can be thought of as a mechanism that links biodiversity with ecosystem productivity (Forrester et al., 2018). Similar relationships have been observed in recent studies for mixtures involving the main Central European temperate (Dănescu et al., 2016; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016) and North American temperate-boreal tree species (Williams et al., 2017).

Vertical structure has notable effects on light-demanding species such as pines, which in single-species stands tend to exhibit suppressed growth due to light competition (Gómez-Aparicio et al., 2011). The processes involved in the positive relationship between crown complementarity and over-yielding in mixed stands have been associated with maximized light capture and/or light-use efficiency (Forrester et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2017). Both processes are closely related to crown size characteristics (Binkley et al., 2013). For example, crown projection area has been used to measure species growing-space occupancy and to study growing-space efficiency as a proxy for light interception in mixed stands (Dirnberger et al., 2017; Mainwaring and Maguire, 2004). Using this approach on the same Scots pine-Maritime pine triplets, Cattaneo et al. (2017) observed that the tree level growth efficiency of *P. pinaster* increased in mixture, while *P. sylvestris* showed no benefits from admixture. Their findings concur with the differences in relative productivity described in Section 4.2.4 of the present work (Table 4.6). Consequently, relationships between crown characteristics and tree growth or canopy characteristics and stand growth in mixed stands indicate that, for these trees, crown allometric plasticity and vertical stratification in the canopy can vary in response to local competitive environmental conditions. This is highly relevant in terms of productivity gains or losses.

Species-specific physiological and morphological plasticity responses to shade conditions allow light-demanding species to coexist (Gratani, 2014; Valladares et al., 2002). In experimental trials with seedlings, Scots pine was able to grow in low light conditions (Gaudio et al., 2011) due to greater total carotenoid concentration and higher chlorophyll ratios in response to shade than Maritime pine (Sánchez-Gómez et al., 2006)., The combination of higher crown plasticity in Maritime pine (Vizcaíno-Palomar et al., 2016), slight differences in shade tolerance between species (Poorter et al., 2012) and the higher physiological plasticity of Scots pine (Gaudio et al., 2011; Sánchez-Gómez et al., 2006) might allowed the two species to develop a multi-layered vertical structure and complementary crown architectures when they grew in mixtures. Thus, intercepted light could also be used more efficiently, suggesting that light-related interactions may contribute to the mixing effect on stand productivity.

5.3 Inter-annual differentiation of species sensitivity to drought

Both Scots pine and Maritime pine exhibited species-specific growth fluctuations in response to drought severity and nonlinear response variation among subject trees within species. These differences were captured in the multilevel analysis by assessing responses at successive levels of drought sensitivity. Differences in drought sensitivity between the two species have been observed in various Mediterranean environments (Lara et al., 2013; Sánchez-Salguero et al., 2012) due to species-specific responses to climatic conditions. For instance, climate growth association in the Iberian Range indicated that Scots pine growth depended mainly on summer rainfall (Bogino et al., 2009), while water availability in spring and early summer were the main growth predictors for Maritime pine (Bogino and Bravo, 2008). Moreover, correlations between growth and spring precipitation, as well as sensitivity to drought, have been increasing since the 1980s (Bogino and Bravo, 2008; Lara et al., 2013). The two species also displayed different physiological mechanisms related to their hydraulic capacity to deal with water deficits (Martínez-Vilalta et al., 2004). Maritime pine shows better water-use efficiency than Scots pine (Martínez-Vilalta and Piñol, 2002), which has less geographical plasticity in xylem traits for stomatal control (leaf-to-sapwood area ratio) (Martínez-Vilalta et al., 2009; Martínez-Vilalta and Piñol, 2002).

Irregular response patterns for Scots pine among plots and among trees within plots suggest that factors other than drought – such as genetic adaptations, competition, soil types, and physiographic position (elevation, slope, and aspect) – might also constrain growth and growth response to climate (Benito Garzón et al., 2011; Lara et al., 2013). For instance, competition seems to be a much more relevant driver for growth than drought for Scots pine at high altitudes, where low temperatures mainly limit growth (Sánchez-Salguero et al., 2015b). Our results also indicate that sensitivity decreased with increasing age in Scots pine, while fluctuation patterns remained similar across age classes for Maritime pine. However, we cannot attribute this effect directly to age; it is likely an indirect age-related effect of different competition levels among plots. Younger stands with less inter-tree competition that are exposed to more severe and frequent drought events in early development stages could become more sensitive to climate variability than older stands, where competition constrains growth dynamics.

Our findings confirm that severe droughts negatively impact tree growth in both species. Maritime pine showed greater growth reduction during the extreme drought events, but greater recovery indices compared to Scots pine. The greater resilience of Maritime pine was expected, since this and other Mediterranean pine species can experience higher recovery rates after strong drought stress and thereby avoid catastrophic xylem embolism (Martínez-Vilalta et al., 2004). Maritime pine exhibits extensive local adaptive variability and resilience to drought across its distribution area (Sánchez-Salguero et al., 2018). Scots pine, however, was found to have less growth resilience when it co-existed with other pines, such as Aleppo pine and Black pine (Granda et al., 2018a; Marqués et al., 2016). Although size-dependence on growth resilience to drought was reported (Ding et al., 2017; Merlin et al., 2015), the fact that only dominant trees were considered in this study might explain why tree size had no apparent effect during the drought years analyzed. Moreover, older trees recovered less well after

extreme drought events, which coincides with findings of previous studies (Bogino and Bravo, 2009; Martínez-Vilalta et al., 2012).

The species-specific oscillating patterns over time between rBAI and SPEI and tree-growth resilience to drought events observed in this section support the hypothesis that temporal species niche differentiation could contribute to species coexistence. However, species-mixing effects were absent in growth-drought fluctuations and reactions to drought, when comparing mixed and pure stands. This is in line with studies showing that species mixing does not necessarily reduce drought stress on growth (Grossiord et al., 2014) and that physiological characteristics, in terms of water-related interactions, can be helpful for analyzing the potential complementarity of species in mixed stands (Forrester et al., 2016; Grossiord et al., 2015). Our results show an additive or selection effect (Kelty, 1992; Loreau and Hector, 2001) of sensitivity to drought when both species coexist.

Extrinsic factors or microsite conditions such as soil depth, water-holding capacity, water table depth, organic matter or nutrient content may alter drought resilience and growt*h*-*d*rought fluctuations in these two pines. López-Marcos et al. (2017) found higher levels of carbon stock and water holding capacity above the 50 cm soil profile in mixed and pure stands of these species. This is directly related to soil water available and would affect tree growth. The subject requires attention in future research.

5.4 Intra-annual radial growth complementarity

The intra-annual unimodal pattern for both species was confirmed using the single-Richard function fitted with dendrometer records. The result matched the intra-annual growth pattern for Scots pine observed by Camarero et al. (2010), but differed from the bi-modal pattern reported by Aldea et al. (2017) and Vieira et al. (2014) for Maritime pine in other locations. These differences could be partially explained by the annual water balance in the study area, which indicated a slight summer drought (Walter & Lieth index= 0.18, Figure 2.7) compared to the drier Mediterranean environments studied by Aldea et al. (2017) and Vieira et al. (2014). In colder mesic conditions, a bimodal pattern is less likely than in xeric sites because cambial activity is concentrated in the spring (Camarero et al., 2010). This might also explain the failure convergence of the double-Richard function, especially for the inflection point and increment rate corresponding to cumulative radial increase during the autumn.

Intra-annual cumulative radial increment functions showed species-specific patterns and intra-specific differences for some function parameters depending on stand composition (Figure 4.12). Differences in inter-specific intra-annual patterns in pure stands result from each species' particular growth strategies and responses to growth conditions. The radial growth asynchrony between species indicates

temporal niche complementarity and supports the explanation of the mechanisms involved in the over-yielding observed in mixed stands (del Río et al., 2017). In both species, temperature and water availability are the main factors that determine the onset and duration of xylogenesis (Camarero et al., 2010; Vieira et al., 2014). However, their responses to climatic conditions, even intra-specific sensitivity to drought (Lara et al., 2013; Sánchez-Salguero et al., 2018), vary across the Mediterranean region (Bogino et al., 2009; Bogino and Bravo, 2008).

Species-mixing accentuated the asynchrony of intra-annual growth patterns between Scots pine and Maritime pine in mixed stands. This implies greater temporal niche complementarity than would be expected based on species behavior in monospecific stands: a multiplicative effect. Such asynchrony in intraannual growth patterns may lead to reduced competition for resources during part of the growing season. For example, Rötzer et al. (2017) explain the intraannual growth asynchrony between Norway spruce and European beech as temporal diversification of below-ground resource exploitation. Temporal niche complementarity in mixed stands has been also observed at inter-annual scale in different mixtures (del Río et al., 2017, 2014b).

In this study, the cumulative intra-annual radial pattern was not controlled exclusively by species identity or stand composition. Tree size determined the value of the asymptote for Maritime pine and altered the function symmetry for Scots pine, which is related to the inflection point of the intra-annual pattern. The size distribution differences between species in pure and mixed stands that were observed in *Study II* (section 5.2) could explain the effect of tree size on the intra-annual pattern.

Using results from band dendrometers to determine the timing of phenology phases can be inaccurate or misleading in some cases. For example, radial growth onset in early spring can be confused with stem rehydration after frost-induced shrinkage during winter (Turcotte et al., 2011; Zweifel and Hasler, 2000). However, studies combining xylogenesis with dendrometer measurements have described comparable radial growth patterns from both methods (Deslauriers et al., 2007; Oberhuber and Gruber, 2010; Swidrak et al., 2013), though functions relying on dendrometer data may generate greater asymptotes than functions based on cell production data (Cocozza et al., 2016).

5.5 Performance of empirical models for mixed stands

Species mixing had contrasting effects between species in both the generalized h-d and basal area growth models. Models adapted to mixed stands rely on data from temporally plots grouped in triplets and located along the overlapping distribution area of Scots pine and Maritime pine in the Northern Iberian Range (Figure 2.3). Mixed and pure plots covered the prevalent stand development

stages, site conditions and mixing proportions in the region, and were exposed to same silviculture regime within triplets. This design is effective because it allows control of some stand conditions analogous to blocking, avoiding confounding factors at least for part of the stand development (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015; Vallet and Perot, 2016). In this way, estimates of tree height and basal area growth would accurately represent the species interaction effects in the adapted models for mixed stands.

5.5.1 Influence of species-mixing in tree height estimation

For both species, *h-d* models described a large proportion of the variation in tree height among plots and exhibited no substantial trends in the residual that indicated bias (Figure S6). This result suggested that the selected base model (Eq. [4.1] and [4.2]) fit the data appropriately. The final fitted models for mixed species stands differed from the basic formulation of the models developed by Lizarralde et al. (2010a, 2010b) for the same species in pure stands , both included stand variables that reduced bias and increased the precision of the model estimates (Calama and Montero, 2004). Testing predictions from these new equations on an independent dataset showed modest increases in the accuracy of height estimates for trees growing in mixed and pure stands (Table 4.13 and Figure 4.13).

Species dominant height and basal area for Maritime pine and Scots pine were significant in the generalized *h*-*d* models. Though the same variables have already been used in several *h*-*d* functions for mixed species stands (Temesgen et al., 2014; Vargas-Larreta et al., 2009), the stand dominant height and total basal area are polled over all species were considered rather than species-specific values. Dominant height is important to site quality as defined by stand growth and yield capacity, while stand basal area measures competition and density (Zeide and VanderSchaaf, 2002). Particularly for mixed stands, including species-specific Ho and BA could be advantageous for modelling the more complex effects of the vertical structure compared to pure stands (Pretzsch, 2014), as well as the differential influence of the inter-specific competitive environment (Huang et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2017). However, though other tree and stand variables such as stand age or spatially explicit competition indices may also improve the predictive capacity of the *h*-*d* relationships (Weiskittel et al., 2011), these were not included because they require a substantial increase in the cost of forest inventory, which restrict the practical application of the developed predictive functions.

The structure of Eq. [4.1] and [4.2] consider Ho_{sp} and rHo as complementary parameters that describe the canopy structure and species dominance in the generalized *h*-*d* function. Thus, Ho_{sp} defines the position of the species in the canopy and act as asymptote in the model. Meanwhile, *rHo* reflects the interspecific competition environment for light in mixed stands and reducing the total

height of Scots pine, as Maritime pine trees overtop Scots pine. The varying magnitude of the effects of species-mixing in the *h*-*d* relationship observed for other mixtures (Erickson et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2009; Thurm and Pretzsch, 2016) , suggest that the degree of differences in the *h*-*d* relationships might also depend on shade tolerance and stand density.

Predictions from the h-d models to the triplets data for both species performed better than the estimates from the available h-d models for pure stands (Lizarralde et al., 2010a, 2010b). Besides the inclusion of the terms that express the speciesmixing effect in the structure of h-d models, the application of the NLME modeling approach considers the hierarchal structure of the data and increased proportion of variation in height accounted for compared to estimates from fixed-effects nonlinear least squares models (Calama and Montero, 2004; Pinheiro and Bates, 2000). Increasing the accuracy of tree height estimations in mixed stands has important implications, as differences in tree morphology directly affect crown competition, stem volume, biomass production, mechanical stability and wood quality predictions.

Section 5.2 showed that changes in the vertical structure of mixed stands, compared to pure stands, resulted from species interaction rather than the simple combination of species with different traits and structural morphology. The heterogeneity in vertical structural of mixed stands has been related to overyielding at the stand level (Section 5.2.3) or greater stand productivity than in single-species stands, which has also been observed in other studies (Dănescu et al., 2016; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016; Vallet and Perot, 2016). These results underscore the need to generate reliable models that account for species interactions in mixed-species stand dynamics.

5.5.2 Adapting the tree basal area growth model for mixed stands

Size-symmetric and size-asymmetric competition had different effects on basal area growth rates of the two species. Maritime pine was more sensitive to asymmetric competition than Scots pine, suggesting greater sensitivity to competition for light (Pretzsch and Biber, 2010). In contrast, size-symmetric competition described with SDIR was the predominant competitive driver in Scots pine in regard to restricting tree growth and representing below-ground competition (Weiskittel et al., 2011). However, our analysis showed clearly different inter-specific competition effects on basal area growth rates for the two species. The empirical models showed that a reduction in inter-specific competition for light was only relevant for Maritime pine, whereas Scots pine growth was relatively unaffected by mixing. This competition reduction implies an increased tree growth rate for Maritime pine growing in mixture with Scots pine, compared to homogeneous pure stands. These results are consistent with the

species competitive relationships observed for Maritime pine using NFI data (section 4.1.3 and 5.1.3) but diverge in the case of Scots pine. The different spatial scale of the data used in both analyses might explain these discrepancies.

Although deciphering the ecological causes of these interactions were not the aim of this section, we can suggest some possibilities. For example, species-specific plastic response of physiological and morphological traits to shade conditions (Gaudio et al., 2011; Sánchez-Gómez et al., 2006) or responses of crown plasticity to competitive pressure (Vizcaíno-Palomar et al., 2016) might be associated with light mediated interactions. Navarro-Cerrillo et al. (2016) found greater growth gain of Maritime pine over Scots pine when a change of light conditions was induced by thinning in mixed stands. However, in mixed stands with lightdemanding species such as pines, the degree of differential preferences for light is probably not the single controlling mechanism in positive (Jucker et al., 2014b), negative (Liang et al., 2007) or null (Garber and Maguire, 2004) growth effects observed. Complementarity traits for securing below-ground resources, such as differences in water use efficiency (Navarro-Cerrillo et al., 2016) or growth responses to drought (Granda et al., 2018b), need special attention. These were analyzed and discussed in Sections 5.3 and 5.4.

Though site index is frequently used in growth models to account for site-related variation in inherent productivity (Wykoff, 1990), the fact that the age-dependent site index was not significant in any final basal area growth models could be advantageous. Species-specific site index equations based on stand age are usually not available for multi-species stands (del Río et al., 2016) because, as our findings confirm, interspecific competition may suppress top height growth for different stand stages in stand development (Jucker et al., 2015; Pretzsch, 2014) altering the height-age relationships and bias SI estimations (Dănescu et al., 2017; Pinto et al., 2008). Although site index based on reference diameter are available in Spain (Moreno-Fernández et al., 2018), caution is advised in their application because of inherent greater sensitivity of diameter growth to stand density relative to height growth (Wang, 1998; Weiskittel et al., 2011). This applies especially to mixed-species stands, where stand density can alter growth dynamics (Condés et al., 2013; Forrester et al., 2013; Garber and Maguire, 2004).

5.5.3 Implications for tree-level model for mixed stands

The generalized *h*-*d* and individual-tree basal area increment models developed in this study can be used for Scots pine and Maritime pine trees growing in pure and mixed stands. The effect of the inter-specific competitive environment was successfully represented in the structure of the models. Combining the mixed-effect models approach with parameters expressing species mixing enhanced the performance of tree height and basal area growth estimates compared to previous

models that had been fitted for pure stands (Lizarralde et al., 2010a, 2010b). The superior performance of multilevel mixed models over fixed-effects models fitted to more complex sampling designs in which plots can be considered to impose random effect, has already been widely discussed in the literature (Calama and Montero, 2004; Pinheiro and Bates, 2000). However, the magnitude of variations in allometric relationships and tree growth due to species-mixing is a subject of intense debate, with evidence of adverse and positive effects that depend on multiple, simultaneously driven factors (Chamagne et al., 2017; Forrester et al., 2017; Jucker et al., 2014b; Mina et al., 2017; Pretzsch, 2014). Therefore, application of these models is restricted to the data range as well as to the Northern Iberian Range, since species-mixing effects can vary among regions. This was demonstrated by the results comparing the different spatial scales analyzed in this thesis.

The adaptation of IBERO model to mixed species stands can be used as a decisionsupport tool for evaluating the impact of different silvicultural options in a context of sustainable forest management. In this Section, species-specific new models are proposed for adapting *h*-*d* function and growth sub-modules of the tree-level IBERO model to mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine in the Northern Iberian Range. Both height-diameter relationships and basal area growth equations might have greater effects on tree-level models in terms of gains or losses in productivity due to species interactions, as demonstrated in Section 5.1.3 and 5.2.3.

Obviously, other IBERO sub-modules require analysis to determine the speciesmixing effects on the complete model structure and evaluate the performance of growth estimates on mixed stands simulations. Several studies have demonstrated that species mixing can have significant effects on species crown size and shape (Barbeito et al., 2017; Sharma et al., 2017), taper equations, height growth (Pinto et al., 2008; Russell et al., 2014) and mortality rates (Condés and del Río, 2015; Rathbun et al., 2010), all of which could influence mixed-species stand productivity. The IBERO site quality sub-module interrelates with a different component in the model structure and relies on age-related site index curves developed for both species in monospecific conditions. Although site index was not included in the structure of the model developed in this study, several authors have demonstrated that species interaction effects change according to site conditions (Forrester and Bauhus, 2016; Mina et al., 2017; Toïgo et al., 2015). Hence, alternative methods for evaluating site quality based on geocentric measures (Bravo-Oviedo and Montero, 2005; Bravo and Montero, 2001; Bueis et al., 2016) could be used to establish a suitable productivity index for mixed-species stands (Dănescu et al., 2017).

5.6 Synthesis

The study of mixed-stand dynamics for Scots pine and Maritime pine provided information about species interactions at different levels and scales, as well as their consequences on mixed-stand functioning and dynamics regarding to growth and yield. Analyses of the processes and components involved in mixedstand dynamics were integrated according to the theoretical framework established in Figure 1.1. Hence, this thesis evaluated the hypothesis that species interactions and their specific functional traits produce changes in stand productivity, stand and tree structure, and tree growth dynamics compared to monospecific stands. Additionally, this work has contributed to the adaption of the tree-level IBERO model to mixed stands. Further effort is certainly needed to arrive at a comprehensive representation of mixed-stand dynamics, which would better inform evaluation of the suitability of alternative forest management strategies for promoting and maintaining mixed stands in the Northern Iberian Range.

In the following sections, the main findings are discussed to provide an overview of the effects of species interaction on the functioning of mixed stand dynamics. The research questions addressed in the different studies that compose this thesis are combined to describe how the observed species-mixing effects were linked from stand to tree level (*Study I, II* and *V*) and how tree growth dynamics were used to analyze temporal complementarity between species (*Study III* and *IV*). We highlight the uncertainty related to the results and research questions directly derived from these studies. Lastly, we look at implications for forest management and draft some recommendations for future research.

5.6.1 Linking of species-mixing effects among levels and scales

The approach established for this research confirmed the importance of combining different levels and scales in the analysis of mixed-stand growth dynamics. Results were consistent between stand and tree levels within both national and regional spatial scales analyzed. At national scale, species-mixing affected productivity at stand-level and growth at tree-level in both species (*Study I*), while at regional scale species-mixing effects were only observed for Maritime pine from tree to stand level (*Study II*). The clear discrepancies between national and regional scales could be attributed to the intrinsically greater environmental variability of NFI data compared to the triplets data used in the regional analysis. In the analysis at national scale, we did not detect a climate gradient that altered species-mixing effects on stand productivity. However, several other studies have shown that site quality and climatic conditions can change the effects of species interaction in positive or negative directions depending on the environmental gradient analyzed and the species combination (Huber et al., 2014; Mina et al.,
2017; Toïgo et al., 2015). This issue requires further analysis to explore the sitedependent conditions of species interactions in relation to forest productivity for this mixture, mainly because growth of both species can vary along environmental gradients. For example, rising temperatures across the distribution range of both species in Iberian forests had more negative effects on mountain pines – like Scots pine – than Maritime pine (Gómez-Aparicio et al., 2011). Similarly, growth sensitivity was found to differ between the species observed in *Study III*. Furthermore, the method for quantifying the effects of species-mixing depends on the maximum stand density of each species, which vary along an aridity gradient in Iberian pinewoods (Aguirre et al., 2018), thereby influencing in the results between national and regional scales.

The competitive relationship between species that affected tree growth differed between the scales analyzed, in Study I and II. Species competitive responses are not constant and can vary spatially along ecological gradients in mixed stands (Pretzsch and Biber, 2010). Interestingly, our results showed that inter-specific competition and complementarity relationships co-occur, when comparing sizesymmetric and size-asymmetric competition, for example. This indicates that regardless of the scale analyzed, species exhibited unbalanced competitive relationships for above-ground and below-ground resources, though the magnitude and direction of positive or negative net effects varied among levels. Additionally, climate or site conditions can modify competitive interactions between species (Ammer, 2016; Condés and del Río, 2015). Analyzing the dependence of intra- and inter-specific competition on site conditions might improve understanding of how niche differentiation and the species-specific requirements of coexisting trees can improve access to limiting site resources. This knowledge is also essential for developing tools such as climate-sensitive growth models for evaluating forest management options under different climate scenarios.

The results for species-mixing effects among levels at regional scale (*Study II and Study V*) corroborated findings from other studies (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016; Williams et al., 2017) and support the hypothesis set in this thesis, that differences in species structural traits trigger positive interspecific effects through complementarity or competition reduction. Species-mixing increased structural heterogeneity, leading to greater productivity and over-yielding compared to neighboring monocultures of Scots pine and Maritime pine (*Study II*). Species-mixing effects at regional scale were also coherent between stand and tree level (*Study II* and *V*). Competition reduction implied an increase in tree growth and stand productivity for Maritime pine only, while growth of Scots pine remained steady and unaffected by mixing at both levels.

The findings presented in this work highlight the relevance of analyzing size distribution and canopy structure to improve understanding of how the effects of species interactions, or emerging properties from species-mixing, affect productivity and can be adequately transmitted from tree to stand level. These outcomes reinforce the idea that the ability to develop an environment of crown complementarity, attributable to both intra-specific and inter-specific differences in crown size plasticity and size-distribution differentiation, is a crucial mechanism for enhancing productivity (Ishii and Asano, 2010; Jucker et al., 2015; Pretzsch, 2014), especially in mixtures of light-demanding species.

In Study III and IV, analyses of growth patterns at inter- and intra-annual scales depicted temporal complementarity traits for resource uptake and use between species that help explain the effects of species mixing. While it is well known that water shortage during the growing season reduces secondary growth, the shortand long-term consequences of drought on forest growth and tree vigor require greater attention in the current context of climate change (Camarero et al., 2018). Study III short-term analysis showed the impact of dry spells on tree growth by assessing species drought tolerance and resilience to drought, whereas long-term growth trends revealed responses to continuous processes such as climate warming or decreasing water availability. Clearly, both species displayed specific long-term fluctuations and different short-term reactions of tree growth to drought, which were unaffected by species-mixing. In other words, Maritime pine trees disassembled faster from the effects of long-term drought and they recovered better dry spells than Scots pine trees. Previous studies have demonstrated an increase in drought sensitivity over the last 50 years, partially due to the carryover effects of depleted soil water reserves and long-term morphological and/or physiological effects on plants (Lara et al., 2013), which can also trigger declines in forest productivity (Camarero et al., 2018; Prieto-Recio et al., 2015). This is especially important for Scots pine populations located near the southern-edge of species distribution, where they may face significant declines in productivity due to the more frequent and severe droughts predicted for the Mediterranean region (Sánchez-Salguero et al., 2017).

Intra-annual growth pattern variations between species revealed complementarity relationships or differentiated use of resources within the season when the two species coexist (*Study IV*). Species-mixing also modified the intra-annual growth patterns in Scots pine compared to pure stands. This accentuates the asynchrony between species, which may imply variations in phenology or physiological plasticity in the use of resources. However, this analysis only represents behavior during one growing season. Including multi-annual measurements could make it possible to test how climate variables affect change in intra-annual patterns. Extending the study to stands with different endogenous conditions (age, density,

site quality) may also help to improve the accuracy of the results. Analysis of both inter-annual and intra-annual temporal scales highlighted the degree of temporal complementarity between Scots pine and Maritime pine in mixed stands. Inspection of within-season and multiannual climate variability would require extra consideration in the analysis of mixed stand dynamics for sites where such information could determine forest composition and productivity.

Altogether, these results contribute critical new knowledge to our understanding of important ecological questions and methodological approaches for the analysis of species interactions and mixed-stand dynamics in Scots pine-Maritime pine mixtures. It will also inform and assist the development of new guidelines for maintaining and managing mixed-species stands.

5.6.2 Implications for forest management and future research questions

In the Northern Iberian Range, forest management has a long tradition of promoting timber production and nature conservation, which are the most important ecosystem services for local communities. Though Scots pine wood has higher economic value and silviculture practices mainly focus on maintaining this species, the advantages associated with the complexity and diversity of mixed stands, as described in this thesis, have encouraged forest managers to demand general management standards for mixed forests. However, species-mixing and changes in structural heterogeneity may modify tree morphology, thereby altering wood quality (Pretzsch and Rais, 2016; Zeller et al., 2017). Hence wood quality is a relevant attribute that must be addressed because harvesting Scots pine provides income for landowners in the region.

Species selection and control of stand density through thinning are the main management decisions taken at strategic and operational levels, respectively. However, information regarding thinning of mixed-species stands is scarce. Traditionally, silvicultural practices in mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine favored the former due to its better wood quality. In this research, the main uncertainty was related to the impact of past management on species-mixing effects, because altering stand density through thinning could increase or reduce complementary effects. Hence, future studies that describe how management practices modify interactions between species would provide a key piece to complement the development of sound management prescriptions for mixed stands.

Additionally, silvicultural regimes for mixed stands are inevitably more challenging compared with those developed for monospecific stands, and their complexity and operation cost typically increases with the compositional and stand structural heterogeneity (Bauhus et al., 2017b; O'Hara, 2014). However, tree species mixtures with similar growth rates and shade tolerance, as the species analyzed in this thesis, could require less silvicultural interventions through repeated thinning for maintaining the benefit of species interactions than for example mixtures with light- demanding species that grow slower or reach a lower maximum height than competing shade-tolerant species (Kerr, 2004). Thus, maintain the desired structure and composition of mixed stands will require similar management cost that pure stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine but potentially improving productivity and ecosystem services that might promote their implementation rather than simply considering the economic returns.

As mentioned in previous sections, other components of mixed stand dynamics that require attention include mortality, recruitment and regeneration. These processes have long-term effects and contain information for understanding the temporal development of mixed stands beyond one rotation. Defining the impact of forest management on the persistence of tree species in mixtures for longer than one rotation and the extent to which mixture transcendence requires substantial intervention to maintain species coexistence (Cordonnier et al., 2018). Long-term experiment plots would help forest managers to assess practices for maintaining mixed stands and avoiding that forest dynamics that can derive in monospecific scenarios.

Finally, this thesis corroborates the positive species-mixing effects observed for different species mixture assemblage and environmental conditions. Scots pine-Maritime pine mixed stands showed increased productivity (>10%) compared to pure stands and demonstrated greater resilience due to the temporal complementarity of the two species. Consistently, this has significant implications for forest management in the region, because maintaining and promoting mixed-species stands presents multiple benefits for the provision of ecosystem services, such as timber production and biodiversity conservation, as well as carbon storage and protection against natural hazards (e.g., drought), though the last was only additive, it constitutes an advantage over pure stands.

6. Conclusions

- Analysis of NFI data showed an increase in productivity at stand and tree level in mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine compared to monospecific stands. Species mixing produced a mutual gain in productivity at stand level for both species in mixture stands, but different tree growth responses to inter-specific competition for each species. NFI data made it possible to identify the main large-scale interactions between the two species in mixture and suggests that light competition is the main driver limiting growth.
- 2. Mixing species induced greater vertical structure heterogeneity and sizedistribution changes in mixed stands, compared to the structural traits observed in pure stands. Differences were observed in tree crown allometry and vertical stratification in the canopy, in response to the interspecific competitive environment. These changes result from Scots pine-Maritime pine interactions rather than the simple combination of two species with different traits and structural morphology in pure stands. In other words, the effect is multiplicative rather than additive.
- 3. Data from the triplets assay indicated increased relative volume productivity in mixed stands compared to pure stands. This is directly derived from the significant over-yielding of Maritime pine, whereas the relative productivity of Scots pine remained steady and unaffected by species mixing. Increased vertical structural heterogeneity in mixed stands was also related to over-yielding at the stand level.
- 4. Species-specific oscillations between tree growth fluctuations and drought severity over time, as well as indicator values comparing the resilience of Scots pine and Maritime pine to drought events, suggest species niche complementarity involving an efficient inter-annual use of resources. Both growth dynamics were unaffected by species interaction in mixed stands, showing that sensitivity to drought emerges as an additive mixing effect when both species coexist.

- 5. Cumulative intra-annual radial increment patterns for each species in pure stands result from species-specific growth strategies and responses to growth conditions. This points potential temporal to niche complementarity in intra-annual radial increment patterns between species. Species mixing also influenced intra-specific intra-annual patterns, accentuating the asynchrony between Scots pine and Maritime pine in mixed stands. The greater asynchrony of intra-annual growth patterns compared to the patterns expected for these species in monospecific stands may lead to reduced competition for resources in mixed stands during part of the growing season.
- 6. Integrating the variables that reflect species-mixing effects in the structure of models for estimating tree height and basal area increment in mixed stands enhanced the prediction performance compared to available models that had been parameterized for Scots pine and Maritime pine in pure stands. Both models could be incorporated into the tree-level IBERO model for estimating growth dynamics in mixed stands.
- 7. Finally, the results demonstrate a complexity of species-mixing effects that confirms the importance of considering different levels and scales in the analysis of growth dynamics for mixed stands. Competition and complementarity between species, as well as additive or multiplicative effects, may occur simultaneously in different aspects of mixed stand dynamics.

Conclusiones

- 1. El análisis con los datos de Inventario Forestal Nacional mostró un aumento en la productividad a nivel de rodal y árbol en masas mixtas de pino silvestre y pino negral en comparación con masas mono-específicas. Se observó que la mezcla de especies produce un incremento de la productividad a nivel de rodal para ambas especies, sin embargo, a nivel de árbol las respuestas del crecimiento a la competencia inter-específica fueron distintas entre ambas especies. Los datos de Inventario Forestal Nacional permitieron identificar las principales interacciones a gran escala cuando ambas especies coexisten, lo que sugirió que el principal factor limitante en el crecimiento en estas especies es la competencia por luz.
- 2. La mezcla de especies indujo cambios en la estructura vertical y en la distribución de tamaños en rodales mixtos en comparación con los rasgos estructurales esperados de las masas puras. Las principales diferencias en respuesta al entorno competitivo inter-específico se observaron en la alometría de la copa a nivel de árbol y la estratificación vertical del dosel. Estos cambios son el resultado de un efecto multiplicativo más que un efecto aditivo, es decir que los cambios observados en la estructura de las masas mixtas son el efecto de las interacciones entre el pino silvestre y pino negral en lugar de una simple combinación de especies con diferentes características estructurales y rasgos morfológicos.
- 3. El análisis de los datos de los tripletes mostró que la productividad relativa en volumen de las masas mixtas aumentó en comparación con las masas puras. Las diferencias se deben al incremento de productividad del pino negral cuando se encuentra en mezcla, mientras que la productividad relativa de pino albar se mantuvo estable en ambos tipos de masa, tanto puras como mixtas. El incremento de productividad en rodales mixtos se relacionó con el aumento de la heterogeneidad estructural vertical debido a la interacción entre especies.
- 4. Cada una de las especies comparadas reveló patrones específicos entre las fluctuaciones del crecimiento y la severidad de la sequía, y además mostraron diferentes valores de respuesta, recuperación y resiliencia a los

eventos específicos de sequía. La combinación de ambos resultados sugiere una complementariedad de nicho entre las especies, lo que implica un uso potencial más eficiente de recursos a escala interanual. La mezcla de especies no afectó la sensibilidad a la sequía en ninguna de los dos casos (fluctuaciones inter-anuales y respuestas específicas) y se entiende que es un efecto aditivo de la mezcla.

- 5. Los diferentes patrones de incremento radial intra-anual en ambas especies en las masas puras son el resultado de estrategias de crecimiento específicas de cada especie y de sus distintas respuestas a condiciones de Esto crecimiento. demuestra que las especies presentan una complementariedad potencial de nicho a escala temporal debido a patrones específicos de incremento radial intra-anual. Además, la mezcla de especies acentuó la asincronía de los patrones intra-anual de pino silvestre entre rodales puros y mixtos. Esta mayor asincronía entre especies observada en masas mixtas en comparación con los patrones esperados en rodales monoespecíficos se interpreta como una reducción de la competencia por los recursos en parte de la estación de crecimiento en rodales mixtos.
- 6. Los modelos de altura-diámetro e incremento de área basimétrica para ambas especies en masas mixtas incluyeron variables que reflejan los efectos de la interacción especies, esta estructura mejoró las estimaciones en comparación con los modelos disponibles para pino silvestre y pino negral parametrizados para rodales puros. Estos modelos pueden incorporarse dentro del modelo de árbol individual IBERO para simular de dinámica de crecimiento de ambas especies en masas mixtas.
- 7. Finalmente, los resultados demuestran la complejidad de los efectos de la mezcla de especies, y, confirma la importancia de considerar diferentes niveles y escalas en el análisis. Se destaca que las relaciones de competencia y complementariedad en la dinámica de crecimiento de las masas mixtas, así como efectos aditivos y multiplicativos debido a la mezcla de especies pueden ocurrir simultáneamente en diferentes componentes y a distintos niveles.

7. References

- Aguirre, A., del Río, M., Condés, S., 2018. Intra- and inter-specific variation of the maximum size-density relationship along an aridity gradient in Iberian pinewoods. For. Ecol. Manage. 411, 90–100.
- Aldea, J., Bravo, F., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Ruiz-Peinado, R., Rodríguez, F., del Río, M., 2017. Thinning enhances the species-specific radial increment response to drought in Mediterranean pine-oak stands. Agric. For. Meteorol. 237–238, 371–383.
- Aldea, J., Bravo, F., Vázquez-Piqué, J., Rubio-Cuadrado, A., del Río, M., 2018. Speciesspecific weather response in the daily stem variation cycles of Mediterranean pineoak mixed stands. Agric. For. Meteorol. 256–257, 220–230.
- Aldea, J., Martínez-Peña, F., Romero, C., Diaz-Balteiro, L., 2014. Participatory goal programming in forest management: An application integrating several ecosystem services. Forests 5, 3352–3371.
- Alía, R., Moro, J., Denis, J.B., Alia, R., 1997. Performance of *Pinus pinaster* provenances in Spain: interpretation of the genotype by environment interaction. Can. J. For. Res. 27, 1548–1559.
- Allen, C.D., Macalady, A.K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M., Kitzberger, T., Rigling, A., Breshears, D.D., Hogg, E.H. (Ted., Gonzalez, P., Fensham, R., Zhang, Z., Castro, J., Demidova, N., Lim, J.H., Allard, G., Running, S.W., Semerci, A., Cobb, N., 2010. A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 259, 660–684.
- Ammer, C., 2016. Unraveling the Importance of Inter- and Intraspecific Competition for the Adaptation of Forests to Climate Change. Prog. Bot. 78, 345–367.
- Amoroso, M.M., Turnblom, E.C., 2006. Comparing productivity of pure and mixed Douglas-fir and western hemlock plantations in the Pacific Northwest. Can. J. For. Res. 36, 1484–1496.
- Anderson, D.R., 2007. Model Based Inferences in the Life Sciences: a Primer on Evidence. Springer.
- Auñon, F.J., Alía, R., de Ron, D., del Barrio, J.M., others, Sanchez de Ron, D., Miguel, J. de, Garcia del Barrio, J.M., 2011. Sig-Forest. Visor Sig de especies forestales. Foresta 51, 38–43.
- Barbeito, I., Dassot, M., Bayer, D., Collet, C., Drössler, L., Löf, M., del Río, M., Ruiz-Peinado, R., Forrester, D.I., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Terrestrial laser scanning reveals differences in crown structure of *Fagus sylvatica* in mixed vs. pure European forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 405, 381–390.
- Barbeito, I., LeMay, V., Calama, R., Cañellas, I., 2011. Regeneration of Mediterranean *Pinus* sylvestris under two alternative shelterwood systems within a multiscale framework.

Can. J. For. Res. 41, 341–351.

Bartó, K., 2016. Package "MuMIn" Multi-Model Inference.

- Bauhus, J., Forrester, D.I., Pretzsch, H., 2017a. From Observations to Evidence About Effects of Mixed-Species Stands, in: Mixed-Species Forests: Ecology and Management. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 27–71.
- Bauhus, J., Forrester, D.I., Pretzsch, H., Felton, A., Pyttel, P., Benneter, A., 2017b. Silvicultural Options for Mixed-Species Stands, in: Mixed-Species Forests. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 433–501.
- Benito Garzón, M., Alía, R., Robson, T.M., Zavala, M.A., 2011. Intra-specific variability and plasticity influence potential tree species distributions under climate change. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 766–778.
- Bi, H., 2004. Stochastic frontier analysis of a classic self-thinning experiment. Austral Ecol. 29, 408–417.
- Binkley, D., Campoe, O.C., Gspaltl, M., Forrester, D.I., 2013. Light absorption and use efficiency in forests: Why patterns differ for trees and stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 288, 5–13.
- Binkley, D., Kashian, D.M., Boyden, S., Kaye, M.W., Bradford, J.B., Arthur, M.A., Fornwalt, P.J., Ryan, M.G., 2006. Patterns of growth dominance in forests of the Rocky Mountains, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 236, 193–201.
- Biondi, F., Qeadan, F., 2008. A Theory-Driven Approach to Tree-Ring Standardization: Defining the Biological Trend from Expected Basal Area Increment. Tree-Ring Res. 64, 81–96.
- Bogino, S., Bravo, F., 2009. Climate and intraannual density fluctuations in *Pinus pinaster* subsp. mesogeensis in Spanish woodlands. Can. J. For. Res. 39, 1557–1565.
- Bogino, S., Bravo, F., 2008. Growth response of *Pinus pinaster* Ait . to climatic variables in central Spanish forests. Ann. For. Sci. 65, 506–506.
- Bogino, S., Fernández Nieto, M., Bravo, F., 2009. Climate effect on radial growth of *Pinus sylvestris* at its southern and western distribution limits. Silva Fenn. 43, 609–623.
- Bohn, F.J., Huth, A., 2017. The importance of forest structure to biodiversity–productivity relationships. R. Soc. Open Sci. 4, 160521.
- Bolker, B.M., Brooks, M.E., Clark, C.J., Geange, S.W., Poulsen, J.R., Stevens, M.H.H., White, J.S.S., 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 127–135.
- Borcard, D., Gillet, F., Legendre, P., 2011. Numerical Ecology with R, UseR_j. ed. Springer Science+Business Media.
- Borcard, D., Legendre, P., 2012. Is the Mantel correlogram powerful enough to be useful in ecological analysis? A simulation study. Ecology 93, 1473–1481.
- Bourdier, T., Cordonnier, T., Kunstler, G., Piedallu, C., Lagarrigues, G., Courbaud, B., 2016.

Tree size inequality reduces forest productivity: An analysis combining inventory data for ten European species and a light competition model. PLoS One 11, 1–14.

- Bowman, D.M.J.S., Brienen, R.J.W., Gloor, E., Phillips, O.L., Prior, L.D., 2013. Detecting trends in tree growth: Not so simple. Trends Plant Sci. 18, 11–17.
- Bravo-Oviedo, A., Condés, S., del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Ducey, M.J., 2018. Maximum stand density strongly depends on species-specific wood stability, shade and drought tolerance. For. An Int. J. For. Res. 1–11.
- Bravo-Oviedo, A., del Río, M., Montero, G., 2007. Geographic variation and parameter assessment in generalized algebraic difference site index modelling. For. Ecol. Manage. 247, 107–119.
- Bravo-Oviedo, A., del Río, M., Montero, G., 2004. Site index curves and growth model for Mediterranean maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) in Spain. For. Ecol. Manage. 201, 187–197.
- Bravo-Oviedo, A., Montero, G., 2005. Site index in relation to edaphic variables in stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) stands in south west Spain. Ann. For. Sci. 62, 61–72.
- Bravo-Oviedo, A., Sterba, H., Del Río, M., Bravo, F., 2006. Competition-induced mortality for Mediterranean *Pinus pinaster* Ait. and *P. sylvestris* L. For. Ecol. Manage. 222, 88–98.
- Bravo, F., 2005. Dinámica de rodales de pino negral (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) en el Sistema Ibérico Meridional: Estructura genética, regeneración y dinámica forestal.
- Bravo, F., Álvarez-González, J.G., Río, M., Barrio-Anta, M., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Calama, R., Castedo-Dorado, F., Crecente-Campo, F., Condés, S., 2012. Growth and yield models in Spain: historical overview, contemporary examples and perspectives. Instituto Universitario de Investigación en Gestión Forestal Sostenible.
- Bravo, F., del Río, M., Pando, V., San Martín, R., Montero, G., Ordoñez Alonso, C., Cañellas, I., 2002. El diseño de las parcelas del Inventario Forestal Nacional y la estimación de variables dasométricas., in: Bravo, F., del Río, M., del Peso, C. (Eds.), El Inventario Forestal Nacional. Elemento Clave Para La Gestión Forestal Sostenible. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Fundación General Universida de Valladolid, Palencia, p. 191.
- Bravo, F., Hann, D.W., Maguire, D.A., 2001. Impact of competitor species composition on predicting diameter growth and survival rates of Douglas-fir trees in southwestern Oregon. Can. J. For. Res. 31, 2237–2247.
- Bravo, F., Lizarralde, I., Garcia, E.R., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Ordonez, C., Herrero, C., Pando, V., del Peso, C., Juez, L., Guerra, B., 2007. Modeling forest dynamics with an empirical approach to support stand management: The case study of Mediterranean *Pinus pinaster* in Central Spain. Sci. Tools Res. Needs Multifunct. Mediterr. For. Ecosyst. Manag. 45–55.
- Bravo, F., Montero, G., 2001. Site index estimation in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L .) stands in the High Ebro Basin (northern Spain) using soil attributes. Forestry 74, 395–406.
- Bravo, F., Pando, V., Ordóñez, C., Lizarralde, I., 2008. Modelling ingrowth in

mediterranean pine forests: A case study from scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and mediterranean maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) stands in Spain. For. Syst. 17, 250–260.

- Bruelheide, H., Nadrowski, K., Assmann, T., Bauhus, J., Both, S., Buscot, F., Chen, X.-Y., Ding, B., Durka, W., Erfmeier, A., Gutknecht, J.L.M., Guo, D., Guo, L.-D., Härdtle, W., He, J.-S., Klein, A.-M., Kühn, P., Liang, Y., Liu, X., Michalski, S., Niklaus, P.A., Pei, K., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Scholten, T., Schuldt, A., Seidler, G., Trogisch, S., von Oheimb, G., Welk, E., Wirth, C., Wubet, T., Yang, X., Yu, M., Zhang, S., Zhou, H., Fischer, M., Ma, K., Schmid, B., 2014. Designing forest biodiversity experiments: general considerations illustrated by a new large experiment in subtropical China. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 74–89.
- Bueis, T., Bravo, F., Pando, V., Turrión, M.B., 2016. Relationship between environmental parameters and *Pinus sylvestris* L. site index in forest plantations in northern Spain acidic plateau. IForest 9, 394–401.
- Bunn, A.G., 2010. Statistical and visual crossdating in R using the dplR library. Dendrochronologia 28, 251–258.
- Burkhart, H.E., Walton, S.B., 1985. Incorporating Crown Ratio Into Taper Equations for Loblolly Pine Trees. For. Sci. 31, 478–484.
- Cade, B.S., Noon, B.R., 2003. A gentle introduction to quantile regression for ecologists. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1, 412–420.
- Calama, R., Barbeito, I., Pardos, M., del Río, M., Montero, G., 2008. Adapting a model for even-aged *Pinus pinea* L. stands to complex multi-aged structures. For. Ecol. Manage. 256, 1390–1399.
- Calama, R., Montero, G., 2005. Multilevel linear mixed model for tree diameter increment in stone pine (*Pinus pinea*): A calibrating approach. Silva Fenn. 39, 37–54.
- Calama, R., Montero, G., 2004. Interregional nonlinear height-diameter model with random coefficients for stone pine in Spain. Can. J. For. Res. 34, 150–163.
- Camarero, J.J., Gazol, A., Sangüesa-Barreda, G., Cantero, A., Sánchez-Salguero, R., Sánchez-Miranda, A., Granda, E., Serra-Maluquer, X., Ibáñez, R., 2018. Forest Growth Responses to Drought at Short- and Long-Term Scales in Spain: Squeezing the Stress Memory from Tree Rings. Front. Ecol. Evol. 6, 9.
- Camarero, J.J., Gazol, A., Tardif, J.C., Conciatori, F., 2015. Attributing forest responses to global-change drivers: Limited evidence of a CO2-fertilization effect in Iberian pine growth. J. Biogeogr. 42, 2220–2233.
- Camarero, J.J., Olano, J.M., Parras, A., 2010. Plastic bimodal xylogenesis in conifers from continental Mediterranean climates. New Phytol. 185, 471–80.
- Carnol, M., Baeten, L., Branquart, E., Grégoire, J.C., Heughebaert, A., Muys, B., Ponette, Q., Verheyen, K., 2014. Ecosystem services of mixed species forest stands and monocultures: Comparing practitioners and scientists perceptions with formal scientific knowledge. Forestry 87, 639–653.

- Cattaneo, N., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Bravo, F., 2018. Analysis of tree interactions in a mixed Mediterranean pine stand using competition indices. Eur. J. For. Res. 137, 109–120.
- Cattaneo, N., Bravo-Oviedo, A., del Río, M., Riofrío, J., Bravo, F., 2017. Eficiencia de crecimiento en pinares mixtos mediterráneos, in: 7th Spanish Forestry Congress. Plascencia-Spain, p. 7CFE01-168.
- Cavard, X., Bergeron, Y., Chen, H.Y.H., Paré, D., Laganière, J., Brassard, B., 2011. Competition and facilitation between tree species change with stand development. Oikos 120, 1683–1695.
- Chamagne, J., Tanadini, M., Frank, D., Matula, R., Paine, C.E.T., Philipson, C.D., Svátek, M., Turnbull, L.A., Volařík, D., Hector, A., 2017. Forest diversity promotes individual tree growth in central European forest stands. J. Appl. Ecol. 54, 71–79.
- Charru, M., Seynave, I., Morneau, F., Rivoire, M., Bontemps, J.D., 2012. Significant differences and curvilinearity in the self-thinning relationships of 11 temperate tree species assessed from forest inventory data. Ann. For. Sci. 69, 195–205.
- Chesson, P., 2000. Mechanisms of maintenance of species diversity. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 31, 343–358.
- Cocozza, C., Palombo, C., Tognetti, R., Porta, N. La, Anichini, M., Giovannelli, A., Emiliani, G., 2016. Monitoring intra-annual dynamics of wood formation with microcores and dendrometers in *Picea abies* at two different altitudes. Tree Physiol. 36, 832–846.
- Coll, L., Ameztegui, A., Collet, C., Löf, M., Mason, B., Pach, M., Verheyen, K., Abrudan, I., Barbati, A., Barreiro, S., Bielak, K., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Ferrari, B., Govedar, Z., Kulhavy, J., Lazdina, D., Metslaid, M., Mohren, F., Pereira, M., Peric, S., Rasztovits, E., Short, I., Spathelf, P., Sterba, H., Stojanovic, D., Valsta, L., Zlatanov, T., Ponette, Q., 2018. Knowledge gaps about mixed forests: What do European forest managers want to know and what answers can science provide? For. Ecol. Manage. 407, 106-115.
- Condés, S., del Río, M., 2015. Climate modifies tree interactions in terms of basal area growth and mortality in monospecific and mixed *Fagus sylvatica* and *Pinus sylvestris* forests. Eur. J. For. Res. 134, 1095–1108.
- Condés, S., del Río, M., Sterba, H., 2013. Mixing effect on volume growth of *Fagus sylvatica* and *Pinus sylvestris* is modulated by stand density. For. Ecol. Manage. 292, 86–95.
- Condés, S., Vallet, P., Bielak, K., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Coll, L., Ducey, M.J., Pach, M., Pretzsch, H., Sterba, H., Vayreda, J., del Río, M., 2017. Climate influences on the maximum size-density relationship in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 385, 295–307.
- Cordonnier, T., Kunstler, G., Courbaud, B., Morin, X., 2018. Managing tree species diversity and ecosystem functioning through coexistence mechanisms. Ann. For. Sci. 75 (3), 65
- Crecente-Campo, F., Álvarez-González, J.G., Castedo-Dorado, F., Gómez-García, E., Diéguez-Aranda, U., 2013. Development of crown profile models for *Pinus pinaster*

Ait. and Pinus sylvestris L. in northwestern Spain. Forestry 86, 481–491.

- Dănescu, A., Albrecht, A.T., Bauhus, J., 2016. Structural diversity promotes productivity of mixed, uneven-aged forests in southwestern Germany. Oecologia 182, 319–333.
- Dănescu, A., Albrecht, A.T., Bauhus, J., Kohnle, U., 2017. Geocentric alternatives to site index for modeling tree increment in uneven-aged mixed stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 392, 1–12.
- de-Dios-García, J., Pardos, M., Calama, R., 2015. Interannual variability in competitive effects in mixed and monospecific forests of Mediterranean stone pine. For. Ecol. Manage. 358, 230–239.
- de Frutos, P. De, Peña, F.M., Martínez, P.O., Esteban, S., 2009. Estimating the social benefits of recreational harvesting of edible wild mushrooms using travel cost methods. For. Syst. 18, 235–246.
- del Río, M., Condés, S., Pretzsch, H., 2014a. Analyzing size-symmetric vs. size-asymmetric and intra- vs. inter-specific competition in beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) mixed stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 325, 90–98.
- del Río, M., López-Senespleda, E., Montero, G., 2006. Manual de gestión para masas procedentes de repoblación de *Pinus pinaster* Ait., *Pinus sylvestris* L. y *Pinus nigra* Arn. en Castilla y León, Serie Técnica. Junta de Castilla y León Consejería de Medio Ambient, Madrid.
- del Río, M., Montero, G., Bravo, F., 2001. Analysis of diameter density relationships and self-thinning in non-thinned even-aged Scots pine stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 142, 79– 87.
- del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Alberdi, I., Bielak, K., Bravo, F., Brunner, A., Condés, S., Ducey, M.J., Fonseca, T., von Lüpke, N., Pach, M., Peric, S., Perot, T., Souidi, Z., Spathelf, P., Sterba, H., Tijardovic, M., Tomé, M., Vallet, P., Bravo-Oviedo, A., 2016. Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: review and perspectives. Eur. J. For. Res. 135, 23–49.
- del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Ruíz-Peinado, R., Ampoorter, E., Annighöfer, P., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K., Brazaitis, G., Coll, L., Drössler, L., Fabrika, M., Forrester, D.I., Heym, M., Hurt, V., Kurylyak, V., Löf, M., Lombardi, F., Madrickiene, E., Matović, B., Mohren, F., Motta, R., den Ouden, J., Pach, M., Ponette, Q., Schütze, G., Skrzyszewski, J., Sramek, V., Sterba, H., Stojanović, D., Svoboda, M., Zlatanov, T.M., Bravo-Oviedo, A., 2017. Species interactions increase the temporal stability of community productivity in *Pinus sylvestris–Fagus sylvatica* mixtures across Europe. J. Ecol. 105, 1032–1043.
- del Río, M., Schütze, G., Pretzsch, H., 2014b. Temporal variation of competition and facilitation in mixed species forests in Central Europe. Plant Biol. 16, 166–176.
- del Río, M., Sterba, H., 2009. Comparing volume growth in pure and mixed stands of *Pinus sylvestris* and *Quercus pyrenaica*. Ann. For. Sci. 66, 502–502.
- Deslauriers, A., Rossi, S., Anfodillo, T., 2007. Dendrometer and intra-annual tree growth: What kind of information can be inferred? Dendrochronologia 25, 113–124.

- Ding, H., Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., Rötzer, T., 2017. Size-dependence of tree growth response to drought for Norway spruce and European beech individuals in monospecific and mixed-species stands. Plant Biol. 19, 709–719.
- Dirnberger, G., Sterba, H., 2014. A comparison of different methods to estimate species proportions by area in mixed stands. For. Syst. 23, 534–546.
- Dirnberger, G., Sterba, H., Condés, S., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P., Avdagić, A., Bielak, K., Brazaitis, G., Coll, L., Heym, M., Hurt, V., Kurylyak, V., Motta, R., Pach, M., Ponette, Q., Ruiz-Peinado, R., Skrzyszewski, J., Šrámek, V., de Streel, G., Svoboda, M., Zlatanov, T., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Species proportions by area in mixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.). Eur. J. For. Res. 136, 171– 183.
- Erickson, H., Harrington, C., Marshall, D., 2009. Tree growth at stand and individual scales in two dual-species mixture experiments in southern Washington State, USA. Can. J. For. Res. 39, 1119–1132.
- Fichtner, A., Härdtle, W., Li, Y., Bruelheide, H., Kunz, M., von Oheimb, G., 2017. From competition to facilitation: how tree species respond to neighbourhood diversity. Ecol. Lett. 20 (7), 892-900.
- FOREST EUROPE, 2015. State of Europe's Forests 2015. Status and trends in sustainable forest management in Europe.
- Forrester, D.I., 2015. Transpiration and water-use efficiency in mixed-species forests versus monocultures: effects of tree size, stand density and season. Tree Physiol. 35, 289–304.
- Forrester, D.I., 2014. The spatial and temporal dynamics of species interactions in mixedspecies forests: From pattern to process. For. Ecol. Manage. 312, 282–292.
- Forrester, D.I., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P.J., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Coll, L., del Río, M., Drössler, L., Heym, M., Hurt, V., Löf, M., den Ouden, J., Pach, M., Pereira, M.G., Plaga, B.N.E., Ponette, Q., Skrzyszewski, J., Sterba, H., Svoboda, M., Zlatanov, T., Pretzsch, H., 2018. Effects of crown architecture and stand structure on light absorption in mixed and monospecific *Fagus sylvatica* and *Pinus sylvestris* forests along a productivity and climate gradient through Europe. J. Ecol. 106, 746–760.
- Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., 2016. A review of processes behind diversity—productivity relationships in forests. Curr. For. Reports 2, 45–61.
- Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., Khanna, P.K., 2004. Growth dynamics in a mixed-species plantation of Eucalyptus globulus and *Acacia mearnsii*. For. Ecol. Manage. 193, 81–95.
- Forrester, D.I., Benneter, A., Bouriaud, O., 2017. Diversity and competition influence tree allometric relationships - developing functions for mixed-species forests. J. Ecol. 105, 761–774.
- Forrester, D.I., Bonal, D., Dawud, S., Gessler, A., Granier, A., Pollastrini, M., Grossiord, C., 2016. Drought responses by individual tree species are not often correlated with tree species diversity in European forests. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 1725–1734.
- Forrester, D.I., Kohnle, U., Albrecht, A.T., Bauhus, J., 2013. Complementarity in mixed-

species stands of Abies alba and Picea abies varies with climate, site quality and stand density. For. Ecol. Manage. 304, 233–242.

- Forrester, D.I., Pretzsch, H., 2015. Tamm Review: On the strength of evidence when comparing ecosystem functions of mixtures with monocultures. For. Ecol. Manage. 356, 41–53.
- Forrester, D.I., Tang, X., 2015. Analysing the spatial and temporal dynamics of species interactions in mixed-species forests and the effects of stand density using the 3-PG model. Ecol. Modell. 319, 233–254.
- Fortin, M., 2013. Population-averaged predictions with generalized linear mixed-effects models in forestry: an estimator based on Gauss–Hermite quadrature. Can. J. For. Res. 43, 129–138.
- Fritts, H.C., 1976. Tree Rings and Climate. The Blackburn Press.
- Gadow, K. v., Zhang, C.Y., Wehenkel, C., Pommerening, A., Corral-Rivas, J., Korol, M., Myklush, S., Ying Hui, G., Kiviste, A., Zhao, X.H., 2012. Forest Structure and Diversity, in: Pukkala, T., Gadow, K. von (Eds.), Continuous Cover Forestry, Book Series Managing Forest Ecosys- Tems. Springer, Berlin, pp. 29–84.
- Galecki, A., Burzykowski, T., 2013. Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using R, Unt.Edu.
- Gamfeldt, L., Snall, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Froberg, M., Stendahl, J., Philipson, C.D., Mikusinski, G., Andersson, E., Westerlund, B., Andren, H., Moberg, F., Moen, J., Bengtsson, J., 2013. Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat. Commun. 4, 1340.
- Garber, S.M., Maguire, D.A., 2004. Stand Productivity and Development in Two Mixed-Species Spacing Trials in the Central Oregon Cascades. For. Sci. 50, 92–105.
- Garber, S.M., Maguire, D.A., 2003. Modeling stem taper of three central Oregon species using nonlinear mixed effects models and autoregressive error structures. For. Ecol. Manage. 179, 507–522.
- García-Güemes, C., Calama, R., 2015. La práctica de la selvicultura para la adaptación al cambio climático, in: Herrero, A., Zavala, M.A. (Eds.), Los Bosques y La Biodiversidad Frente Al Cambio Climático: Impactos, Vulnerabilidad y Adaptación En España. MAGRAMA, Madrid.
- Gaudio, N., Balandier, P., Perret, S., Ginisty, C., 2011. Growth of understorey Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) saplings in response to light in mixed temperate forest. Forestry 84, 187–195.
- Gazol, A., Camarero, J.J., 2016. Functional diversity enhances silver fir growth resilience to an extreme drought. J. Ecol. 104, 1063–1075.
- Gazol, A., Camarero, J.J., Anderegg, W.R.L., Vicente-Serrano, S.M., 2016. Impacts of droughts on the growth resilience of Northern Hemisphere forests. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 26, 166–176.

- Gazol, A., Camarero, J.J., Guti, E., Novak, K., T, V.R.P.A., Ribas, M., Garc, I., Alvaro, S., Galv, J.D., 2018. Forest resilience to drought varies across biomes. Glob. Chang. Biol. 1–17.
- Gómez-Aparicio, L., García-Valdés, R., Ruíz-Benito, P., Zavala, M.A., 2011. Disentangling the relative importance of climate, size and competition on tree growth in Iberian forests: implications for forest management under global change. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 2400–2414.
- Gonzalo Jiménez, J., 2010. Diagnosis fitoclimática de la España peninsular: hacia un modelo de clasificación funcional de la vegetación y de los ecosistemas peninsulares españoles. Organismo Autónomo Parques Nacionales, Madrid.
- Goslee, S.C., Urban, D.L., 2007. The ecodist package for dissimilarity-based analysis of ecological data. J. Stat. Softw. 22, 1–19.
- Granda, E., Gazol, A., Camarero, J.J., 2018. Functional diversity differently shapes growth resilience to drought for co-existing pine species. J. Veg. Sci. 1–11.
- Gratani, L., 2014. Plant Phenotypic Plasticity in Response to Environmental Factors. Adv. Bot. 2014, 17.
- Grossiord, C., Forner, A., Gessler, A., Granier, A., Pollastrini, M., Valladares, F., Bonal, D., 2015. Influence of species interactions on transpiration of Mediterranean tree species during a summer drought. Eur. J. For. Res. 134, 365–376.
- Grossiord, C., Granier, A., Ratcliffe, S., Bouriaud, O., Bruelheide, H., Chećko, E., Forrester, D.I., Dawud, S.M., Finér, L., Pollastrini, M., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Valladares, F., Bonal, D., Gessler, A., 2014. Tree diversity does not always improve resistance of forest ecosystems to drought. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 14812–14815.
- Hann, D.W., 2014. Modeling of the maximum size-density line and its trajectory line for tree species: observations and opinions. For. Biometrics Res. Pap. 5 5, 1–33.
- Hann, D.W., Walters, D.K., Scrivani, J.A., 1987. Incorporating crown ratio into prediction equations for Douglas-fir stem volume. Can. J. For. Res. 17, 17–22.
- Huang, S., Wiens, D.P., Yang, Y., Meng, S.X., Vanderschaaf, C.L., 2009. Assessing the impacts of species composition, top height and density on individual tree height prediction of quaking aspen in boreal mixedwoods. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 1235– 1247.
- Huber, M., Sterba, H., Bernhard, L., 2014. Site conditions and definition of compositional proportion modify mixture effects in *Picea abies Abies alba* stands. Can. J. For. Res. 44, 1281–1291.
- Hughes, M.K., 2002. Dendrochronology in climatology the state of the art. Dendrochronologia 20, 95–116.
- ICONA, 1990. Segundo Inventario Forestal Nacional. Explicaciones y métodos 1986-1995.
- Isbell, F., Gonzalez, A., Loreau, M., Cowles, J., Díaz, S., Hector, A., Mace, G.M., Wardle, D.A., O'Connor, M.I., Duffy, J.E., Turnbull, L.A., Thompson, P.L., Larigauderie, A.,

2017. Linking the influence and dependence of people on biodiversity across scales. Nature 546, 65–72.

- Ishii, H., Asano, S., 2010. The role of crown architecture, leaf phenology and photosynthetic activity in promoting complementary use of light among coexisting species in temperate forests. Ecol. Res. 25, 715–722.
- Jactel, H., Bauhus, J., Boberg, J., Bonal, D., Castagneyrol, B., Gardiner, B., Gonzalez-Olabarria, J.R., Koricheva, J., Meurisse, N., Brockerhoff, E.G., 2017. Tree Diversity Drives Forest Stand Resistance to Natural Disturbances. Curr. For. Reports. 3(3),223-243.
- Jucker, T., Bouriaud, O., Avacaritei, D., Coomes, D.A., 2014a. Stabilizing effects of diversity on aboveground wood production in forest ecosystems: linking patterns and processes. Ecol. Lett. 17, 1560–1569.
- Jucker, T., Bouriaud, O., Avacaritei, D., Dănilă, I., Duduman, G., Valladares, F., Coomes, D.A., 2014b. Competition for light and water play contrasting roles in driving diversity-productivity relationships in Iberian forests. J. Ecol. 102, 1202–1213.
- Jucker, T., Bouriaud, O., Coomes, D.A., 2015. Crown plasticity enables trees to optimize canopy packing in mixed-species forests. Funct. Ecol. 29, 1078–1086.
- Kelty, M.J., 2006. The role of species mixtures in plantation forestry. For. Ecol. Manage. 233, 195–204.
- Kelty, M.J., 1992. Comparative productivity of monocultures and mixed stands, in: Kelty, M.J., Larson, B.C., Oliver, C.D. (Eds.), The Ecology and Silviculture of Mixed-Species Forests, Forestry Sciences. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 124–141.
- Kerr, G., 2004. The growth and form of ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) in mixture with cherry (*Prunus avium*), oak (*Quercus petraea* and *Quercus robur*), and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*). Can. J. For. Res. 34, 2340–2350. https://doi.org/10.1139/x04-113
- Koenker, R., 2015. quantreg: Quantile Regression.
- Lara, W., Bogino, S., Bravo, F., 2018. Multilevel analysis of dendroclimatic series with the R-package BIOdry. PLoS One 13 (5), e0196923.
- Lara, W., Bravo, F., Maguire, D.A., 2013. Modeling patterns between drought and tree biomass growth from dendrochronological data: A multilevel approach. Agric. For. Meteorol. 178–179, 140–151.
- Lara, W., Bravo, F., Sierra, C. a, 2015. measuRing: An R package to measure tree-ring widths from scanned images. Dendrochronologia 34, 43–50.
- Larocque, G.R., Luckai, N., Adhikary, S.N., Groot, A., Bell, F.W., Sharma, M., 2012. Competition theory-science and application in mixed forest stands: review of experimental and modelling methods and suggestions for future research. Environ. Rev. 21, 71–84.
- Ledo, A., Cañellas, I., Barbeito, I., Gordo, F.J., Calama, R., Gea-izquierdo, G., 2014. Species coexistence in a mixed Mediterranean pine forest: Spatio-temporal variability in

trade-offs between facilitation and competition. For. Ecol. Manage. 332, 89-97.

Legendre, P., Legendre, L., 1998. Numerical ecology, second. ed. Elservier Science.

- Liang, J., Buongiorno, J., Monserud, R., Kruger, E., Zhou, M., 2007. Effects of diversity of tree species and size on forest basal area growth, recruitment, and mortality. For. Ecol. Manag. 243, 116–127.
- Liang, J., Crowther, T.W., Picard, N., Wiser, S., Zhou, M., Alberti, G., Schulze, E.-D., McGuire, D., Bozzato, F., Pretzsch, H., De-Miguel, S., Paquette, A., Hérault, B., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Barrett, C.B., Glick, H.B., Hengeveld, G.M., Nabuurs, G.-J., Pfautsch, S., Viana, H., Vibrans, A.C., Ammer, C., Schall, P., Verbyla, D., Tchebakova, N., Fischer, M., Watson, J. V., Chen, H.Y.H., Lei, X., Schelhaas, M.-J., Lu, H., Gianelle, D., Parfenova, E.I., Salas, C., Lee, E., Lee, B., Kim, H.S., Bruelheide, H., Coomes, D.A., Piotto, D., Sunderland, T., Schmid, B., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Sonké, B., Tavani, R., Zhu, J., Brandl, S., Vayreda, J., Kitahara, F., Searle, E.B., Neldner, V.J., Ngugi, M.R., Baraloto, C., Frizzera, L., Bałazy, R., Oleksyn, J., Zawiła-Niedźwiecki, T., Bouriaud, O., Bussotti, F., Finér, L., Jaroszewicz, B., Jucker, T., Valladares, F., Jagodzinski, A.M., Peri, P.L., Gonmadje, C., Marthy, W., O'Brien, T., Martin, E.H., Marshall, A., Rovero, F., Bitariho, R., Niklaus, P.A., Alvarez-Loayza, P., Chamuya, N., Valencia, R., Mortier, F., Wortel, V., Engone-Obiang, N.L., Ferreira, L. V., Odeke, D.E., Vasquez, R.M., Reich, P.B., 2016. Positive biodiversity–productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354, 196.
- Lichstein, J.W., 2007. Multiple regression on distance matrices: A multivariate spatial analysis tool. Plant Ecol. 188, 117–131.
- Lizarralde, I., 2008. Dinámica de rodales y competencia en las masas de Pino silvestre (*Pinus sylvestris*) y Pino negral (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) de los Sistemas Central e Ibérico meridional. Universidad de Valladolid.
- Lizarralde, I., Ordoñez, A.C., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Bravo, F., 2010a. IBEROPS: Modelo de dinámica de rodales de *Pinus sylvestris* L. en Castilla y León.
- Lizarralde, I., Ordoñez, A.C., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Bravo, F., 2010b. IBEROPT: Modelo de dinámica de rodales de *Pinus pinaster* Ait. en el sistema ibérico meridional.
- Lizarralde, I., Ordóñez, C., Bravo, F., 2004. Desarrrollo de ecuaciones de copa para *Pinus pinaster* Ait. en el sistema ibérico meridional. Cuad. la Soc. Española Ciencias For. 177, 173–177.
- Lloret, F., Keeling, E.G., Sala, A., 2011. Components of tree resilience: Effects of successive low-growth episodes in old ponderosa pine forests. Oikos 120, 1909–1920.
- López Marcos, D., Martínez-Ruiz, C., Turrión Nievez, M., Bravo, F., 2017. Influencia de la composición del estrato arbóreo en el secuestro de carbono edafico, in: 7th Spanish Forestry Congress. Plascencia-Spain, p. 7CFE01-158.
- Loreau, M., Hector, A., 2001. Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. Nature 412, 72–76.
- Mainwaring, D.B., Maguire, D.A., 2004. The effect of local stand structure on growth and

growth efficiency in heterogeneous stands of ponderosa pine and lodgepole pine in central Oregon. Can. J. For. Res. 34, 2217.

- Manso, R., Morneau, F., Ningre, F., Fortin, M., 2015. Effect of climate and intra- and interspecific competition on diameter increment in beech and oak stands. Forestry 88, 540–551.
- Marqués, L., Camarero, J.J., Gazol, A., Zavala, M.A., 2016. Drought impacts on tree growth of two pine species along an altitudinal gradient and their use as early-warning signals of potential shifts in tree species distributions. For. Ecol. Manage. 381, 157–167.
- Martínez-Vilalta, J., Cochard, H., Mencuccini, M., Sterck, F., Herrero, A., Korhonen, J.F.J., Llorens, P., Nikinmaa, E., Nolè, A., Poyatos, R., Ripullone, F., Sass-Klaassen, U., Zweifel, R., 2009. Hydraulic adjustment of Scots pine across Europe. New Phytol. 184, 353–364.
- Martínez-Vilalta, J., López, B.C., Loepfe, L., Lloret, F., 2012. Stand- and tree-level determinants of the drought response of Scots pine radial growth. Oecologia 168, 877–88.
- Martínez-Vilalta, J., Piñol, J., 2002. Drought-induced mortality and hydraulic architecture in pine populations of the NE Iberian Peninsula. For. Ecol. Manage. 161, 247–256.
- Martínez-Vilalta, J., Sala, A., Piñol, J., 2004. The hydraulic architecture of Pinaceae–a review. Plant Ecol. 171, 3–13.
- Matías, L., Jump, A.S., 2012. Interactions between growth, demography and biotic interactions in determining species range limits in a warming world: The case of *Pinus sylvestris*. For. Ecol. Manage. 282, 10–22.
- McElhinny, C., Gibbons, P., Brack, C., Bauhus, J., 2005. Forest and woodland stand structural complexity: Its definition and measurement. For. Ecol. Manage. 218, 1–24.
- McMahon, S.M., Parker, G.G., 2015. A general model of intra-annual tree growth using dendrometer bands. Ecol. Evol. 5, 243–254.
- Menalled, F.D., Kelty, M.J., Ewel, J.J., 1998. Canopy development in tropical tree plantations: A comparison of species mixtures and monocultures. For. Ecol. Manage. 104, 249–263.
- Merlin, M., Perot, T., Perret, S., Korboulewsky, N., Vallet, P., 2015. Effects of stand composition and tree size on resistance and resilience to drought in sessile oak and Scots pine. For. Ecol. Manage. 339, 22–33.
- Messier, C., Puettmann, K.J., Coates, K.D., 2014. Managing Forests as Complex Adaptive Systems - Building resilience to the challenge of global change. Routledge 353.
- Mina, M., Huber, M.O., Forrester, D.I., Thürig, E., Rohner, B., 2017. Multiple factors modulate tree growth complementarity in Central European mixed forests. J. Ecol. 106, 1106–1119.
- Montero, G., del Río, M., Roig, S., Rojo, A., 2008. Selvicultura de Pinus sylvestris L,

Compendio de selvicultura aplicada en España.

- Montero, G., Serrada, R., 2013. La situación de los bosques y el sector forestal en España ISFE 2013 253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2
- Moreno-Fernández, D., Álvarez-González, J.G., Rodríguez-Soalleiro, R., Pasalodos-Tato, M., Cañellas, I., Montes, F., Díaz-Varela, E., Sánchez-González, M., Crecente-Campo, F., Álvarez-álvarez, P., Barrio-Anta, M., Pérez-Cruzado, C., 2018. National-scale assessment of forest site productivity in Spain. For. Ecol. Manage. 417, 197–207.
- Morin, X., Fahse, L., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Bugmann, H., 2011. Tree species richness promotes productivity in temperate forests through strong complementarity between species. Ecol. Lett. 14, 1211–1219.
- Naeem, S., 1998. Species redundancy and ecosystem reliability. Conserv. Biol. 12, 39-45.
- Nakagawa, S., Schielzeth, H., 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 133–142.
- Navarro-Cerrillo, R.M., Sánchez-Salguero, R., Herrera, R., Ruiz, C.J.C., Moreno-Rojas, J.M., Manzanedo, R.D., López-Quintanilla, J., 2016. Contrasting growth and water use efficiency after thinning in mixed *Abies pinsapo-Pinus pinaster-Pinus sylvestris* forests. J. For. Sci. 62, 53–64.
- O'Hara, K., 2014. Volume and economis production of multiaged stands, in: Multiaged Silviculture: Managing for Complex Forest Stand Structures. Oxford University Press, pp. 136–144.
- Oberhuber, W., Gruber, A., 2010. Climatic influences on intra-annual stem radial increment of *Pinus sylvestris* (L.) exposed to drought. Trees (Berl. West) 24, 887–898.
- Oberhuber, W., Gruber, A., Kofler, W., Swidrak, I., 2014. Radial stem growth in response to microclimate and soil moisture in a drought-prone mixed coniferous forest at an inner Alpine site. Eur. J. For. Res. 133, 467–479.
- Oswald, S.A., Nisbet, I.C.T., Chiaradia, A., Arnold, J.M., 2012. FlexParamCurve: R package for flexible fitting of nonlinear parametric curves. Methods Ecol. Evol. 3, 1073–1077.
- Pacheco, A., Camarero, J.J., Ribas, M., Gazol, A., Gutierrez, E., Carrer, M., 2018. Disentangling the climate-driven bimodal growth pattern in coastal and continental Mediterranean pine stands. Sci. Total Environ. 615, 1518–1526.
- Perot, T., Picard, N., 2012. Mixture enhances productivity in a two-species forest: evidence from a modeling approach. Ecol. Res. 27, 83–94.
- Peters, R.L., Groenendijk, P., Vlam, M., Zuidema, P.A., 2015. Detecting long-term growth trends using tree rings: A critical evaluation of methods. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 2040–2054.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., 2000. Mixed-effects models in S and S-PLUS. Springer.
- Pinto, P.E., Gégout, J.C., Hervé, J.C., Dhôte, J.F., 2008. Respective importance of ecological conditions and stand composition on *Abies alba* Mill. dominant height growth. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 619–629.

- Poorter, L., Lianes, E., Moreno-de las Heras, M., Zavala, M.A., 2012. Architecture of Iberian canopy tree species in relation to wood density, shade tolerance and climate. Plant Ecol. 213, 707–722.
- Potop, V., Boroneanţ, C., Možný, M., Štěpánek, P., Skalák, P., 2014. Observed spatiotemporal characteristics of drought on various time scales over the Czech Republic. Theor. Appl. Climatol. 115, 563–581.
- Pretzsch, H., 2014. Canopy space filling and tree crown morphology in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures. For. Ecol. Manage. 327, 251–264.
- Pretzsch, H., 2009a. Effects of species mixture on tree and stand growth, in: Forest Dynamics, Growth and Yield: From Measurement to Model. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 337–380.
- Pretzsch, H., 2009b. Forest Dynamics, Growth and Yield. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Pretzsch, H., 1998. Structural diversity as a result of silvicultural operations. Lesnictviforestry 44, 429–439.
- Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., 2016. Tree species mixing can increase maximum stand density. Can. J. For. Res. 46 (10), 1179–1193.
- Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., 2010. Size-symmetric versus size-asymmetric competition and growth partitioning among trees in forest stands along an ecological gradient in central Europe. Can. J. For. Res. 40, 370-384.
- Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., 2005. A re-evaluation of Reineke's rule and stand density index. For. Sci. 51, 304–320.
- Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., Schütze, G., Uhl, E., Rötzer, T., 2014. Forest stand growth dynamics in Central Europe have accelerated since 1870. Nat. Commun. 5, 4967.
- Pretzsch, H., Block, J., Dieler, J., Dong, P.H., Kohnle, U., Nagel, J., Spellmann, H., Zingg, A., 2010. Comparison between the productivity of pure and mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech along an ecological gradient. Ann. For. Sci. 67, 712.
- Pretzsch, H., del Río, M., Ammer, C., Avdagic, A., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K., Brazaitis, G., Coll, L., Dirnberger, G., Drössler, L., Fabrika, M., Forrester, D.I., Godvod, K., Heym, M., Hurt, V., Kurylyak, V., Löf, M., Lombardi, F., Matović, B., Mohren, F., Motta, R., den Ouden, J., Pach, M., Ponette, Q., Schütze, G., Schweig, J., Skrzyszewski, J., Sramek, V., Sterba, H., Stojanović, D., Svoboda, M., Vanhellemont, M., Verheyen, K., Wellhausen, K., Zlatanov, T., Bravo-Oviedo, A., 2015a. Growth and yield of mixed versus pure stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) analysed along a productivity gradient through Europe. Eur. J. For. Res. 134, 927–947.
- Pretzsch, H., del Río, M., Schütze, G., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P., Avdagic, A., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K., Brazaitis, G., Coll, L., Drössler, L., Fabrika, M., Forrester, D.I., Kurylyak, V., Löf, M., Lombardi, F., Matović, B., Mohren, F., Motta, R., den Ouden, J., Pach, M., Ponette, Q., Skrzyszewski, J., Sramek, V., Sterba, H., Svoboda, M., Verheyen, K., Zlatanov, T., Bravo-Oviedo, A., 2016. Mixing of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and

European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) enhances structural heterogeneity, and the effect increases with water availability. For. Ecol. Manage. 373, 149–166.

- Pretzsch, H., Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., 2017. Mixed-Species Forests: Ecology and Management. Springer.
- Pretzsch, H., Forrester, D.I., Rötzer, T., 2015b. Representation of species mixing in forest growth models. A review and perspective. Ecol. Modell. 313, 276–292.
- Pretzsch, H., Rais, A., 2016. Wood quality in complex forests versus even-aged monocultures: review and perspectives. Wood Sci. Technol. 50, 845–880.
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., 2016. Effect of tree species mixing on the size structure, density, and yield of forest stands. Eur. J. For. Res. 135, 1–22.
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., 2014. Size-structure dynamics of mixed versus pure forest stands. For. Syst. 23, 560–572.
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., 2009. Transgressive overyielding in mixed compared with pure stands of Norway spruce and European beech in Central Europe: evidence on stand level and explanation on individual tree level. Eur. J. For. Res. 128, 183–204.
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., Uhl, E., 2013. Resistance of European tree species to drought stress in mixed versus pure forests: evidence of stress release by inter-specific facilitation. Plant Biol. 15, 483–495.
- Pretzsch, H., Zenner, E.K., 2017. Toward managing mixed-species stands: from parametrization to prescription. For. Ecosyst. 4, 19.
- Prieto-Recio, C., Martín-García, J., Bravo, F., Diez, J.J., 2015. Unravelling the associations between climate, soil properties and forest management in *Pinus pinaster* decline in the Iberian Peninsula. For. Ecol. Manage. 356, 74–83.
- Puettmann, K.J., Hann, D.W., Hibbs, D.E., 1993. Evaluation of the Size Density relationships for pure red alder and douglas fir stands. For. Sci. 39, 7–27.
- Puettmann, K.J., Wilson, S.M., Baker, S.C., Donoso, P.J., Drössler, L., Amente, G., Harvey, B.D., Knoke, T., Lu, Y., Nocentini, S., Putz, F.E., Yoshida, T., Bauhus, J., 2015. Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest management - what limits global adoption? For. Ecosyst. 2, 8.
- Pukkala, T., Lähde, E., Laiho, O., 2009. Growth and yield models for uneven-sized forest stands in Finland. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 207–216.
- R Develomment Core Team, 2015. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Found. Stat. Comput.
- Rathbun, L.C., LeMay, V., Smith, N., 2010. Modeling mortality in mixed-species stands of coastal British Columbia. Can. J. For. Res. 40, 1517–1528.
- Reineke, L., 1933. Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. J. Agric. Res. 46, 627–638.
- Richards, A.E., Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., 2010. The influence of mixed tree plantations on the nutrition of individual species: A review. Tree Physiol.

30, 1192–1208.

- Richardson, D., 2000. Ecology and Biogeography of Pinus: an introduction. Cambridge University Press.
- Rodríguez-García, E., Juez, L., Bravo, F., 2010. Environmental influences on post-harvest natural regeneration of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in Mediterranean forest stands submitted to the seed-tree selection method. Eur. J. For. Res. 129, 1119–1128.
- Rodríguez, F., Broto, M., 2014. Ecuaciones de volumen comencial para las principales especies maderables de Castillas y León.
- Rodríguez, J.R., Serrada, R., Lucas, J.A., Reyes, A., del Río, M., Torres, E., Cantero Amiano, A., 2008. Selvicultura de *Pinus pinaster* Ait. subsp. mesogeensis Fieschi & Gausen, in: Serrada, R., Montero, G., Reque, J.A. (Eds.), Compendio de Selvicultura Aplicada En España. Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria (INIA). Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia., Madrid, pp. 399–430.
- Rojo, A., Montero, G., 1996. El pino silvestre en la Sierra de Guardarrama. Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación, Madrid España.
- Rosenfeld, J.S., 2002. Functional redundancy in ecology and conservation. Oikos 98, 156–162.
- Rossi, S., Morin, H., Deslauriers, A., 2012. Causes and correlations in cambium phenology: towards an integrated framework of xylogenesis. J. Exp. Bot. 63, 2117–2126.
- Rötzer, T., Biber, P., Moser, A., Schäfer, C., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Stem and root diameter growth of European beech and Norway spruce under extreme drought. For. Ecol. Manage. 406, 184–195.
- Ruano, I., Pando, V., Bravo, F., 2009. How do light and water influence *Pinus pinaster* Ait. germination and early seedling development? For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 2647–2653.
- Ruíz-Benito, P., Gómez-Aparicio, L., Paquette, A., Messier, C., Kattge, J., Zavala, M.A., 2014. Diversity increases carbon storage and tree productivity in Spanish forests. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 23, 311–322.
- Russell, M.B., Weiskittel, A.R., Kershaw, J.A., 2014. Comparing strategies for modeling individual-tree height and height-to-crown base increment in mixed-species Acadian forests of northeastern North America. Eur. J. For. Res. 133, 1121–1135.
- Sánchez-Gómez, D., Valladares, F., Zavala, M.A., 2006. Functional traits and plasticity in response to light in seedlings of four Iberian forest tree species. Tree Physiol. 26, 1425–33.
- Sánchez-Salguero, R., Camarero, J.J., Gutiérrez, E., González Rouco, F., Gazol, A., Sangüesa-Barreda, G., Andreu-Hayles, L., Linares, J.C., Seftigen, K., 2017. Assessing forest vulnerability to climate warming using a process-based model of tree growth: bad prospects for rear-edges. Glob. Chang. Biol. 23, 2705–2719.
- Sánchez-Salguero, R., Camarero, J.J., Hevia, A., Madrigal-González, J., Linares, J.C., Ballesteros-Canovas, J.A., Sánchez-Miranda, A., Alfaro-Sánchez, R., Sangüesa-

Barreda, G., Galván, J.D., Gutiérrez, E., Génova, M., Rigling, A., 2015a. What drives growth of Scots pine in continental Mediterranean climates: Drought, low temperatures or both? Agric. For. Meteorol. 206, 151–162.

- Sánchez-Salguero, R., Camarero, J.J., Rozas, V., Génova, M., Olano, J.M., Arzac, A., Gazol, A., Caminero, L., Tejedor, E., de Luis, M., Linares, J.C., 2018. Resist, recover or both? Growth plasticity in response to drought is geographically structured and linked to intraspecific variability in *Pinus pinaster*. J. Biogeogr. 45, 1126–1139.
- Sánchez-Salguero, R., Linares, J.C., Camarero, J.J., Madrigal-González, J., Hevia, A., Sánchez-Miranda, A., Ballesteros-Cánovas, J.A., Alfaro-Sánchez, R., García-Cervigón, A.I., Bigler, C., Rigling, A., 2015b. Disentangling the effects of competition and climate on individual tree growth: A retrospective and dynamic approach in Scots pine. For. Ecol. Manage. 358, 12–25.
- Sánchez-Salguero, R., Navarro-Cerrillo, R.M., Camarero, J.J., Fernández-Cancio, Á., 2012. Selective drought-induced decline of pine species in southeastern Spain. Clim. Change 113, 767–785.
- Schäfer, C., Thurm, E.A., Rötzer, T., Kallenbach, C., Pretzsch, H., 2018. Daily stem water deficit of Norway spruce and European beech in intra- and interspecific neighborhood under heavy drought. Scand. J. For. Res. 0, 1–15.
- Schweingruber, F.H., Eckstein, D., Serre-Bachet, F., Bräker, O.U., 1990. Identification, presentation and interpretation of event years and pointer years in dendrochronology. Dendrochronologia 8, 9–38.
- Serrada, R., Montero, G., Reque, J.A., 2008. Compendio de selvicultura aplicada en España. Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria-INIA, Madrid - España.
- Sharma, R.P., Vacek, Z., Vacek, S., Podrázský, V., Jansa, V., 2017. Modelling individual tree height to crown base of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.). PLoS One 12, 1–23.
- Speer, J.H., 2010. Fundamentals of Tree-Ring Research. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.
- Sterba, H., 1987. Estimating potential density from thinning experiments and inventory data. For. Sci. 33, 1022–1034.
- Sterba, H., Blab, A., Katzensteiner, K., 2002. Adapting an individual tree growth model for Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst.) in pure and mixed species stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 159, 101–110.
- Sterba, H., del Río, M., Brunner, A., Condés, S., 2014. Effect of species proportion definition on the evaluation of growth in pure vs. mixed stands. For. Syst. 23, 547–559.
- Swidrak, I., Schuster, R., Oberhuber, W., 2013. Comparing growth phenology of cooccurring deciduous and evergreen conifers exposed to drought. Flora Morphol. Distrib. Funct. Ecol. Plants 208, 609–617.
- Tapias, R., Climent, J., Pardos, J.A., Gil, L., 2004. Life histories of Mediterranean pines.

Plant Ecol. 171, 53–68.

- Temesgen, H., Zhang, C.H., Zhao, X.H., 2014. Modelling tree height-diameter relationships in multi-species and multi-layered forests: A large observational study from Northeast China. For. Ecol. Manage. 316, 78–89.
- Thurm, E.A., Pretzsch, H., 2016. Improved productivity and modified tree morphology of mixed versus pure stands of European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) and Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) with increasing precipitation and age. Ann. For. Sci. 73, 1047–1061.
- Thurm, E.A., Uhl, E., Pretzsch, H., 2016. Mixture reduces climate sensitivity of Douglas-fir stem growth. For. Ecol. Manage. 376, 205–220.
- Tobner, C.M., Paquette, A., Reich, P.B., Gravel, D., Messier, C., 2014. Advancing biodiversity–ecosystem functioning science using high-density tree-based experiments over functional diversity gradients. Oecologia 174, 609–621.
- Toïgo, M., Perot, T., Courbaud, B., Castagneyrol, B., Gégout, J.C., Longuetaud, F., Jactel, H., Vallet, P., 2017. Difference in shade tolerance drives the mixture effect on oak productivity. J. Ecol. 106,1073-1082
- Toïgo, M., Vallet, P., Perot, T., Bontemps, J.-D., Piedallu, C., Courbaud, B., 2015. Overyielding in mixed forests decreases with site productivity. J. Ecol. 103, 502–512.
- Trasobares, A., Pukkala, T., Miina, J., 2004. Growth and yield model for uneven-aged mixtures of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus nigra* Arn. in Catalonia, north-east Spain. Ann. For. Sci. 61, 9–24.
- Turcotte, A., Rossi, S., Deslauriers, A., Krause, C., Morin, H., 2011. Dynamics of Depletion and Replenishment of Water Storage in Stem and Roots of Black Spruce Measured by Dendrometers. Front. Plant Sci. 2, 1–8.
- Valbuena, P., Peso, C., Bravo, F., 2008. Stand Density Management Diagrams for two Mediterranean pine species in Eastern Spain. Investig. Agrar. Sist. y Recur. For. 17, 97–104.
- Valladares, F., Bastias, C.C., Godoy, O., Granda, E., Escudero, A., 2015. Species coexistence in a changing world. Front. Plant Sci. 6, 866.
- Valladares, F., Chico, J.M., Aranda, I., Balaguer, L., Dizengremel, P., Manrique, E., Dreyer, E., 2002. The greater seedling high-light tolerance of *Quercus robur* over *Fagus sylvatica* is linked to a greater physiological plasticity. Trees-Structure Funct. 16, 395– 403.
- Vallet, P., Perot, T., 2016. Tree diversity effect on dominant height in temperate forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 381, 106–114.
- van der Maaten-Theunissen, M., van der Maaten, E., Bouriaud, O., 2015. PointRes: An R package to analyze pointer years and components of resilience. Dendrochronologia 35, 34–38.
- Van Der Plas, F., Manning, P., Allan, E., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Verheyen, K., Wirth, C.,

Zavala, M.A., Hector, A., Ampoorter, E., Baeten, L., Barbaro, L., Bauhus, J., Benavides, R., Benneter, A., Berthold, F., Bonal, D., Bouriaud, O., Bruelheide, H., Bussotti, F., Carnol, M., Castagneyrol, B., Charbonnier, Y., Coomes, D.A., Coppi, A., Bastias, C.C., Muhie Dawud, S., De Wandeler, H., Domisch, T., Finér, L., Gessler, A., Granier, A., Grossiord, C., Guyot, V., Hättenschwiler, S., Jactel, H., Jaroszewicz, B., Joly, F.X., Jucker, T., Koricheva, J., Milligan, H., Müller, S., Muys, B., Nguyen, D., Pollastrini, M., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Selvi, F., Stenlid, J., Valladares, F., Vesterdal, L., Zielínski, D., Fischer, M., 2016. Jack-of-all-trades effects drive biodiversityecosystem multifunctionality relationships in European forests. Nat. Commun. 7, 11109.

- Vargas-Larreta, B., Castedo-Dorado, F., Álvarez-González, J.G., Barrio-Anta, M., Cruz-Cobos, F., 2009. A generalized height-diameter model with random coefficients for uneven-aged stands in El Salto, Durango (Mexico). Forestry 82, 445–462. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpp016
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Beguería, S., López-Moreno, J.I., 2010. A multiscalar drought index sensitive to global warming: The standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index. J. Clim. 23, 1696–1718.
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Tomas-Burguera, M., Beguería, S., Reig, F., Latorre, B., Peña-Gallardo, M., Luna, M.Y., Morata, A., González-Hidalgo, J.C., 2017. A High Resolution Dataset of Drought Indices for Spain. Data 2, 22.
- Vieira, J., Rossi, S., Campelo, F., Freitas, H., Nabais, C., 2014. Xylogenesis of *Pinus pinaster* under a Mediterranean climate. Ann. For. Sci. 71, 71–80.
- Vieira, J., Rossi, S., Campelo, F., Freitas, H., Nabais, C., 2013. Seasonal and daily cycles of stem radial variation of *Pinus pinaster* in a drought-prone environment. Agric. For. Meteorol. 180, 173–181.
- Vilà, M., Carrillo-Gavilán, A., Vayreda, J., Bugmann, H., Fridman, J., Grodzki, W., Haase, J., Kunstler, G., Schelhaas, M., Trasobares, A., 2013. Disentangling biodiversity and climatic determinants of wood production. PLoS One 8, e53530.
- Vilà, M., Inchausti, P., Vayreda, J., Barrantes, O., Gracia, C., Ibañez, J.J., Mata, T., 2005. Confounding factors in the observational productivity-diversity relationship in forests, in: Scherer-Lorenzen M, Körner C, S.E.-D. (Eds.), Forest Diversity and Function. pp. 65–86.
- Vilà, M., Vayreda, J., Comas, L., Ibáñez, J.J., Mata, T., Obón, B., 2007. Species richness and wood production: a positive association in Mediterranean forests. Ecol. Lett. 10, 241– 250.
- Vizcaíno-Palomar, N., Ibañez, I., González-Martínez, S.C., Zavala, M.A., Alía, R., 2016. Adaptation and plasticity in aboveground allometry variation of four pine species along environmental gradients. Ecol. Evol. 6, 7561–7573.
- Vospernik, S., Sterba, H., 2015. Do competition-density rule and self-thinning rule agree? Ann. For. Sci. 72, 379–390.
- Wang, G.G., 1998. Is height of dominant trees at a reference diameter an adequate measure

of site quality? For. Ecol. Manage. 112, 49-54.

- Warton, D.I., Duursma, R.A., Falster, D.S., Taskinen, S., 2012. smatr 3- an R package for estimation and inference about allometric lines. Methods Ecol. Evol. 3, 257–259.
- Warton, D.I., IJ, W., DS, F., M, W., 2006. Bivariate line-fitting methods for allometry. Biol. Rev. 81, 259–291.
- Weiskittel, A.R., Gould, P., Temesgen, H., 2009. Sources of Variation in the Self-Thinning Boundary Line for Three Speices with Varying Levels of Shade Tolerance. For. Sci. 55, 84–93.
- Weiskittel, A.R., Hann, D.W., Kershaw, J.A., Vanclay, J.K., 2011. Forest Growth and Yield Modeling. John Wiley & Sons.
- Williams, L.J., Paquette, A., Cavender-Bares, J., Messier, C., Reich, P.B., 2017. Spatial complementarity in tree crowns explains overyielding in species mixtures. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 1, 0063.
- Wykoff, W.R., 1990. A basal area increment model for individual conifers in the northern Rocky Mountains. For. Sci. 36, 1077–1104.
- Yang, Y., Huang, S., Meng, S.X., Trincado, G., VanderSchaaf, C.L., 2009. A multilevel individual tree basal area increment model for aspen in boreal mixedwood stands. Can. J. For. Res. 39, 2203–2214.
- Zeide, B., 1993. Analysis of growth equations. For. Sci. 39, 594–616.
- Zeide, B., VanderSchaaf, C., 2002. The effect of density on the height-diameter relationship, 11th biennial southern silvicultural research conference. Asheville, NC.
- Zeller, L., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P., Biber, P., Marshall, J., Schütze, G., del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech lower in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures. For. Ecol. Manage. 400, 363–374.
- Zhang, L., Bi, H., Gove, J.H., Heath, L.S., 2005. A comparison of alternative methods for estimating the self-thinning boundary line. Can. J. For. Res. 35, 1507–1514.
- Zhang, Y., Chen, H.Y.H., Reich, P.B., 2012. Forest productivity increases with evenness, species richness and trait variation: A global meta-analysis. J. Ecol. 100, 742–749.
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Walker, N., Saveliev, A. a., Smith, G.M., 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer New York, New York, NY.
- Zweifel, R., Hasler, R., 2000. Frost-induced reversable shrinkage of bark of mature subalpine conifers. Agric. For. Meteorol. 102, 213–222.

8. Appendix

8.1 APPENDIX A: Peer-reviewed articles

As output of this thesis, two original articles were published in SCI journals, one congress proceeding and two more manuscripts in preparation:

- Riofrío, J., del Río, M., Bravo, F., 2017. Mixing effects on growth efficiency in mixed pine forests. *Forestry* 90, 381–392.
- Riofrío, J., del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Bravo, F., 2017. Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. *For. Ecol. Manage*. 405, 219–228.
- Riofrío, J., del Río, M., Maguire, D., Bravo F. Generalized height-diameter and basal area increment models for mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine. *Submitted*.
- Riofrío, J., del Río, M., Aldea, J., Bravo, F., 2017. Relaciones de complementariedad en masa mixtas de pinos mediterráneos: un análisis de los patrones de incremento radial intra-annual, in: Sociedad Española de Ciencias Forestales (Ed.), 7º Congreso Forestal Español. Plasencia.
- Riofrío, J., Lara, W., Bravo, F., del Río, M. Long term responses and tree growth sensitivity to drought in mixed pines stands. *In preparation*.



8.2 APPENDIX B: Supplementary figures

Figure S1. Comparison of main stand traits for pure Scots pine (x-axis) and pure Maritime pine stands (y-axis). Values closer to the bisector line indicate greater equality of pure-stand traits for both species. White circles represent observed values and the large gray circle indicates the mean values of all triplets.



Figure S2. Cross diagram showing the mixing effect on relative productivity for annual volume increment for Maritime pine and Scots pine and total mixed stand in relation to the productivity of the neighboring pure stands. The points represent the observed relative volume productivity of mixed versus pure stands. The left (Maritime pine) and right (Scots pine) ordinates in the cross diagrams represent species relative productivity (RPPS,(PT) and RP(PS),PT) and the abscissa the mixing portion of Scots pine (mPS,(PT)). Solid lines indicate growth in mixtures and the corresponding broken lines show the expected growth in monocultures. The upper lines show whole stand and crossing lines species-specific productivity.



Figure S3. Relationship between relative productivity at stand level (RP_{PS,PT}) and relative stand density (RD_{PS,PT}), age and site index for *P. pinaster* in mixture, and selected ratios (Rd_{mean}, Rd_{max}, and Rh/d_{min}) indicating the multiplicative mixing effect for Maritime pine at the species level.



Figure S4. Mantel correlograms showing the extent of temporal similarities between of rBAI and SPEI along distance classes (lag) for Scots pine in mixed and pure stands by triplets (number above each panel plot). Filled and open symbols indicate the significant and non-significant Mantel statistic (p < 0.05). Blue line illustrated the overall pattern.



Figure S5. Mantel correlograms showing the extent of temporal similarities between of rBAI and SPEI along distance classes (lag) for Maritime pine in mixed and pure stands by triplets (number above each panel plot). Filled and open symbols indicate the significant and non-significant Mantel statistic (p < 0.05). Blue line illustrated the overall pattern



Figure S6. Standardized residuals of generalized non-linear mixed-effects *h*-*d* model (Eq [4.1] and [4.2]).



Figure S7. Comparison of growth responses to drought at tree level (Rt, Rc, Rs and rRs) between species growing in pure stands vs. mixed stands for each drought event. Green boxes for Scots pine (21) in mixed stands, yellow boxes for Scots pine in pure stands, grey boxes for Maritime pine (26) mixed stands and brown boxes for Maritime pine in pure stands.

8.3 APPENDIX C: Supplementary tables

Table S1. Estimated parameters (standard error) for fixed effects and variance components of random effects models to detrending basal area increments (BAI) using the restricted maximum likelihood method.

	Fixed effects		Variance components		
					(σ ²)
Specie	Parameter	value	core	tree	plot
Scots pine	intercept	-1.2980	0.000	0.021	0.114
		(0.120)			
	log (g)	0.6470	0.000	0.000	0.000
		(0.027)			
	(time)	-0.0227	0.000	0.000	0.000
		(0.002)			
	Error		0.000		
Maritime	intercept	-0.5610	0.0029	0.001	0.043
pine		(0.099)			
	log (BA)	0.6512	0.000	0.000	0.000
		(0.028)			
	log (time)	-0.4602	0.000	0.002	0.003
		(0.023)			
	Error		0.000		

g is the tree basal area. σ^2 is the variance component for the random effects at plot, tree nested in the plots (tree) and core nested in tree that are nested in the plots (core). Error is the residual variance σ^2 .
126 | Appendix

Table S2. Results from the linear mixed models of the effect of stand composition on resistance Rt, recovery Rc, resilience Rs and relative resilience rRs indices for both species trees growing in mixed and pure stands. Significant parameters of covariates and species reference group (pure stands) for each model are shown in bold characters (p <0.05).

	Mariti	me pine	Scots pine		
	2005	2012	2005	2012	
Resistance Intercept pure stand dbh	0.472	0.631	0.612	0.691	
SI ΔAICc	7.397	7.258	10.165	8.785	
Recovery (ln) Intercept pure stand dbh Age	0.886	0.374	0.575	0.015	
ΔAICc	8.411	5.998	7.569	3.611	
<i>Resilience</i> Intercept pure stand dbh Age	1.125	0.939 -0.078	1.536 -0.001	0.686	
SI ΔAICc	1.620	5.143	7.817	5.766	
Relative resilience	0.654	0.260	0.015	0.005	
Intercept pure stand dbh Age SI	0.654	0.269	0.915 -0.001	-0.005	
ΔAICc	6.680	6.613	7.777	1.614	

Scots pine			Maritime pine				
Model	AICc	ΔAICc	EF	Model	AICc	ΔAICc	EF
Michailoff II	7634.26	0.00	0.812	Michailoff I	6703.76	0.00	0.843
Rio I	7641.63	7.37	0.810	Michailoff II	6720.76	17.00	0.840
Michailoff I	7641.84	7.58	0.809	Rio I	6751.37	47.61	0.835
Cañadas IV	7661.39	27.12	0.805	Rio	6754.79	51.03	0.833
Rio	7675.60	41.34	0.803	Cañadas IV	6759.01	55.25	0.833
Schöder & A	7730.77	96.51	0.791	Schöder & A	6782.37	78.61	0.828
Cañadas I	7867.34	233.08	0.755	Cañadas II	6894.58	190.82	0.802
Cañadas II	8010.04	375.78	0.712	Cañadas I	6946.94	243.18	0.788
Cox	8342.36	708.10	0.585	Cox	7297.56	593.80	0.677
Cañadas III	8907.57	1273.31	0.218	Cañadas III	7573.10	869.34	0.545

Table S3. Ranking and summary statistics for generalized height–diameter models fitted without considered the mixture effects for both species.

AICc: Second-order Akaike Information Criterion; Δ AICc: difference between the best model and the ith model, EF: model efficiency.